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PERSONS RESPONSIBLE

1

1.1 Person responsible for the Registration Document
Mr Maurice RICCI, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of AKKA Technologies.

1.2 Declaration by the person responsible for the Registration Document
“I hereby certify, having taken all reasonable steps to this effect, that the information contained in this Registration Document is, 
to the best of my knowledge, consistent with reality and there are no omissions prejudicial to its scope.

I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been drawn up in compliance with the applicable 
financial reporting standards and are a true reflection of the assets and liabilities, financial position and profit of the company and all
companies included in the consolidation scope and that the management report attached hereto presents a true picture of the change
in the operations, profits and financial position of the company and all companies included in the consolidation scope and a description
of the main risks and uncertainties facing them.

I have received from the statutory auditors a letter of completion of their work in which they state that they have examined the 
information relating to the financial position and the financial statements contained in this Registration Document and have read the
Registration Document in full.

This letter does not contain any audit findings.

The historical financial information contained in this Registration Document was the subject of the statutory auditors’ reports in section
20 hereof, which do not contain any audit findings or reservations. 

Maurice RICCI
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

1 - PERSONS RESPONSIBLE
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STATUTORY AUDITORS

2

2.1 Statutory auditors
ORFIS BAKER TILLY
149, boulevard de Stalingrad
69100 VILLEURBANNE
Represented by Jean-Louis FLECHE,
Appointed by the General Meeting of 12 February 1999 for a term of 6 financial years. This mandate was renewed for the same term
by the General Meeting of 28 February 2005, then by the General Meeting of 14 June 2011; that is, up to the General Meeting
convened to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

DELOITTE & ASSOCIES
81, boulevard de Stalingrad
69100 VILLEURBANNE
Represented by Xavier Graz, 
Appointed by the General Meeting of 6 July 2000 for a term of 6 financial years. This mandate was renewed, for the same term, 
by the General Meeting of 20 June 2006, then by the General Meeting of 5 June 2012, that is, up to the General Meeting convened
to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

2.2 Alternate auditors
Olivier BRISAC
149, boulevard de Stalingrad
69100 VILLEURBANNE
Appointed by the General Meeting of 12 February 1999 for a term of 6 financial years. This mandate was renewed for the same term
by the General Meeting of 28 February 2005, then by the General Meeting of 14 June 2011; that is, up to the General Meeting
convened to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

BEAS
7-9, villa Houssay 
92200 NEUILLY SUR SEINE
Appointed by the General Meeting of 6 July 2000 for a term of 6 financial years. This mandate was renewed, for the same term, 
by the General Meeting of 20 June 2006, then by the General Meeting of 5 June 2012, that is, up to the General Meeting convened
to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

2 - STATUTORY AUDITORS
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

3

3.1 Data from the consolidated income statements: Profitability ratios in line with
expectations

AKKA Technologies increased significantly in size following the recent acquisitions of AEROCONSEIL in 2011 and MBtech in 2012.
2012 enabled the Group to return to a sound financial position and re-establish its capacity for action. 

3.2 Data from the consolidated balance sheets: Sound financial structure

Gearing went from -15.9% in 2011 to 29.6% in 2012 following the acquisition of MBTech and the loan taken out to finance the WCR
and the acquisition of MBtech.

3 - SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Amounts in thousands of euros Pro forma (1)
31/12/2012

Consolidation
31/12/2012

Pro forma (2)
31/12/2011

Consolidation
31/12/2011

Consolidation
31/12/2010 

Revenue 924,985   827,286   548,385   474,115   400,273   

Operating profit 63,665   60,623   47,072   42,699   31,934   

% of revenue 6.9% 7.3% 8.6% 9.0% 8.0%

Profit before tax 56,796   54,187   42,369   38,287   28,973   

Consolidated net profit 43,243   41,349   29,372   26,885   25,179   

Group share of net profit 41,588   40,381   29,372   26,885   25,188   

(1) The pro forma financial information from 2012 is intended to show the effect of the acquisition of the company MBtech on the published consolidated financial statements. The consolidated 
financial statements include 9 months from MBtech. The pro forma financial statements include 12 months from MBtech. The context and assumptions are described in the consolidated financial 
statements  in section 20.3 of this Registration Document.

(2) The pro forma financial information from 2011 is intended to show the effect of the acquisition of the company AEROCONSEIL on the published consolidated financial statements. The consolidated 
financial statements include 3 months from AEROCONSEIL. The pro forma financial statements include 12 months from AEROCONSEIL. The context and assumptions are described in the consolidated 
financial statements in section 20.3 of this Registration Document.

ASSETS - Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Goodwill 104,022   94,119   93,178   

Other non-current assets 127,260   63,319   40,020   

Non-current assets 231,282   157,438   133,198   

Inventories 2,513   1,672   949   

Current accounts receivable 307,227   155,406   113,697   

Cash and cash equivalents 70,931   79,104   81,364   

Current assets 380,671   236,182   196,010   

TOTAL ASSETS 611,953   393,620   329,208   

LIABILITIES - Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Group share of share capital 155,277 121,055 99,944 

Minority interests 21,697 (4) (5)

Financial liabilities (excluding restructured debt) 89,772 15,750 22,759 

Discounted restructured debt 33,526 44,161 47,439 

Other liabilities 311,683 212,658 159,071 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 611,953   393,620   329,208   
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3

3.3 Consolidated working capital requirement

The increase in working capital requirement resulted primarily from the inclusion of MBtech in the company’s consolidation scope 
in 2012.

3.4 Summary of consolidated cash flow statements

Over the year, the Group generated a net cash flow from operations of €59,759 thousand. The increase in working capital requirement
and the outflows in respect of investment transactions (in particular for the acquisition of MBtech) were financed by a loan.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Inventories 2,513 1,672 949 

Trade receivables and associated accounts 244,443 101,821 68,852 

Other accounts receivable 62,784 53,585 44,216 

Other non-current assets 35,134 22,794 9,591 

Trade payables (65,273) (36,109) (21,990)

Tax and social security liabilities (178,643) (135,288) (108,190)

Other debts (excluding debts on fixed assets and earn-out) (29,224) (17,339) (16,224)

Working capital requirement (negative = finance resource) 71,735 (8,863) (22,796)

Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Net cash flow from business operations (8,005) 36,096   36,797   

Net cash flow associated with investment transactions (61,860) (18,150) (10,483)

Net cash flow associated with financing transactions 61,723   (20,237) (9,025)

Impact of changes in currency exchange rates (31) 31   297 

Change in cash flow (8,173) (2,260) 17,587 
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RISK FACTORS

4

The company has conducted a review of the risks which could have a significant detrimental effect on its business, financial position
and profits and considers that it is not exposed to any significant risks other than those presented in this Registration Document.

4.1 Liquidity risk
The Group’s net debt breaks down as follows: 

The Group had net debt of €52,367 thousand at the end of 2012, following a loan taken out to finance the acquisition of MBtech.

Taking into account the next due dates for repayment of financial debts and restructured debt, the Group is not exposed to a liquidity
risk and considers that it is in a position to meet the coming repayment dates.

The description of the liquidity risk is given in notes 4.10 and 4.13.2 of the consolidated financial statements (see section 20.3.6).

4.2 Provisions policy
Obligations to third parties, whether legal, regulatory, contractual or implicit, are the subject of a provision for risks and expenses from
the point at which they exist at year-end and at which it is established that they will give rise to an outflow of resources, without an
equivalent counterpart from the third parties in question. 

A regular review of the items constituting these provisions (commercial disputes, industrial tribunal disputes, restructuring, etc.) is
conducted to enable any readjustments that are considered to be justified.

Details of current and non-current provisions

Long-term provisions amounted to €14,577 thousand and short-term provisions to €13,770 thousand in the Group financial 
statements as at 31 December 2012. 

These provisions comprised the following:

- €15,894 thousand in provisions for disputes and risks,
- €1,541 thousand in provisions for taxes,
- €8,959 thousand in provisions for pensions,
- €1,953 thousand in other provisions.

4 - RISK FACTORS

Amounts in thousands of euros Consolidation
31/12/2012

Consolidation
31/12/2011

Consolidation
31/12/2010

Non-current financial liabilities 57,196 7,920 14,435 

Non-current restructured debt 26,634 38,338 42,781 

Current financial liabilities 32,576 7,830 8,324 

Current restructured debt 6,892 5,823 4,658 

Consolidated gross debt 123,298 59,911 70,198 

Cash and cash equivalents (70,931) (79,104) (81,364)

Consolidated net debt 52,367 (19,193) (11,166)
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RISK FACTORS

4

4.3 Non-recurring events and disputes
During the last twelve months, there were no government, judicial or arbitration proceedings (including any proceedings of which the
Group is aware, which are suspended or threatened) which could have had or have recently had significant effects on the financial 
position or the profitability of the company AKKA Technologies and/or the AKKA Technologies Group.

The debt restructuring procedure for the company AKKA I&S initiated by a ruling of the Paris Commercial Court on 13 November 2006
is mentioned here solely insofar as it continues and the sixth annual payment under the plan will be made in accordance with the
terms of the ruling of 4 September 2007 under which the restructuring plan was approved. The sixth annual payment amounts to
€6,892 thousand and will be made in September 2013.

4.4 Risk associated with off-balance sheet items
The main commitments of the AKKA Technologies Group are as follows:

In 2012, within the context of the acquisition of MBtech, AKKA Technologies received a commitment of €20,000 thousand on behalf
of DAIMLER. AKKA Technologies gave commitments estimated at €92,514 thousand under the finance contract subscribed for the
acquisition. 

Earn-outs owed by the Group in the context of external growth transactions do not constitute off-balance sheet items, but are recorded
as €9,507 thousand in debt under balance sheet liabilities.

Pursuant to the financial reporting standards in force, the Group does not have any other significant off-balance sheet commitments.

The due dates of commitments made break down as follows:

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Amounts in thousands of euros 2012 2011 2010

Guarantees on contracts -     -     -

Accounts receivable assigned and not due (1) 72,945   96,005   76,278   

Pledges, mortgages and actual sureties (2) 93,339   715   2,145   

Bonds, sureties and guarantees provided -     - 25   

Other commitments made (3) -     - 20   

Total amount of commitments made 166,284   96,720   78,468   

Currency hedging instruments -     - -

Commitments received under external growth transactions 55,800   35,950   -

Total amount of commitments received 55,800   35,950   -     
(1) Accounts receivable assigned and not due: trade receivable assigned under factoring contracts 
(2) Pledges, mortgages and actual sureties: pledges of shares in favour of the banks on the taking out of loans associated with external growth transactions
(3) Lender's priority lien on AKKA I&S borrowings

Amounts in thousands of euros Total Less than 
one year 1 to 5 years More than 

5 years

Guarantees on contracts -     - - -

Accounts receivable assigned and not due 72,945   72,945   - -

Pledges, mortgages and actual sureties 93,339   27,428   65,911   -

Bonds, sureties and guarantees provided -     - - -

Other commitments made -     - - -

Total amount of commitments made 166,284   100,373   65,911   -     
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4

Contractual obligations:

Long-term debts and obligations in relation to financial leasing are given by due date in the Group consolidated financial statements
(see section 20.3 note 4.13).

Operating lease agreements represented an expense of 3.5% of revenue (€29,010 thousand) in 2012. Almost 70% of these were
commercial leases, none of which were of significant value individually.

4.5 Insurance policy
The main policies taken out within the Group were as follows: 

- Operational and Professional Civil Liability
- “Inexcusable Fault” Civil Liability
- Civil Liability for Aeronautics and Space Industry Products
- Company Officers’ Civil Liability
- Multi-risk Damages and Operating Losses
- Repatriation Assistance
- Vehicle Fleet and Civil Liability in respect of Vehicles used on Company Business
- Social Security

AKKA Technologies’ legal department is responsible for annual contract negotiation and monitoring of the insurance policy in relation
to the risks with respect to the company's civil liability, its subsidiaries and its executives. 

The operational and professional civil liability policy is taken out by AKKA Technologies on behalf of all its European subsidiaries. 
A policy for “difference in terms and conditions and limits” covers foreign subsidiaries outside the European Union which have taken
out integrated local policies included in the “master” insurance programme or purely local policies.

The company MBtech is now included in the Group's insurance policy, while at the same time preserving the guarantees appropriate
to its specific features.  

The summary table below shows the main insurance policies taken out, namely: 

The total amount paid out by the Group in insurance premiums in 2012 was €2,049 thousand.

Three claims have been recorded. One of them (reported in 2009) was the subject of a legal appraisal, and the subsidiary involved is
no longer exposed to a risk of being declared liable. The second concerns a loss of an insignificant amount sustained by an employee. 
The last relates to a request for appointment of a legal expert, without the question of our subsidiary’s liability being raised by its
client.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Insurance policy Insured party (parties) Excess Amount of cover

Operational civil liability AKKA Technologies
and all its subsidiaries € 100,000

€ 25,000,000 per incident

Professional liability € 25,000,000 per incident and per year

Civil liability for Aeronautics Industry 
Products

AKKA Technologies
and its subsidiaries

None

€ 25,000,000 per incident and per year

AEROCONSEIL € 80,000,000 per incident and per year

Space Industry Products € 8,000,000 per incident and per year

Company officers' civil liability Executive officers of the
AKKA Technologies Group None € 25,000,000

Civil liability for "inexcusable fault" AKKA Technologies 
and its French subsidiaries € 15,000

€ 2,500,000 per incident

€ 10,000,000 per year
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4

4.6 Other risks
The risks appearing in the table below are dealt with in another part of the Registration Document:

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Risks Section Note

Business and client-related risks
6.1.4 Distribution of clients

9.1 Management report Note 2.3.1

Risks related to staff and managers 9.1 Management report Note 2.3.2

Risks associated with external growth transactions
9.1 Management report Note 2.3.3

20.3.6 Notes to the consolidated financial statements Note 2.10 and 4.2

Risks of legal action 9.1 Management report Note 2.3.4

Competition risks 9.1 Management report Note 2.3.5

Exchange rate risks 20.3.6 Notes to the consolidated financial statements Note 4.13.3

Risks on shares 20.3.6 Notes to the consolidated financial statements Note 4.13.4

Environmental risks 9.1 Management report Note 2.3.8

Interest rate risks 20.3.6 Notes to the consolidated financial statements Note 4.13.1
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INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER 

5

5.1 History and development of the company
5.1.1 Company name and trade name of the issuer 
The issuer’s company name is “AKKA Technologies” and its trade name is “AKKA”.

5.1.2 Place of registration and registration number of the issuer
The company "AKKA Technologies" is registered in the Paris Business and Companies Register under number 422 950 865 RCS Paris.

As French business nomenclature has been revised by INSEE (French National Institute for Statistics and Economic Studies), the com-
pany’s NAF code (French Business Nomenclature Code) has been 6420Z since 1 January 2008.

5.1.3 Date of incorporation and term of existence of the issuer
The company, which was incorporated on 7 March 1999, was registered on 20 May 1999. Its term is ninety-nine (99) years from its
registration in the French Business and Companies Register, except in the case of early dissolution or extension of this term.

5.1.4 Registered office and legal form of the issuer, legislation governing its operations, country of
origin, address and telephone number of its registered office
AKKA Technologies, a Limited Company with a Board of Directors constituted under French law, is governed by the provisions of Book
II of the French Commercial Code and its articles of association.

The registered office has been at 9/11 rue Montalivet, 75008 Paris, since 1 April 2007. The telephone number of this registered office
is 01 56 69 26 59. 

5 - INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER 
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5

5.1.5 Significant events in the development of the issuer's business

Leading company in France and Germany – Leading company in the Automotive and Aeronautics sectors, AKKA now has a unique
specialist position.
Almost 11,000 engineers in 20 countries are a guarantee of sound expertise, sustainable project solutions and an ambition to serve
our clients.

5.2 Investments
5.2.1 Main items of capital expenditure completed in the last 3 years

The total price of acquisitions initiated between 2010 and 2012 amounted to €87,184 thousand and the associated earn-out remaining
to be paid totalled €9,507 thousand, with due dates between 2013 and 2015. 

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Acquisitions in the last 3 years Items acquired Date of inclusion
in consolidation

Geographic distribution of business 
at the time of acquisition

Assystem Italia Goodwill November 2010 Italy

Aeroconseil Group 100% of shares October 2011 France / UK / Spain / Germany / Canada

MBTECH Group 65% of shares April 2012 Germany / Hungary / Turkey / Czech Republic / China / USA
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INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER 

5

5.2.2 Main items of current and future capital expenditure
The Group does not intend to make any significant acquisitions in the near future. 

As the AKKA Technologies Group provides intellectual property services, no significant investment in equipment is required to operate
its business. 

Following the acquisition of MBtech in Germany, the Group's aim is to continue confidently to build a Group with revenues of one
billion euros and it has not made any firm commitments to significant external growth projects. 

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS

6

6.1 Main business operations
6.1.1 Mission and positioning
As a recognised specialist in Engineering and Technology Consultancy, the AKKA Technologies Group supports its clients in their search
for innovation and improved productivity. The wide-ranging expertise it offers and the know-how available in its cross-disciplinary
teams enable it to cover the complete life cycle of a product in order to provide the technology solution most appropriate to clients’
requirements.

In responding to this constant search for innovative solutions, the Group’s engineers work in all industries and services sectors, thus
enabling the sharing and transfer of best practices from one sector to another. Moreover, AKKA Technologies’ international presence,
which continues to grow, both offers the Group limitless opportunities and makes proximity to the client part of its everyday challenge.
Its vast knowledge bank is what makes the AKKA Technologies Group an industry benchmark. 

6.1.2 Competitive advantage
AKKA Technologies' positioning, which is its main competitive advantage, enables it to be involved in the entire life cycle of a project,
fully in line with the needs of its clients, by offering them its consultancy services, or DEC (Design Engineering Centre) and SDC (Software
Design Centre or Service Centre) in order to ensure proximity and commitment to its clients.

Another recent instance of differentiation, the acquisitions of MBtech, former Daimler Group subsidiary, and AEROCONSEIL, strengthens
the services offered by the Group and position it as Europe’s leading automotive and aeronautical engineering company.

Furthermore, the establishment of its in-house research centre, AKKA RESEARCH, gives AKKA Technologies a competitive advantage in
terms of innovation, providing real added value to its clients’ projects and engineers’ work.

6.1.3 Services in-line with market developments
AKKA Technologies' know-how comprises 7 areas of expertise which constitute complementary sectors:

6 - OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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6

Systems Engineering
Our teams develop complex systems, from the analysis of requirements, functional and design specifications, through to implementa-
tion. Throughout the development of the system, our engineers apply the most innovative concepts in order to produce a solution
that is both economic and meets the clients’ requirements and at the same time is satisfactory from the point of view of all 
stakeholders.

Mechanical Engineering
Our teams work on the design and development phases of a product and provide high value added support in the following areas:
research, calculation, simulations, materials, tests or trials and quality. AKKA is able to apply its experience to major international
projects such as providing support in relation to plastics design projects to European vehicle manufacturers in Russia.

Process Engineering
Our consultants work on the post-engineering mechanical industrialisation phase and the phase referred to as "new build", namely the
extension or total construction of workshops or factories and associated production facilities. Our teams cover every stage of an 
investment project, from design to commissioning, supervision of the construction of industrial plant and testing right through to 
decommissioning. They are currently working on decommissioning studies for the various units at a nuclear waste reprocessing facility. 

Document Engineering
The Group offers a global approach to document services: the creation of technical documentation, management of technical data,
assistance with validation methods, definition and validation of electronic packages as well as the structuring, conversion and distri-
bution of documentation using document management tools. Our teams also carry out operational reliability and integrated logistics
support studies. A current project involves developing the configuration of an aircraft (study, analysis, configuration management,
production of drawings, drafting of documentation, certification) after its delivery to the airlines.

Embedded Electronic Software 
From design to the integration and implementation of technology solutions, our teams are involved from the upstream phase in 
assessing the feasibility of a solution using advanced modelling and simulation techniques. They support the Group’s clients in the 
development of embedded electronic systems, applications for the processing of scientific data and tests rigs. AKKA’s expertise in 
embedded systems also enables it to work on the mass production phase of maintenance, development and re-engineering products.

Information Systems
Our consultants work on development plans for new information systems, communication between complex heterogeneous systems
or even integrating new architectures. Our teams have expertise in information management and the day-to-day management of 
software applications, web or “n-tier” technologies, decision support systems, customer relations management and management 
software. They have developed the architecture and put in place a hospital information system designed to enable public health 
establishments to manage the patient throughout his hospital treatment.

Management Consulting
With its teams of organisation experts, Casciopé, the specialist consultancy subsidiary, supports clients in three main areas: large project
management consultancy, outsourcing projects and performance management. It recently enabled a company in the automotive sector
to reduce the lead-time in launching its products on the market and re-engineered the research and engineering procedure for the
design and production of its manufactured components.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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6.1.4 The distribution of AKKA Technologies’ clients
The AKKA Technologies Group supports large European industrial clients.   The Group's contacts on a day-to-day basis are the Research
and Development, Programmes Departments and Technical Departments. 

AKKA Technologies’ services are governed by master Service Agreements, entered into with industrial clients, which define the Group's
major initiatives, and include the AKKA Technologies Group among officially approved service providers. Each project results in an
order which establishes the basis on which the service will be provided.

The Group’s ten largest clients represented 69.6% of revenue in 2012 (62% in 2011). Of this, 61% of revenue was generated with the
five largest clients and 28.4% with the largest client, DAIMLER 22% with EADS in 2011).

6.1.5 A strong anchor internationally
The development of the regional and European network is an integral part of the Group’s strategy in terms of geographic balance. 
Its presence in 20 countries enables it to be close to its clients and to support them in carrying out their global projects. 

AKKA Technologies acquired a new dimension when it integrated the German MBtech Group with a major presence in two of the
main European industrial countries, namely Germany and France.

6.1.6 Certifications and accreditations
See section 16.5, note 4.3 below.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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6.2 Main markets
6.2.1 Sectors in which AKKA Technologies operates

The AKKA Group generates over 80% of its revenue from the transport sector (aeronautics, aero-space, automotive, equipment supply
and rail). With the successive acquisitions of AEROCONSEIL and MBtech, AKKA Technologies has become the European leader in 
aeronautics and automotive  engineering.

In 2012, revenue from the transport sector doubled compared with 2011 following the acquisition of MBtech. More than ever, AKKA
Technologies is reinforcing its ambition to have a presence in all sectors of business activity.

An analysis by geographic sector appears in note 3.1 in section 20.3.6 of the consolidated financial statements.

6.2.2 Strategy
Since its creation in 1999, the Group’s growth has been the result of a strategy based on striving for balance.

This strategy of balance ensures regular growth and independence with
respect to the economic cycles of an industrial sector. In addition, it posi-
tions the Group as a genuine industrial link, a partner in its clients’ drive
for competitiveness and productivity. 

- A services balance built around the two major sectors of Engineering 
(Product, Process and Document) and Information Technology and 
Systems, ensures the Group has a strong presence throughout the product 
lifecycle, with involvement at every stage from design to mass production. 

- The sector balance ensures that the Group is not dependent on a single 
operations sector and benefits from industrial cycles. It also ensures that 
employees are able to become involved in different sectors.

- A size balance aims to achieve critical mass both with clients and within 
a region or country. 

- A geographic balance: one of the key factors in the Group's success is its proximity to its clients. The geographic balance in France 
ensures national coverage in line with the size of industrial areas and promotes independence with regard to economic reversals. 
The Group has continued its development in Germany (the leading European industrial area) with the acquisition of MBtech and in 
the rest of the world with a presence in 20 countries.

This strategy today enables AKKA Technologies to be a key player in the Engineering and Technology Consultancy sectors.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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6.3 Competitive position in France and in Europe
“Five Groups, Altran, Alten, Assystem, EGIS and AKKA Technologies share the leadership of the French Technology Consultancy market.
These operators work for a wide range of client markets, such as the aerospace industry, the automotive industry, energy production
and rail transport systems.“ 

Leaders whose growth comes from abroad
The leading French companies in engineering and technical studies often devote particular attention to developing their business
abroad. In fact, the highly competitive French market is characterised by relatively low margins compared with other European countries
and emerging markets. Moreover, the emerging markets offer unparalleled growth prospects compared with the French markets which
are often already mature. The French leaders in the sector have significantly increased their acquisitions abroad over the last two years.
AKKA Technologies, for example, bought MBtech, the DAIMLER Group’s engineering subsidiary.

After rapid growth in 2011 (+7.8%), the engineering and technical consultancy companies based in France will proceed at a more
modest pace in 2012 (+2%) and 2013 (+2.5%). This slowdown is attributable primarily to the worsening economic situation in France
and in Europe, which is affecting most of the client markets of the companies in the sector.” Study on Engineering, Technical Studies
and Consultancy Services published in September 2012 by XERFI700.

Over a number of years, the sector has undergone and had to adapt to significant changes, including: 

- a rationalisation in purchasing by manufacturers: a reduction in the number of suppliers, which has in fact accelerated the trend 
towards concentration of the sector;

- an increase in the provision of services on a fixed-price basis: ever greater level of responsibility required;
- a shortage of qualified manpower in France;
- an increased reliance on offshore activity and internationalisation in response to manufacturers' constraints;
- the crisis in the automotive sector which the AKKA Group is turning into an opportunity by establishing its own in-house Research 
Centre and helping engineers to move into other sectors such as aeronautics. 

2012 revenue 
(in € million) 2012 workforce

ALTRAN 1,455.9   18,130   

ATKINS (1) (2) 2,050.4   17,420   

ALTEN 1,198.0   15,950   

BERTRANDT (3) 709.3   9,952   

ASSYSTEM 855.6   10,745   

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES 827.3   10,645   

(1) Revenue converted at average annual exchange rate as at 31 March 2012
(2) As at 31 March 2012
(3) As at 30 September 2012

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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7.1 Description of the Group
7.1.1 Organigram of the main companies as at 31 December 2012, in accordance with legal requirements
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MBtech Group GmbH & Co KGaA and its 15 subsidiaries and MBtech Verwaltungs GmbH joined the AKKA Group with effect from
April 2012.

The business operations of the different companies in the AKKA Group are described in section 9.1.1 (note 1.2) below.

At the end of 2012, 16 subsidiaries and equity interests in the Group were not consolidated owing to the minor impact that their 
revenue and margin would have had on the operations and profit of the AKKA Technologies Group.

If the Group had consolidated all of its subsidiaries in 2012, the impact on revenue and profit would have been less than 1%.

7.1.2 Group organisation
In order to support the new size and future growth of the Group, AKKA Technologies has decided to establish a new system of corporate
governance. The Group has introduced a new corporate governance system based on three key management bodies.
In addition, three Business Units have been created: France, Germany and the Rest of the World. The new geographical structure will
favour each BU’s growth and development of its own identity, while at the same time taking advantage of synergies. Each Business
Unit is managed in tandem by a Chief Executive Officer (CEO), focused on operations and commerce, and a Chief Financial Officer
(CFO), in charge of support functions.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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7.1.3 Management structure
This organisation, which became necessary following the significant growth in recent months, is based on a “Group Executive 
Committee” located in Brussels and meets the needs for improved operational efficiency by geographic area. Each Business Unit has
all the necessary support resources and the managerial independence designed to encourage growth and intra-Group synergies.

The Group’s three key management bodies are the following:

- The “Supervisory Board” (Board of Directors) is responsible for supervision of the running of the business. It advises the “Group 
Executive Committee” in the course of its work and fulfils the functions delegated to the remuneration committee and the audit 
committee.

- The “Group Executive Committee” which has the role of resolving and deciding on strategic options. Made up of the former 
management team, with Maurice Ricci as chairman, it defines and co-ordinations actions and undertakings at Group level.

- The “Operational Executive Committee” which has the role of defining the Group’s future strategies. Made up of the members of 
the “Group Executive Committee” and the CEOs/CFOs of the three Business Units, it shapes the Group’s overall organisation in order 
to become “best in class”.

7.1.4 Summary presentation of the members of the Group Executive Committee
Maurice RICCI – 52 – CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
After working initially for RENAULT AUTOMATION, Maurice RICCI founded the company HYSYS in 1984 providing industrialisation
and production technology support to manufacturers and subsequently productivity improvement consultancy services. Other organi-
sations were subsequently established in order to complete the HYSYS suite of services. Anticipating market developments, he establi-
shed a Group strategy in 1999 bringing together the businesses of the various organisations in order to offer industrial clients in all
sectors a complete service covering the full R&D, Product/Process cycle.  

Jean-Franck RICCI – 44 – GROUP CEO
Jean-Franck RICCI joined HYSYS in 1988 as Technical Director. He then became Managing Director of AKKA Product Engineering and
subsequently in AKKA Development he was responsible for the Group’s international development. Today, he is Managing Director of
Key Account Development.

Nicolas VALTILLE – 47 – GROUP CEO
Nicolas VALTILLE began his career as financial controller Europe for a major Group. He worked in a rapidly expanding environment for
a multi-site organisation and completed a large number of acquisitions in France and Europe. He joined the AKKA Technologies Group
in 2001.

Stéphane DESCOS – 45 – GROUP CEO
Stéphane DESCOS began his career with a commercial bank and then joined a major ICT Group. In charge of the AKKA Technologies
Group's external development since 2005, he also took over management of the international business in January 2007. 

7.2 List of significant subsidiaries
Refer to note 1.5 in the consolidated financial statements (section 20.3) describing the consolidation scope of the Group.
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8.1 Significant existing or planned tangible fixed assets and all major expenses 
associated therewith
The AKKA Technologies Group owns property, either in its own right or through financial leases, in Saint-Victoret (Bouches-du-Rhône),
Colomiers (Haute-Garonne) and Pilsen (Czech Republic).

The other offices that house agencies and subsidiaries of the AKKA Technologies Group are leased from third parties unrelated to the
Group’s executives, with the exception of the main head office at Lyon Vaise. 

The rate of use of tangible fixed assets is 100%.

AKKA Technologies does not intend to make any significant investment in property during 2013. 

Its business activity does not require any heavy equipment. Aside from property, most of its tangible fixed assets consist of IT equipment.

The registered office of AKKA Technologies is occupied under a commercial lease with the Pharmacists' Pension Fund (C.A.V.P.).

8.2 Environmental issues that could affect the issuer’s use of their tangible fixed
assets
Given that they are a service provider, the Group does not face any direct environmental constraints.

8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

9

9.1 Financial Position – Management Report
9.1.1 Presentation of the Group consolidated financial statements during the year

Note 1 – The Group’s business operations

Note 1.1 – The Group’s overall business operations

During the financial year ending 31 December 2012, the Group achieved an increase in business of 74.5% compared with 2011 
following the acquisition of MBtech.

The increase in business was accompanied by a profitability from business operations of 7.6% compared with 9.1% in 2011 (impact
of the acquisition of MBtech).

The Group generated €59.8 million in cash from operations before the cost of net financial debt and tax compared with €42.3 million
in 2011. The net cash flow from operations (-€8.0 million in 2012) was impacted by the increase in MBtech’s working capital 
requirement.

Following the loan taken out to finance the working capital requirement and acquisition of shares in MBtech, gearing was 29.6% in
2012, compared with -15.9% in 2011. 

International business grew strongly owing to the strategic positions adopted in Germany and excellent progress in the rest of the
world, while business in France increased by 12.5% on a consolidated basis. Consolidated revenue in Germany went from €18.5
million in 2011 to €271.4 million in 2012 and that in the rest of the world increased from €54.2 million to €104.2 million, boosted
in particular by Italy (+23.6%) and Benelux (+13.5%). 

Note 1.2 – The business operations of Group companies

Note 1.2.1 – Equity interests acquired during the year

We hereby inform you that during the last financial year the AKKA Technologies acquired the following subsidiaries and business 
operations:

- On 29 and 30 January 2012, AKKA Technologies acquired 2% of the shares in the company REAL FUSIO FRANCE SAS, taking its 
holding in the company from 49% to 51%.

- On 12 April 2012, AKKA Technologies acquired 65% of the shares and voting rights in the companies MBtech Group GmbH & 
Co KGaA and MBtech Verwaltungs GmbH, companies under German law owned by the DAIMLER Group.

Note 1.2.2 – The business operations of subsidiaries and equity interests

Our holding company directly and indirectly has 59 subsidiaries and equity interest holdings, both in France and abroad.

The Group is structured around three operational sectors: France., Germany and the Rest of the World.

1.2.2.1. Operations in France

During the year ended 31 December 2012, consolidated business increased by 12.5% to €451,337 thousand in 2012 compared with
€401,275 thousand in the previous year. 

The business contributed €26,635 thousand to the operating profit in 2012 (i.e. 5.9% of revenue) as against an operating profit of
€31,883 thousand in 2011. 

9 - REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS
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1.2.2.2. Operations in Germany

During the year ended 31 December 2012, business increased to €271,382 thousand compared with €18,544 thousand in the
previous year. 

Germany contributed €13,046 thousand to the Group’s operating profit in 2012 compared with €2,516 thousand in the previous
year. 

1.2.2.3. Operations in the Rest of the World

The main subsidiaries are in Belgium, Canada, China, Spain, the United States, Hungary, Italy, the Czech Republic, Romania, Turkey
and Switzerland.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, business increased to €104,231 thousand compared with €54,203 thousand in the
previous year.

The Rest of the World contributed €13,530 thousand to the Group’s operating profit in 2012 compared with €8,236 thousand in the
previous year.

Note 1.3 – Research and development activities

Research costs committed in 2012 amounted to €55,200 thousand and were recorded in expenses for the year.

Note 1.4 – Group developments and future prospects

2012 was marked by the acquisition of 65% of the shares and voting rights in the companies MBtech GROUP GmbH & Co KGaA and
MBtech VERWALTUNGS GmbH, companies under German law owned by the DAIMLER Group. 

The visibility and unique position resulting from the acquisition of MBtech should enable the Group to continue to grow. The Group
should benefit from synergies and growth opportunities resulting from diversification of its business internationally, in Germany in
particular.

The Group intends to strengthen its position in technology still further in 2013 through its research centre. 

As it has become international, the Group now has significant levers for growth with automotive and aeronautics constructors in 
Germany. AKKA Technologies is from now on the international expert in engineering and consultancy for the transport sector 
(automotive, aeronautics, aerospace and rail).

Note 1.5 – Significant post-closing events

On 1 March 2013, the Group made a €100 million bond issue on the European private placement market. This initiative, which is
non-dilutive for the shareholders and has no impact on the Group’s net debt, was undertaken in relation to AKKA Technologies’ change
in size.

This bond issue enables AKKA:

- to secure the future of its Franco-German growth project,
- to diversify and optimise its sources of finance between banks and institutional investors,
- to refinance the acquisition of MBtech and finance the Group’s general requirements,
- to extend the average maturity of its debt under attractive market conditions,
- to increase the Group’s financial flexibility in order to pursue its growth strategy with confidence.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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Note 2 – Group Profit and Loss Statement

As background, we set out below the subsidiaries consolidated for the year ended 31 December 2012.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Companies % 
control

% 
interest

Consolidation 
method (1)

Country in which 
the company is based

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SA - - CE France

AEROCONSEIL PACIFIC SAS 100% 100% FC French Polynesia

AEROCONSEIL SAS 100% 100% FC France

AEROCONSEIL UK LTD 100% 100% FC Great Britain

AKKA AEROCONSEIL ESPANA SL 100% 100% FC Spain

AKKA BENELUX SA 100% 100% FC Belgium

AKKA DEUTSCHLAND Gmbh 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA DEVELOPMENT SARL 100% 100% FC Luxembourg

AKKA DEVELOPMENT UK Ltd 80% 80% FC Great Britain

AKKA GMBH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA GROUPE AMERIQUE DU NORD INC 100% 100% FC Canada

AKKA I&S SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INFORMATIQUE ET SYSTEMES SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INGENIERIE DOCUMENTAIRE SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INGENIERIE PROCESS SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INGENIERIE PRODUIT SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA ITALIA SRL 100% 100% FC Italy

AKKA MANAGER SARL 100% 100% FC France

AKKA MIDDLE EAST FZCO 100% 100% FC Dubai

AKKA OCTOGON GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA ROMSERV SRL 100% 100% FC Romania

AKKA SERVICES SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA SWITZERLAND SA 100% 100% FC Switzerland

APS-TECHNOLOGY GmbH ANTRIEBSPRUFFELD STUTTGART 30% 19.5% EM Germany

ATP AUTOMOTIVE TESTING PAPENBURG GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

CASCIOPE SAS 100% 100% FC France

CRDTA SAS 100% 100% FC France

EKIS FRANCE SAS 100% 100% FC France

EKIS SAS 100% 100% FC France

ERDIMAT SAS 99.97% 99.97% FC France

GEPILOG SAS 100% 100% FC France

MB SIM TECHNOLOGY Co. Ltd. 100% 65% FC China

MBTECH BOHEMIA s.r.o. 100% 65% FC Czech Republic

MBTECH CONSULTING GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

MBTECH EMC GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

MBTECH GROUP GmbH & Co. KGaA 65% 65% FC Germany

MBTECH HUNGARY Mérnöki es Tanacsado Kft 100% 65% FC Hungary

MBTECH MUHENDISLIK VE DANISMANLIK Limited Sirketi 100% 65% FC Turkey

MBTECH NORTH AMERICA Inc. 100% 65% FC USA

MBTECH VERWALTUNGS - GmbH 65% 65% FC Germany

MB-TECHNOLOGY NA LLC. 100% 65% FC USA

PROCEDA MODELBAU GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

REAL FUSIO SAS 100% 100% FC France

SYSTEM DESIGN GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

(1) CE = Consolidating Entity; FC = Full Consolidation; EM = Equity Method
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Note 2.1 – Review of the financial statements and earnings

The table below contains a summary of the key indicators from the consolidated income statement compiled in accordance with IFRS
standards for the years ending 31 December 2011 and 2012. 

Below is a summary of our consolidated balance sheet compiled in accordance with IFRS standards, expressed in thousands of euros:

Note 2.2 – Analysis of the change in profits and financial position of the Group

Note 2.2.1 - Revenue

The consolidated revenue of the AKKA Technologies Group increased by 74.5% as at 31 December 2012.

Revenue by geographic area:

Revenue from international business increased fivefold. The increase in our revenue comes mainly from the inclusion of MBtech and
AEROCONSEIL.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Income statement
Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Revenue 827,286   474,115   

Profit from business operations 62,984   42,982   

Current operating profit 62,821   42,699   

Operating profit 60,623   42,699   

Profit before tax 54,187   38,287   

Consolidated net profit 41,349   26,885   

Group share of net profit 40,381   26,885   

Comprehensive income 39,929   26,890   

Group share of comprehensive income 39,204   26,890   

Balance Sheet Assets in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Goodwill 104,022 94,119

Other non-current assets 127,260 63,319

Non-current assets 231,282 157,438

Inventories and work in progress 2,513 1,672

Current accounts receivable 307,227 155,406

Cash and cash equivalents 70,931 79,104

Current assets 380,671 236,182

TOTAL ASSETS 611,953 393,620

Balance Sheet Liabilities in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Group share of equity 155,276 121,055

Minority interests 21,697 (4)

Non-current liabilities 99,075 51,207

Current financial liabilities 39,468 13,653

Current debt and short-term provisions 296,437 207,708

TOTAL LIABILITIES 611,953 393,620

% France % Germany % Rest of the World

2012 financial year 54.6% 32.8% 12.6%

2011 financial year 84.7% 3.9% 11.4%
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Note 2.2.2 – Profit from business operations

The profit from business operations was €62,984 thousand. 

As a percentage of revenue, the profit from business operations represented 7.6% in 2012 compared with 9.1% in 2011. 

Note 2.2.3 – Operating profit 

The operating profit was €60,623 thousand and the expense associated with free shares and stock options was €163 thousand in
2012 compared with €283 thousand in 2011. 

Given the significance associated with acquisition transactions, acquisition costs are recognised in other non-current income and 
expenses with effect from this financial year and this has applied since the first half of 2012.

Note 2.2.4 – Cost of net financial debt

The cost of net financial debt represented 0.9% of revenue in 2012 compared with 0.8% in 2011. It is especially marked by the reco-
gnition of an accretion (expense) for debt in relation to the restructured debt of AKKA I&S of €3,535 thousand, pursuant to IFRS 
financial reporting standards. Apart from this expense, the cost of net financial debt represented only 0.5% of revenue in 2012.

Note 2.2.5 – Corporation tax

Corporation tax expense for 2012 was €12,838 thousand, i.e. a rate equal to 23.7% of profit before tax (compared with 29.8% 
in 2011). This tax expenses included €6,465 thousand of charges for CVAE (French local business tax based on value added - one
component of CET) 

In addition to this explanation, the fact that the tax rate was significantly lower than the corporation tax rate in force in France can be
explained by the recognition in the 2012 financial statements of non-taxable grants and by the weighting of international entities
subject to a lower tax rate than French entities.

Note 2.2.6 – Consolidated net profit

The Group share of consolidated net profit was €40.4 million in 2012 (compared with €26.9 million in 2011) and represents €3.10
per share compared with €2.34 in 2011.

Note 2.2.7 – Comprehensive income
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

CONSOLIDATED NET PROFIT 41,350 26,885 

Gains and loss financial hedging instruments (258) (19)

Tax effect 118 -

Net gains and loss on financial hedginig instruments (140) (19)

Actuarial gains and loss on pension commitments (1,533) -

Tax effect 474 -

Net actuarial gains and loss on pension commitments (1,059) -

Currency translation differences (221) 23 

CONSOLIDATES COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 39,929 26,890 

Minority interests 726 -

Group share 39,204 26,890 
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Note 2.2.8 – Goodwill

Goodwill, made up of goodwill and business assets, amounted to €104,022 thousand as at 31 December 2012 compared with 
€ 94,119 thousand in the previous year. 

2012 was marked by the acquisition of MBtech (goodwill of €7,430 thousand) 

Note 2.2.9 – Change in cash

Note 2.2.10 – Equity

Equity amounted to €176,973 thousand as at 31 December 2012 compared with €121,052 thousand as at 31 December 2011, i.e.
an increase of 46.2%. As at 31 December 2012, equity represented 28.9% of the balance sheet total.

This increase in equity can be explained in particular by the following:

- the change in share capital of the consolidating company in 2012 of +€3,691 thousand;
- net profit for 2012 of +€41,349 thousand;
- the change in consolidation scope with the impact of the minority interests in MBtech amounting to €20,974 thousand;
- the change in the other elements of comprehensive income amounting to €(1,420) thousand;
- dividends of €(8,684) thousand paid to shareholders in 2012 for the year ended 31 December 2011;
- the impact of IFRS 2 standards relating to free shares and share subscription options of +€163 thousand.

Note 2.2.11 – Debt

The increase in debt is attributable to the loan taken out for the acquisition of MBtech. Debt level remains low. The Group is pursuing
its debt reduction strategy in parallel.

Note 2.2.12 – Interest rate hedge

On 5 July 2010, the Group signed an interest rate hedge on the 2008 OBSAARs in anticipation of the increase in the Euribor 3-month
interest rates. This hedging instrument is consistent with the definition of a cash flow hedge. Its fair value adjustment was recognised
at €(1) thousand in other items of comprehensive income as at 31 December 2012.

The Group signed a number of interest rate hedging transactions relating to the loans associated with the acquisition of MBtech in
order to fulfil its commitments to its bank partners:

- interest rate hedge signed on 2 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.715% over   
3 years for an amount of €20 million;
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Table showing consolidated cash flows - in thousands of euros 31/12/2012

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the start of the year 79,104   

Net cash flow associated with business operations (8,005)

Net cash flow associated with investment transactions (61,860)

Net cash flow associated with financing transactions 61,723   

Impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (31)

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at year end 70,931   

Ratios calculated on the basis of consolidated data 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Gross financial debt / Equity 69.7% 49.5%

Gross financial debt / Revenue 14.9% 12.6%

Cost of gross financial debt / Revenue 0.9% 1.0%
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- interest rate hedge signed on 23 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.734% over 
3 years for an amount of €20 million;

- interest rate hedge signed on 23 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.70% over 
3 years for an amount of €14 million;

These hedging instruments are consistent with the definition of a cash flow hedge. Their fair value as at 31 December 2012 was 
recognised at €(406) thousand in other items of comprehensive income.

Note 2.3 – Description of the main risks and uncertainties facing the Group

Note 2.3.1 – Business- and client-related risks

AKKA Technologies Group’s operations are spread across the major industrial fields, thus limiting the Group’s exposure to the risks of
unfavourable economic developments.

In 2012, the Group's biggest client, DAIMLER, represented 28.4% of revenue. In 2011, the Group's biggest client, EADS, represented
21.6% of revenue compared to 19.8% in 2010. In 2012, the Group’s 10 leading clients accounted for almost 70% of consolidated 
revenue (almost two thirds of consolidated revenue in 2010 and 2011). 

The client base comprises major industrial and service sector Groups in France and abroad, generally working with AKKA Technologies
through various commissioning agents.

Note 2.3.2 – Risks associated with staff and managers

Relations with clients are organised through a number of contacts in order to limit the impact of the departure or absence of one
member of staff.

The Group’s main executive officers are shareholders in AKKA Technologies. In addition they have been granted stock options and free
shares under various schemes instituted since 2004.

In 2005, the Group also established an Employee Savings Plan open to staff with at least 3 months’ service in the Group’s French 
companies, and in 2006 an AKKA Technologies employee joint investment scheme was instituted on attractive terms. 

In addition, the OBSAAR issue transaction at the beginning of 2008 gave many of the Group’s key staff the opportunity of ultimate
entitlement to AKKA Technologies’ share capital on attractive terms and thus a stake in the success of the Group’s strategy.

Lastly, the Group’s strong culture provides confidence in staff loyalty. Staff turnover was 14.9% in 2012 (15.9% in 2011).

Note 2.3.3 – Risks associated with external growth transactions

External growth transactions are considered where they are in the group’s strategic interest in terms of geographic location or business
synergy. The investment decision is made after applying due diligence and rigorous analysis to the full audit of the target company
(operational, financial, fiscal, social and commercial).

Implementation of this strategy depends on the Company’s capacity to identify attractive targets, make such acquisitions on satisfactory
terms, integrate them into its operations and result in harmonious commercial development, while remaining true to the strategy of
balance which has guided the Group since its foundation. 

AKKA Technologies may have to finance these acquisitions by borrowing or having recourse to financial instruments, which could
oblige it to take financial risks and impose on it certain restrictions or have a dilutive impact for its shareholders.

Moreover, the acquisition of companies, as with the conclusion of other large transactions, generally imposes additional costs associated
with such transactions.
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The company’s business, financial position, earnings, growth and prospects in the medium and long term could be significantly affected
if one or more of these risks were to materialise.

Note 2.3.4 – Risks of legal action

The General Management of each region, supported by its Chief Financial Officer and the Group Legal Department, is responsible for
ensuring that the company complies with the laws and regulations in force.

Any disputes are notified immediately to Group General Management.

The majority of known or potential dispute situations in the commercial, administrative and insurance fields are handled by the General
Management and the Administrative and Finance Department of the company in question, with the support of the Legal Department.

The Legal Department may take external advice in the case of issues under dispute in the litigation or pre-litigation stage.

In the case of commercial contracts, the company has since 2007 had a Key Accounts Department which co-ordinates the commercial
and legal analysis of projects. Thus client contracts, especially those involving more than one Group company or having a performance
obligation are centralised by the holding company.

To date and to the Group’s knowledge, there are no disputes for which no provision has been made which could have a significant
impact on the Group’s business, profits, financial position or assets and liabilities. 

Cf. section 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2012.

Note 2.3.5 – Competition risk

The AKKA Technologies Group’s organisation enables it to respond flexibly and very rapidly to market demands and developments. 
Its presence in the main European business regions and its reputation with major industrial clients make the Group a benchmark 
company in the sector.

Its positioning in all industrial sectors and expertise in the various project phases from R&D to industrialisation also represents unques-
tionable competitive advantages.

Note 2.3.6 – Exchange rate risk

Cf. section 4.13.3 of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2012.

Note 2.3.7 – Risk on shares

Cf. section 4.13.4 of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2012.

Note 2.3.8 – Environmental risks

Given our sphere of business, the activities of Group companies do not have any environmental implications. 
Cf. section 9.4.2.

Note 2.3.9 – Interest rate risk

Cf. section 4.13.1 of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2012.
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Note 2.3.10 – Liquidity risk

Cf. section 4.13.2 of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2012.

Note 2.4 – Employee information 

Average workforce in consolidated companies:

The workforce at the end of the period to 31 December 2012 was 10,645 employees (7,111 at 31 December 2011).

9.1.2 Presentation of the Company’s annual financial statements for the year

Note 1 – The Company’s business operations

Note 1.1 – Situation and development of the Company’s business operations during the year

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the company continued in its role as the holding company setting the direction for all
Group companies.

We present in the table below a summary of the main indicators from the income statement for the financial years ending 31 December
2011 and 2012.
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31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Executive 7,165   4,359   

Others 2,480   1,753   

TOTAL 9,645   6,112   

Income statement
Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Net revenue 16,504   13,829   

Operating income (282) (1,639)

Financial income 20,080   12,264   

Extraordinary income 35   138   

Tax on profits 1,445   187   

Profit or loss 21,279   10,949   
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We present a summary of our balance sheet, expressed in thousands of euros:

Note 1.2 – Foreseeable developments and future prospects

The objectives for the financial year commencing 1 January 2013 are as follows:

•to continue to act as a service provider to and driving force behind its subsidiaries,
•to build an organisation capable of responding to the needs of a Group with a consolidated revenue of one billion euros,
•to create the basis for long-term profitable growth at MBtech with the implementation of a  Performance Optimisation Plan and 

overhaul of the sales organisation,
•to strengthen its corporate governance and give operational independence to the CEO/CFO team in each of the 3 BUs, while 

continuing to adhere to the Group’s family values.

Note 1.3 – Significant post-closing events

On 1 March 2013, the Group made a €100 million bond issue on the European private placement market. This initiative, which is non-
dilutive for the shareholders and has no impact on the Group’s net debt, was undertaken in relation to AKKA Technologies’ change in size.

This bond issue enables AKKA:

- to secure the future of its Franco-German growth project,
- to diversify and optimise its sources of finance between banks and institutional investors,
- to refinance the acquisition of MBtech and finance the Group’s general requirements,
- to extend the average maturity of its debt under attractive market conditions,
- to increase the Group’s financial flexibility in order to pursue its growth strategy with confidence.

Note 1.4 – Information on payment due dates

In accordance with Articles L. 441-6-1 and D. 441-4 of the French Commercial Code, we hereby inform you that at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2012, the total balance of trade payables broke down as follows:
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Balance sheet assets in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Net intangible and tangible fixed assets 441 504

Net financial fixed assets 129,443 81,863

Fixed assets 129,884 82,367

Net receivables 132,614 80,669

Cash and cash equivalents 17,656 13,752

Current assets 150,270 94,421

Accruals 1,006 1,425

TOTAL ASSETS 281,161 178,213

Balance sheet assets in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Equity 66,580 50,310

Provisions for risks and expenses 217 222 

Financial debts 207,778 120,640

Operating debts 5,612 7,020

Miscellaneous debts 973 20

TOTAL LIABILITIES 281,161 178,213
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Trade payables as at 31/12/2012 and 31/12/2011
by due date (in € thousand)

Note 2 – Employee share ownership scheme

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-102 of the French Commercial Code, we set out below details of the employee
share ownership scheme on the last day of the financial year, namely 31 December 2012.

The proportion of the capital represented by shares held by staff, as defined in Article L. 225-102 of the French Commercial Code, 
was 1.4% as at 31 December 2012.

We remind you that an employee investment scheme for Group employees has been instituted under the name AKKA ACTIONNARIAT
and that in March 2006 this scheme applied for a share capital increase of 27,901.08 euros which had been reserved for it.

We remind you that on 3 April 2008 the Company issued bonds with redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants 
(OBSAARs). The warrants (BSAARs) were detached from the bonds on issue thereof and offered to AKKA Technologies Group executives,
directors and key employees. They were listed on Euronext with effect from 3 April 2010.

In 2012, in accordance with the provisions of the prospectus approved by the AMF on 20 February, the Company decided to proceed
with early repayment of the BSAARs with effect from 30 November 2012 (publication in the BALO (Bulletin of Mandatory Legal 
Announcements) of 19 October 2012) (cf. note 4.11 of the 2012 consolidated financial statements).

Note 3 – Treasury shares 

As at 31 December 2012, our Company held 82,032 treasury shares; i.e. 0.59% of the share capital:
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Trade payables outside Group
-30 days Between 30 and 60 days + 60 days TOTAL incl. taxes

2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012

Accounts payable not yet due 707 449 116 258 - - 824 707

Accounts payable due 1,177 281 146 (383) 45 287 1,368 185

Total including taxes 1,884 730 263 (125) 45 287 2,192 893

Trade payables outside Group
-30 days Between 30 and 60 days + 60 days TOTAL incl. taxes

2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012

Accounts payable not yet due 340 1,281 - 14 - - 340 1,295

Accounts payable due 203 72 506 93 61 620 771 785

Total including taxes 543 1,353 506 107 61 620 1,111 2,080

31/12/2011 Acquisitions Disposals
Impact of
change 

in equity (1)
31/12/2012

Treasury shares held directly by AKKA Technologies 71,123 - - 7,112 78,235

Treasury shares held via the share buy-back programme 19,015 398,052 (413,999) 729 3,797

Total number of treasury shares 90,138 398,052 (413,999) 7,841 82,032
(1) Impact of the allotment of one share per 10 shares held 
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Note 4 – Share subscription options

We hereby inform you that no share subscription options were allotted during the 2012 financial year. 

Note 5 – Profits - Allocation

Note 5.1 – Review of the financial statements

We now present the annual financial statements which we submit for your approval and which have been drawn up in accordance
with the presentation rules and valuation methods prescribed by the regulations in force.

In the case of the Company’s financial statements, the rules and methods applied in drawing up the annual financial statements are
identical to those adopted for previous financial years.

In the case of the consolidated financial statements, the Group has developed its accounting policies in accordance with changes to
the IFRS manual.

A recap of the financial statements for the previous year is provided for comparison purposes.

Note 5.2 – Proposed allocation of the profit

We invite you to approve the annual financial statements (balance sheet, profit and loss statement and notes) as presented and showing
a profit of 21,278,796 euros.

We also invite you to approve the following allocations:

Profit for the financial year ................................................................................................................................21,278,796.00 euros 

Appropriation to statutory reserve ..........................................................................................................................320,000.00 euros 

Appropriation to the special reserve item relating to the purchase of original works by living artists ..........................18,920.00 euros

Balance .............................................................................................................................................................20,939,876.00 euros

Dividends to shareholders ........................................................................................................................................9,734,129 euros
i.e. a amount equal to a dividend per share of ..................................................................................................0.64 euros
(this amount is calculated on the assumption of the adoption of the resolution, which will be proposed to the General
Meeting, for the free allocation to shareholders of 1 new share for 10 old shares held and giving the right to this 
dividend, having specified in addition that treasury shares do not give the right to dividends).

Balance ..................................................................................................................................................................11,205,747 euros 
All to the "other reserves" account, bringing it to ....................................................................................................24,230,040 euros

It is noted that:

The sum distributed would, if applicable, be eligible for the 40% rebate specified in Article 158-3-2 of the French General Tax Code
available to individual shareholders domiciled in France.

The payment of the dividends would be carried out within the 45 days following the General Meeting of 11 June 2013.

This dividend would be paid to all the shares existing on the day of the General Meeting as well as to new shares resulting from the
allotment of one free share per ten held in the event that the Combined General Meeting decides in favour of this, insofar as these
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shares would be created before the assignment of the dividend, with the exception of treasury shares/ If by the payment date, however,
the company has acquired new treasury shares, the amount corresponding to the dividends not paid in respect of such shares would
be allocated to the "other reserves" account.

In accordance with the new provisions of the French General Tax Code, it is noted for the record that the dividends distributed during
the last three years were as follows:

For the financial year ended 31/12/2009, the net dividend per share was €0.34 euro (i.e. €0.28 after taking into account changes in
the share capital). The total amount distributed, i.e. €3,654,589 euros, was, if applicable, eligible for the 40% rebate specified in
Article 158-3-2 of the French General Tax Code available to individual shareholders domiciled in France.

For the financial year ended 31/12/2010, the net dividend per share was €0.70 euro (i.e. €0.58 after taking into account changes in
the share capital). The total amount distributed, i.e. €7,618,288 euros, was, if applicable, eligible for the 40% rebate specified in
Article 158-3-2 of the French General Tax Code available to individual shareholders domiciled in France.

For the financial year ended 31/12/2011, the net dividend per share was €0.64 euro (i.e. €0.58 after taking into account changes in
the share capital). The total amount distributed, i.e. €8,563,065.60 euros, was, if applicable, eligible for the 40% rebate specified in
Article 158-3-2 of the French General Tax Code available to individual shareholders domiciled in France.

Note 5.3 – Non-tax deductible expenses

In accordance with the provisions of Article 223 c of the French General Tax Code, we ask you finally to approve the expenses specified
in Article 39-4 of the said Code, which amounted to a total of €25,555 and which gave rise to a tax charge of €8,518.

Note 5.4 – Table showing the results for the last five financial years

In accordance with the provisions of Article R 225-102 of the French Commercial Code, a table showing the company’s results for
each of the last five financial years is attached as an appendix to the management report.

Note 6 – Agreements specified in Article L. 225-38 of the French Commercial Code

Agreements authorised during a previous financial year continued during the year.

Two new agreements were concluded during the financial year ending 31 December 2012:

- an agreement signed on 25 January 2012 for the rental of a furnished apartment in Paris, authorised by the Board of Directors on 
25 January 2012. For the record, the Board of Directors noted on 30 August 2012 that the Chairman and CEO had ceased to use the 
apartment;

- an agreement signed on 10 September 2012 for consultancy services on development, marketing and communications strategy. 
Authorised by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2012.  

The statutory auditors have been properly advised of these transactions and will account for this to you in a special report.

Note 7 – Societal and environmental information

Information on the way in which the company takes into account the social and environmental consequences of its operations and its
societal commitments in favour of sustainable development and combating discrimination and promoting diversity, as set out in Article
L. 225-102-1 para. 5, R. 225-105 and R. 225-105 of the French Commercial Code, is provided in note 9.4 of this report.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012



38

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

9

Note 8 – Administration and control of the Company

Note 8.1 – List of roles and responsibilities

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code, we hereby provide a list of all the roles and
responsibilities fulfilled by each of the executive officers in all the companies.

Mr Maurice RICCI, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
- Representative of AKKA Technologies
- Chairman of ERDIMAT SAS
- Chairman of DUBAIA9 SAS
- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of EKIS SAS
- Chairman of CRDTA SAS
- Joint Managing Director of AKKA MANAGER SARL
- Chairman of MB 2C SAS
- Managing Director of SAONE VALLEY SCI
- Associate Managing Director of SCI STANDING COURSELLES
- Joint Managing Director of SARL IDEACTIVE EVENTS
- Chairman of AKKA Deutschland GmbH 
- Chairman of the Board of Directors of AKKA Italia Srl 
- Chairman of the Board of Directors of AKKA Switzerland SA
- Chairman of the Board of Directors of AKKA Benelux 
- Chairman of AKKA GROUPE AMERIQUE DU NORD Inc
- Joint Managing Director of Hysys Consulting Maroc SARL
- Director of AKKA Technologies Rus LLC
- Managing Director of BMC MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT

Mr Jean-Franck RICCI, Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer
- Director of AKKA Italia Srl, a company constituted under Italian law
- Chief Executive Officer of CASCIOPE SAS
- Joint Managing Director of Ideactive Events SARL
- Joint Managing Director of HYSYS Consulting Maroc SARL 
- Joint Authorised Representative of AKKA Deutschland GmbH
- Deputy Chairman of AKKA GROUPE AMERIQUE DU NORD INC
- Director of AKKA BENELUX SA
- Director of AKKA MIDDLE EAST FZCO
- Director of AKKA AEROCONSEIL ESPANA SL

Mr Alain TISSERAND, Director
- Joint Managing Director of AMF Investisseurs SARL
- Managing Director of MATIS SARL 
- Director of the BANQUE POPULAIRE CÔTE D’AZUR
- Representative of MATIS SARL, Managing Director of SCI LES OLIVIERS

Mrs Cécile RICCI, Director
- Managing Director of IDEACTIVE FORMATION SARL
- Director of AKKA SWITZERLAND SA

Mr Nicolas VALTILLE, Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer
- Chief Executive Officer of DUBAIA9 SAS
- Joint Managing Director of AMMA MANAGER SARL
- Chief Executive Officer of ERDIMAT SAS
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Miss Charlotte RICCI, Director 
Not applicable

Mr Guy LACROIX, Director
- Chairman of INEO SOL 4 SAS
- Chairman of INEO SOL 5 SAS
- Director of INEO COM NORD SA
- Chairman of the Board of Directors of AXIMA CONCEPT SA
- Deputy Chief Executive Officer of GDF SUEZ ENERGIE SERVICES SA
- Director and Chairman and Chiref Executive Officer of INEO SA
- Chairman of the Board of Directors of SOCIETE ELECTRIFICATION GENERALE SA
- Representative of INEA SA, Director of FSA
- Representative of INEA SA, Director of SNVD
- Director and officer of SERCE
- Director and officer of GIMELEC
- Director of FNTP

Note 8.2 – Directors’ remuneration

Note 8.2.1 – Description of the fixed, variable and exceptional components of the directors’ remuneration and the criteria on the basis
of which these were calculated

Note 8.2.2 – Information on deferred remuneration commitments made by the company in favour of its officers

The Extraordinary General Meeting of 23 June 2003 authorised the Board of Directors on one of more occasions over a period of
thirty-eight (38) months to grant options for the subscription and/or purchase of existing or new shares in the Company to employees
or officers, or certain thereof, of AKKA Technologies or of the companies specified in Article L.225-180 of the French Commercial Code.

The meeting of the Board of Directors on 14 March 2006 allotted to Mr Jean-Franck RICCI, Director: 

- 8,166 Tranche A options, 
- a maximum of 8,500 Tranche B options,
- a maximum of 8,500 Tranche C options.
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Executive officers Fixed 
remuneration

Variable
remuneration

(1)

Attendance
fees

Benefits
in kind

Fees Additional
pension 

plans

2012 2011

Maurice RICCI (2) 305   150   None - 187   None 642   400   

Jean-Franck RICCI 22   - None - 582   None 604   110   

Nicolas VALTILLE 74   - None - - None 74   -

Cécile RICCI 90   - None - - None 90   84   

Charlotte RICCI - - None - - None - -

Guy LACROIX - - 25   - - None 25   -

Alain TISSERAND (3) - - None - 150   None 150   300   

(1) Variable remuneration is determined on the basis of the achievement of commercial targets and adherence to budgets
(2) Maurice RICCI is remunerated in part through a contract for services concluded between BMC MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT and AKKA Technologies for an amount of €187 thousand in 

respect of the 2012 financial year 
(3) Alain TISSERAND is remunerated in part through a contract for services concluded between AMF  INVESTISSEURS and AKKA Technologies for a fee of €150 thousand in respect of the 2012 

financial year 
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Note 8.3 – Statement of delegations of powers in relation to increases in share capital

In accordance with Article L. 225-100 paragraph 7 of the French Commercial Code, attached to this management report is a summary
table of the delegations of powers in force in relation to increases in share capital granted by the General Meeting of shareholders to
the Board of Directors.

Note 8.4 – Special report on transactions conducted under the provisions set out in Articles L. 225-177 to L. 225-186 of
the French Commercial Code

You will also be informed by your Board of Directors in its special report compiled in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-
184 of the French Commercial Code of transactions conducted under the provisions set out in Articles L. 225-177 to L. 225-186 of the
French Commercial Code relation to share subscription or purchase options.

Note 8.5 – Special report on the allotment of free shares under the provisions set out in Articles L. 225-197-1 to L. 225-
197-5 of the French Commercial Code

In a special report drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Article L.225-197-4 of the French Commercial Code, your Board of
Directors will provide you with all information set out in the legislation with regard to free shares.

Note 8.6 – Company shareholders

Note 8.6.1- Change in share capital

Note 8.6.2 – Ownership thresholds exceeded during the year

The Company has been informed that two thresholds have been exceeded: 

•The company FMR LLC declared that it exceeded the threshold of 5% of the Company's share capital on 13 December 2012 (714,256 
shares according to the declaration of 17 December 2012). 

•The private limited liability company under Belgian law BMC Management and Investment declared that it exceeded individually the 
thresholds of 5% and 10% of the Company’s share capital and voting rights and 15% of the Company’s share capital on 14 December 
2012; this crossing of the thresholds resulted from the reclassification of 2,515,571 AKKA Technologies shares previously held directly 
by Maurice RICCI for the benefit of the company BMC Management and Investment which he controls. 

These threshold crossings were subject to declaration to the AMF (French Financial Services Authority).
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Number 
of shares

Par 
value

Amount of share 
capital

31/12/2011 12,164,499   1.53   18,611,683.47   

Exercise of 156,901 BSAARs (Board of Directors' meeting of  5 June 2012) 213,738   1.53   327,019.14   

Increase in share capital voted on 5 June 2012 by incorporation of sums from the
"share premium" account (Board of Directors' meeting of 5 June 2012) 1,237,823   1.53   1,893,869.19   

Exercise of 15,615 BSAARs (Board of Directors' meeting of 22 June 2012) 23,383   1.53   35,775.99   

Creation of additional shares under the plan for the allotment of free shares of 
24 June 2010 (Board of Directors' meeting of 22 June 2012) 10,527   1.53      16,106.31   

Creation of additional shares under the plan for the allotment of free shares of 
5 July 2010 (Board of Directors' meeting of 22 June 2012) 34,763   1.53   53,187.39   

13,684,733   1.53   20,937,641.49   

Exercise of 94,891 BSAARs from July to November 2012 
(Board of Directors' meeting of 28 March 2013) 142,156   1.53      217,498.68   

31/12/2012 13,826,889   1.53   21,155,140.17   
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Note 8.6.3 – Distribution of share capital and voting rights as at 28 March 2013

Changes made to the distribution of share capital and the voting rights of shareholders holding in excess of 5% of the share capital

Information relating to the implementation the share buy-back programme (Article L 225-211 of the French Commercial Code)

Number of shares registered in the company’s name at year-end: 82,032   
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Shares with single
voting rights

Shares with double
voting rights

Non-voting
shares

Total 
shares Votes % of total

shares

RICCI FAMILY 2,834,703 4,905,558 - 7,740,261 12,645,819 56.0%

TREASURY SHARES - - 84,533 84,533 - 0.6%

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 80,375 350,440 - 430,815 781,255 3.1%

EMPLOYEES 152,836 63,710 - 216,546 280,256 1.6%

Public 5,310,209 44,525 - 5,354,734 5,399,259 38.7%

TOTAL 8,378,123 5,364,233 84,533 13,826,889 19,106,589 100.0%

TRANSACTIONS DURING THE LAST FINANCIAL YEAR

Number of treasury shares bought back 398,052

Number of treasury shares sold (413,999)

Average price of shares bought 22.39

Average price of shares sold 22.18

Total amount of negotiation expenses -

TREASURY SHARES REGISTERED IN THE COMPANY'S NAME

Amount in € 1,968,768,00   

Percentage of the share capital which they represent 0.59%

Total value at purchase price 119,273.24   

Par value 1.53 per share

Reasons for purchases made Stimulation of the secondary market
or of the liquidity of the shares

Holder

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Number 
of shares

% of 
capital

% of voting
rights

Number 
of shares

% of 
capital

% of voting
rights

Number 
of shares

% of 
capital

% of voting
rights

Mr RICCI Maurice ** 5,031,142   36.4% 39.5% 5,071,578   41.7% 52.1% 4,708,001   43.3% 50.4%

Mr RICCI Jean-Franck 775,462   5.6% 7.8% 703,358   5.8% 6.1% 639,417   5.9% 6.3%

IDEACTIVE EVENTS 739,872   5.4% 7.7% 682,393   5.6% 7.0% 620,358   5.7% 7.3%

Mrs RICCI Cécile 731,856   5.3% 6.7% 611,798   5.0% 5.2% 556,181   5.1% 5.6%

FIDELITY MANAGEMENT RESEARCH LLC * 714,256   5.2% 3.7% - NC<5% - - NC<5% -

BANQUE DE VIZILLE - 0.0% 0.0% - 0.0% 0.0% 545,000   5.0% 6.4%
* Based on the declaration of crossing the threshold of 17 December 2012
** Including BMC Management and Investment
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Note 8.7 – Summary statement of total transactions exceeding €5,000 conducted in respect of the company’s shares
by the officers and persons specified in Articles L 621-18-2 and R 621-43-1 of the French Monetary and Financial Code

The number of declarations of transactions exceeding € 5,000 carried out during the financial year in respect of the company’s shares
by the officers and persons specified in Articles L 621-18-2 and R 621-43-1 of the French Monetary and Financial Code rose to 
sixty-three (excluding the share buy-back programme), as follows:
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Date of 
transaction

Identity of the party maing 
the declaration

Body / Person 
associated with

Type of 
transaction

Unit 
price

Type of 
securities

Amount 
in euros

10-Feb-12 IDEACTIVE EVENTS Chairman and CEO Sale 21.5   shares 214,608   

14-Feb-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 21.5   shares 1,410   

15-Feb-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 15.5   BSA 4,860   

15-Feb-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 21.5   shares 9,288   

15-Feb-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 22.0   shares 10,925   

17-Feb-12 Jean-Franck RICCI Deputy CEO Sale 15.0   BSAAR 106,980   

22-Feb-12 Jean-Franck RICCI Deputy CEO Sale 15.0   BSAAR 69,963   

29-Feb-12 Jean-Franck RICCI Deputy CEO Sale 15.2   BSAAR 144,279   

29-Feb-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 22.5   shares 11,198   

29-Feb-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 16.0   BSA 12,690   

02-Mar-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 23.0   shares 11,447   

02-Mar-12 Alain TISSERAND Director Sale 23.0   shares 460,582   

03-Apr-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 16.9   BSAAR 13,520   

03-Apr-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 16.9   BSAAR 13,520   

03-Apr-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 17.8   BSAAR 4,788   

03-Apr-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 24.0   shares 10,845   

10-Apr-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 17.0   BSAAR 9,027   

12-Apr-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 24.0   shares 10,800   

12-Apr-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 17.5   BSAAR 6,980   

14-May-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 16.0   BSAAR 3,182   

15-May-12 DUBAIA9 Chairman and CEO 21.6   shares 275,655   

20-Jun-12 Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Dation in 
payment  11.9   shares 

(usufruct) 3,953,448   

27-Jun-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 21.2   shares 11,309   

02-Jul-12 DUBAIA9 Chairman and CEO 22.7   shares 340,350   

02-Jul-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 23.0   shares 7,189   

02-Jul-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 18.5   BSAAR 3,670   

18-Jul-12 Yves LANSARD General Secretary Sale 11.5   shares 227,411   

18-Jul-12 Yves LANSARD General Secretary Sale 22.7   shares 227,411   

19-Jul-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 23.5   shares 11,368   

20-Jul-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 24.0 shares 9,555   

30-Jul-12 IDEACTIVE EVENTS Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 28,162   

31-Jul-12 DUBAIA9 Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 22,633   

05-Sep-12 IDEACTIVE EVENTS Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 5,737   

05-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 3,840   

05-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 3,840   

05-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 3,840   

05-Sep-12 IDEACTIVE EVENTS Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 13,443   

07-Sep-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 24.0 shares 9,555   

07-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 4,800   

07-Sep-12 IDEACTIVE EVENTS Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 5,737   

07-Sep-12 IDEACTIVE EVENTS Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 13,617   
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These declarations were published in accordance with regulations by the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (French Financial Services
Authority).

Note 8.8 – Work of the Board of Directors and internal control procedures

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, the report of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors on the work of the Board and internal control procedures is attached to this report.

Note 8.9 – Information on items likely to have an influence in the event of a public offer 

The Board of Directors has the option, during a public offer period, to issue and allot stock option warrants free to shareholders
meeting the requirements, before expiry of the public offer period, in accordance with the provisions of Article L.233-33 of the French
Commercial Code.

Article 15 of the articles of association includes an exclusivity clause of proxy which makes it impossible to become an officer of the
company while holding office in a competitor company, or if the director approached is a major shareholder thereof.

Your Board invites you, after reading the reports presented by your statutory auditors. to adopt the resolutions that it is submitting for
your vote.
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Date of 
transaction

Identity of the party maing 
the declaration

Body / Person 
associated with

Type of 
transaction

Unit 
price

Type of 
securities

Amount 
in euros

10-Sep-12 IDEACTIVE EVENTS Chairman and CEO Sale 24.0 shares 2,555   

10-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 23.8   shares 155,007   

11-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 23.5 shares 179,242   

12-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 23.5 shares 405,849   

13-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 23.5 shares 64,222   

14-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 23.6   shares 118,567   

18-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 23.1 shares 10,802   

18-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 23.1 shares 151,108   

20-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 23.1 shares 13,144   

25-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.6   shares 123,638   

26-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.5   shares 28,073   

27-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.5 shares 126,526   

28-Sep-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.4   shares 116,020   

01-Oct-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.4   shares 58,966   

02-Oct-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.5 shares 97,367   

04-Oct-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.7   shares 387,937   

04-Oct-12 IDEACTIVE EVENTS Chairman and CEO Sale 22.5 shares 412,248   

05-Oct-12 Jean-Franck RICCI Deputy CEO Sale 20.2   BSAAR 21,581   

24-Oct-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.5 shares 82,029   

19-Nov-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 20.0   shares 19,908   

20-Nov-12 Stéphane DESCOS Head of International Business Segment Sale 21.0   shares 18,813   

13-Dec-12 Natural person associated with Maurice RICCI Chairman and CEO Sale 22.7   shares 2,951,013   
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9.2 Operating profit
9.2.1. Major factors having a significant influence on earnings from operations
In addition to the information provided in the management report in section 9.1.1 (note 2.2) of this Registration Document, it is 
important to note that the activity ratio of the Group’s historic consolidation scope (number of days billed divided by the number of
billable days excluding paid holiday and time off in lieu) went from 91.6% in 2011 to 89.4% in 2012.

9.2.2 Significant changes in net revenue 
Please refer in the management report to notes 1.2.2.1 to 1.2.2.3 of section 9.1.

9.2.3 Government, economic, budget, monetary or political strategy or factors which have or could
have a significant direct or indirect influence on the issuer’s business
Not applicable.

9.3 Remuneration of executive officers
In addition to the remuneration of managers table in note 8.2.1 of the management report that appears in section 9.1 above, we 
present the tables showing the remuneration of the Company’s executive officers in accordance with the recommendations of the
AFEP (French Private Companies Association) / MEDEF (French Business Confederation), it being noted that the Company has chosen
to follow the MiddleNext Corporate Governance Code.

9.3.1 Table showing the remuneration and options and shares allotted to each executive officer
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Maurice RICCI - Chairman of the Board of Directors
Amounts in € thousands 2011 2012

Remuneration due for the year 400   642   

Value of options allotted during the year - -

Value of performance-related shares allotted during the year - -

Value of free shares allotted during the year - -

TOTAL 400   642   

Jean-Franck RICCI - Director and Deputy CEO
Amounts in € thousands 2011 2012

Remuneration due for the year 110   604   

Value of options allotted during the year - -

Value of performance-related shares allotted during the year - -

Value of free shares allotted during the year - -

TOTAL 110   604   

Nicolas VALTILLE - Director and Deputy CEO
Amounts in € thousands 2011 2012

Remuneration due for the year - 74   

Value of options allotted during the year - -

Value of performance-related shares allotted during the year - -

Value of free shares allotted during the year - -

TOTAL - 74   
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9.3.2 Summary table showing the remuneration of each executive officer

The remuneration received by Jean-Franck RICCI and Nicolas VALTILLE were in payment for their roles as deputy CEOs.

9.3.3 Attendance fees 
Pursuant to its eighth resolution, the General Meeting of shareholders of 5 June 2012 decided to allocate an annual envelope of
€50,000 of attendance fees as remuneration to the directors in respect of the current financial year. €25,000 of this envelope was
used by the Board in 2012 (Board of Directors’ meeting of 22 November 2012). 

9.3.4 Share subscription or purchase options allotted during the year to each executive officer
Not applicable.

9.3.5 Share subscription or purchase options exercised during the year by each executive officer
Not applicable.
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Maurice RICCI - Chairman of the Board of Directors
Amounts in € thousands

2011 2012
Amounts due Amounts paid Amounts due Amounts paid

- fixed remuneration * 350   350   492   325   

- variable remuneration 50   - 150   150   

- exceptional remuneration - - - -

- attendance fees - - - -

- benefits in kind - - - -

TOTAL 400   350   642   475   
* The amounts paid are different from the amounts due owing to the payment lag

Jean-Franck RICCI - Director and Deputy CEO
Amounts in € thousands

2011 2012
Amounts due Amounts paid Amounts due Amounts paid

- fixed remuneration * 110   128   604   599   

- variable remuneration - - - -

- exceptional remuneration - - - -

- attendance fees - - - -

- benefits in kind - - - -

TOTAL 110   128   604   599   
* The amounts paid are different from the amounts due owing to the payment lag

Nicolas VALTILLE - Director and Deputy CEO
Amounts in € thousands

2011 2012
Amounts due Amounts paid Amounts due Amounts paid

- fixed remuneration * - - 74   90   

- variable remuneration - - - -

- exceptional remuneration - - - -

- attendance fees - - - -

- benefits in kind - - - -

TOTAL - - 74   90   
* The amounts paid are different from the amounts due owing to the payment lag
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9.3.6 Share subscription or purchase options granted to the first 10 employees who are not officers
in receipt of allotments, and options exercised by such employees 
Not applicable.

9.3.7 Shares allotted to each executive officer of the company

9.3.7.1 Performance-related shares allotted to each executive officer of the company
Not applicable.

9.3.7.2 Free shares not corresponding to performance-related shares allotted to each executive officer
of the company

9.3.8 Shares which became available to each executive officer of the company during the year

9.3.8.1 Performance-related shares which became available to each executive officer of the company
during the year
Not applicable.

9.3.8.2 Free shares not corresponding to performance-related shares which became available to each
executive officer of the company during the year
Not applicable.

9.3.9 Other information relating to the remuneration of the executive officers of the company
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Executive office Plan date Number of share 
allotted

Value of the shares
(in € thousand)

Acquisition 
date

Date 
of availability

Jean-Franck Ricci 05/07/2010 5,000 63 04/07/2012 04/07/2017

Name Position Date 
of start 
of term 
of office

Date of end 
of term 
of office

Employment
contract

Supplementary
pension plan

Benefits or 
compensation due 

or likely to be 
due owing to 
termination of 
employment or 
change of role

Compensation
relating 

to a 
non-

competition
clause

Maurice Ricci Chairman and CEO 12/02/1999
General Meeting convened 

to approve the 2013 
financial statements

No No No No

Jean-Franck Ricci Deputy CEO 07/03/2001
General Meeting convened 

to approve the 2012 
financial statements

No No No No

Nicolas Valtille Deputy CEO 30/08/2012
General Meeting convened 

to approve the 2014 
financial statements

No No No No
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9.4 Corporate social responsibility
The objective of the AKKA Technologies 2012 CSR report is to comply with the new regulatory obligations relating to the communication
of social and environmental information arising under Law no. 2010-788 of 12 July 2010 providing for a national commitment to the
environment (known as the “Grenelle 2” Act) codified in Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code, supplemented in turn
by Decree no. 2010-557 of 24 April 2012 codified in particular in Article R. 225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code. The aim of this
report is to present to the AKKA Technologies Group’s stakeholders its contribution in terms of Sustainable Development. 

The information presented has been prepared in accordance with the nature of the Group’s operations and the associated social, 
environmental and societal impacts. In 2012, AKKA Technologies acquired the German Group MBtech. The Group has since been 
organised into 3 Business Units: France, Germany and the Rest of the World. Given the recent nature of this acquisition, this CSR report,
prepared for the first time in 2012, presents consolidated information or, where this is not available, focuses on the consolidated 
companies in France. 

9.4.1 Social consequences of operations
In accordance with the provisions of Articles L. 225-102-1, para. 5, R. 225-105 and R. 225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code, 
we hereby inform you of the social consequences of the Company’s operations and the manner in which the Company takes such
consequences into account:

The AKKA Technologies Group draws on basic corporate values in order to develop in a sustainable manner. The Group provides its
employees with a stable and dynamic environment where they can achieve their professional potential and take advantage of the
wide-ranging prospects offered by the Group’s diverse activities and geographic locations and its development.

9.4.1.1 Employment
Workforce

As at 31 December 2012, the AKKA Technologies Group had a workforce of 10,645 employees (compared with 7,111 in 2011) of
which 6,052 were in France (stable by comparison with 2011), 2,945 in Germany (196 in 2011) and 1,648 in the rest of the world
(865 in 2011).

The average age of the Group’s employees was 35.1 years as at 31 December 2012 (34.7 in 2011).

The average number of years of service of AKKA Technologies employees in France was 4.84 years as at 31 December 2012. This is
lower than in 2011 due to the acquisition of MBtech.

The distribution of the Group’s total workforce by gender as at 31 December 2012 was 80.4% male and 19.6% female. In France, 
the distribution was 77.8% male and 22.2% female. This distribution is stable compared with the previous year. 

Recruitments and departures

In 2012: 
•1,413 recruits were taken on in France
•1,377 people left the Company in France

In 2012, the Group took on 1,413 recruits in France distributed as follows:

The use of sub-contractors equated to 238 full-time jobs in France in 2012.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Contracts of indefinite duration 1,251

Other types of contracts 162

TOTAL 1,413
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Remuneration
Across the Group, the total cost of labour in 2012 was €531.2 million compared with €319.5 million in 2011. In parallel, the average
workforce in 2012 was 9,645 employees, compared with 6,112 in 2011.

9.4.1.2 Organisation of labour
The AKKA Technologies entities comply with the applicable local legislation and the agreements and practices of the industry sectors
in the countries in question. In France, part-time employees represented 4% of the workforce as at 31 December 2012, the same as
in 2011. Requests for part-time working are generally authorised, after an analysis of compatibility with service or project constraints,
for a period of between 6 months and one year, sometimes longer. Authorisations can be extended beyond the initial request, at the
request of the employee and with the agreement of his line manager.

9.4.1.3 Social relations 
A well-established social dialogue
The AKKA Technologies Group has always respected freedom of association and considered social dialogue to be important. In the
majority of countries, its subsidiaries have trade unions and staff representatives. 16 collective bargaining agreements were signed in
France in 2012.
Of these major agreements, one relates to psycho-social risks and another to Manpower Planning. The latter is part of a programme
involving the establishment of a Human Resources Information System which will facilitate the assessment of individual and team
skills, in particular through Appraisal Interviews, in order to promote management by skills, develop training programmes and facilitate
mobility and professional development.

Organisation of social dialogue
In France, almost all employees are represented by elected bodies (Works Councils), staff representatives and Health, Safety and Working
Conditions Committees which all our agencies have. 
Generally, the Works Council and Staff Representatives meet monthly and the Health, Safety and Working Conditions Committee 
quarterly. Additional meetings can be held if necessary. The Group Committee met 4 times in 2012. 
In addition all staff in France come under the same collective bargaining agreement: that of technical design offices, consulting 
engineering firms and consultancy companies.

Summary of collective bargaining agreements
In 2012, AKKA Technologies signed a framework agreement in relation to harmonisation of the collective rules applicable to all its
French subsidiaries. This agreement provides for a number of topics for negotiation in 2013. In addition, the Group has established a
number of monitoring committees in relation to manpower planning, formalising the development of skills and career management
for all Group employee in France. AKKA has also set up two joint management and staff monitoring committees concerned with 
the continued employment of older members of staff, in the context of an agreement on older members of staff signed in 2009. 
An agreement on the prevention of psycho-social risks was also negotiated in 2011 and 2012, resulting in signature by 5 out of 
6 trade unions at the beginning of October 2012.  
AKKA Technologies has also established a personalised support mechanism for employees wishing to move to a job in one of its 
subsidiaries abroad. Depending on the host country, the employee receives an integration programme, financial support with relocation
and moving expenses, a language course and intercultural training.

9.4.1.4 Health and safety
Terms and conditions of health and safety at work: a key concern for the Group
In 2012, AKKA Technologies established a system of safety and protection management centred on risk prevention, in strict compliance
with clients’ regulations and contractual obligations. This enabled the AKKA Technologies Group to obtain MASE and CEFRI-E certifi-
cation for its work involving ionising radiation in nuclear installations. In addition, a training programme specific to safety and risk 
prevention for all managers in the Group’s French agencies has been in place since 2009. As well as the involvement of managers, two
in-house AKKA trainers each year train workplace first aiders, ensuring that each site has staff who are able to take action immediately
after any accident. As at 31 December 2012, 124 employees had been trained as workplace first aiders. A significant internal commu-
nications programme aimed at informing employees has been established within the Group: 

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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- On joining the Group, each employee has access to an e-learning module introducing the company and focusing on risk prevention 
measures and his role in this;

- Each year, road accident prevention days are organised in AKKA agencies, together with a dedicated poster campaign. 

Employees are able to access information relating to the Group through various tools: the Group portal containing Group news and
links to various intranets (Human Resources, Capitalisation, Quality System, etc.); various “Flash Info” newsflashes relaying information
to Group employees were issued during the year.

Summary of agreements signed with trade unions or staff representatives in relation to health and safety at work
A health, prevention and environmental policy was established by Maurice RICCI in 2010 and renewed by Ralf Haibach in 2012. 
The aim is to progress towards 0 accidents. 

Accidents at work, in particular their frequency and severity, and occupational illnesses

•Change in frequency rate: number of lost time accidents at work per million hours worked (consolidated companies 
in France):
2011: 0.8
2012: 0.96

•Change in severity rate: number of days lost per thousand hours worked (consolidated companies in France):
2011: Severity rate: 0.037
2012: Severity rate: 0.005

•Number of lost time accidents at work (consolidated companies in France): 
2012: 10
2011: 8

9.4.1.5 Training
Training policies
Training is valuable tool in the context of the Group’s corporate objectives: it routinely supports employees in completing their projects
and tasks, anticipates their progress by developing skills and helps to support the career development and mobility of talent within the
Group. 

Enabling employees to develop their knowledge of the latest technological tools and methodologies is an essential element as far as
the AKKA Group is concerned. 

In this context, the AKKA Institute focused in 2012 on: 

- consolidation, the development of training programme by major business segment; 
- individual training programmes which have been established to facilitate the repositioning of employees within the business 

segments.

Training allows us to anticipate and support the changes in our business and facilitates everyone’s understanding of and day-to-day
involvement in our corporate project, part of the group’s DNA and the basis for its values.

With the acquisition of MBtech, AKKA Technologies has taken on a new dimension. In this context, the AKKA Group has established
a personalised support mechanism for employees wishing to move to a job in one of its subsidiaries abroad. 
Depending on the host country, the employee receives an integration programme, financial support with relocation and moving 
expenses, a language course and intercultural training. In 2012, AKKA supported 68 employees in taking up posts abroad and created
37 voluntary internship positions abroad for young graduates wishing to gain international experience. 

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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In addition, intercultural training modules between France and Germany were developed in order to provide the key to better 
communication and understanding. Thus in 2012, 100 AKKA managers participated in intercultural training courses lasting 1½ days.
Lastly, almost 300 employees in France received language training in order to facilitate their development internationally.

Training tools

•A collaborative platform: ANAKIN
Established in 2012, this collaborative platform enables all employees in companies in France who so wish to exchange information
and ideas on technology topics and to share their knowledge and know-how. Thus in 2012, AKKA Technologies counted 111 technology
exchange communities set up on the ANAKIN collaborative platform, with 700 participants (registration open to all) in technical 
conferences led by experts.

•AKKA RESEARCH 
At our in-house research centre, AKKA RESEARCH, consultants between contracts are actively involved in monitoring the technological
issues of the future and developing innovative concepts and prototypes. Young graduates on internships at AKKA Research are given
the opportunity to steer projects and rapidly acquire excellent project management skills.
In this context, AKKA Technologies and the Technology University of (UTBM) signed a technology partnership agreement in 2012, 
illustrating AKKA’s wish to develop close relations with the major engineering schools and technology-based universities. 

•AKKA Institute
The role of the AKKA Institute, the Group’s in-house university, is to share the Group’s values and know-how by capitalising on the
skills and expertise of the men and women who have contributed to its development.  
To date over fifty tailor-made training modules have been developed and almost 9,000 hours of training were delivered in 2012, 
in order to meet employees’ needs a fully as possible, disseminate good practice and provide high added value solutions in response
to clients’ expectations.

•An e-learning platform: E-learninstitute
The AKKA Technologies e-learning programme is based on 6 complementary modules and is intended to give employees the maximum
opportunity to progress their projects in the best possible conditions. 

Total number of training hours

In 2012, AKKA delivered more than 52,000 of professional training, i.e. an average of over 4.5 days of training per employee receiving
training (consolidated companies in France). 

Summary figures for France:

•7,400 days of training compared with 7,100 in 2011;
•approximately 1,600 employees  received training compared with 1,300 in 2011;
•over 75% of the training effort was aimed at the acquisition of technology skills and solutions.

9.4.1.6 Equal treatment
Steps taken in favour of equality between men and women
AKKA Technologies respects the principles of equality between women and men by applying an equitable policy in terms of recruitment,
access to training, remuneration and promotion, presented each year to staff representatives’ bodies. 

Recruitment
In 2012, women represented 19.41% of recruits on contracts of indefinite duration in France.

Training and career management
AKKA takes care to ensure that women and men receive equivalent levels of training. 
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Remuneration
In order to ensure that women and men receive equivalent levels of remuneration, AKKA Technologies offers identical starting salaries
to male and female candidates in posts with equivalent responsibility and identical qualification, education, skills and experience levels.
In the context of job appraisals and reviews, AKKA reminds all managers each year of the equality principles to be followed, including
in particular the requirement not to take into account absences due to maternity/paternity leave, adoption or part-time working.

Steps taken in favour of the employment and integration of disabled people
In order to support the employment of disabled workers, AKKA Technologies has embarked on an analysis of disability in the Group’s
French companies and has been engaged, since the beginning of 2013, in negotiations with the trade unions with a view to an 
agreement on Disability.
Through “mission Handicap”, which the Group has been promoting since 2009, various actions have been and are being taken to
raise employees’ awareness of Disability: 

•AKKA participated in disability week by running a major awareness campaign. Every employee was given information on recognising 
disability in a professional context.

•Equipping of workstations and provision of equipment for disabled employees. Specific assistance made it possible for a disabled 
employee to participate actively in the Group’s annual sports challenge.

In 2013, AKKA opened negotiations relating to work/life balance under the framework agreement on the harmonisation of practices
and collective bargaining agreements. Other topics for negotiation are provided for in this framework agreement, the organisation of
working hours, job moves, etc.

Anti-discrimination policy
At the end of October 2012, the Group had employees of 59 different nationalities in France, and recruited foreign nationals to 12%
of the posts on offer.

As a signatory to the Diversity Charter in France, AKKA Technologies endeavours to develop all aspects of diversity in its teams: male/female
equality, mix of ethnic and social backgrounds, places for young and older members of staff, integration of disabled employees, etc. 

9.4.1.7 Promotion of and compliance with the provisions of the fundamental conventions of the 
International Labour Organisation relating to: 
Respect for freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining
No judgement, ruling or fine relating to the obstruction of freedom of association or infringement of the right to negotiation was 
reported in 2012.

The elimination of discrimination in respect of employment and occupation and the elimination of forced or compulsory
labour
No judgement, ruling or fine relating to the use of forced or compulsory labour or discrimination in respect of employment and 
occupation was reported in 2012.

AKKA is committed to responsible development.
•Membership of the United Nations Global Compact,
•Signatory to the Diversity Charter,
•Environmental Policy centred on eco-friendly measures in the office.

Through these commitments, AKKA undertakes to combat all forms of discrimination and implement a programme promoting 
diversity.

Effective abolition of child labour
No judgement, ruling or fine relating to the use of child labour was reported in 2012. 
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9.4.2 Environmental consequences of operations
In accordance with the provisions of Articles L. 225-102-1, para. 5, R. 225-105 and R. 225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code, 
we hereby inform you of the environmental consequences of the Company’s operations as a function of the type of operation and its
effects.

9.4.2.1 General environmental policy
The intellectual services provided by the AKKA Technologies Group have a limited environmental impact compared with the operations
of heavy industries.
However, its many locations, the need to use substantial infrastructures and IT equipment and the need to produce numerous 
documents have environmental consequences and the Group is committed to minimising environmental impact through its “Prevention
and Environment” policy operated by the department of the same name.

Organisation of the company in order to take into account environmental issues and environmental assessment or 
certification measures

•Eco-design: site management 
In addition to the United Nations Global Compact and the “Environment and Prevention” policy, the AEROCONSEIL facilities at Blagnac
and Lyon Vaise put in place an environmental management system in accordance with the standard ISO 14001 and obtained 
certification in December 2012. 

The establishments are committed to continuous improvement of their practices and to preventing pollution by taking concrete action
appropriate to their industry: 

- Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, as well as other requirements applicable to the Group (clients’ requirements,.etc.),
- Implementation of measures necessary to eliminate or reduce the impact of AKKA’s operations on the environment,
- Making employees, service providers and new recruits aware of the environmental action taken at the site. 

The subsidiaries resulting from acquisitions are also committed to this action programme: including the MBtech site at Sindelfingen
which has been ISO 14001 certified since July 2012.

In addition, whenever an agency is opened, AKKA promotes the implementation of measures contributing to environmental conservation: 

- Ban on the use of hazardous products, expect with permission from the environment department,
- Selection of energy-saving materials and equipment,
- Making employees aware of good practices such as the sorting of paper.

•Environmentally responsible site management
At all its sites in France and in its subsidiaries abroad, depending on national regulations, AKKA Technologies promotes the implemen-
tation of measures contributing to environmental conservation:

- Preventive maintenance of equipment in order to save energy,
- Use of non-toxic and non-hazardous products by cleaning contractors and promotion of eco-labelled products,
- Elimination of plastic cups in favour of AKKA mugs made from recycled plastic,
- Using available means, regular encouragement of employees on the site to respect the environment and adopt good practices. 

They also check that low consumption equipment is installed progressively as items are replaced.

Measures to educate and inform employees in matters of environmental protection

•Eco-design: everyone’s concern
Owing to the nature of its business, AKKA provides services with low environmental impact and control of the Group’s influence on
the environment has become a major challenge. 
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The Group’s employees are participating in an environmental responsibility programme in order that the limitation of the environmental
impact becomes everyone’s concern.  In order to raise awareness and help them in their day-to-day actions, a guide to eco-friendly
measures “the environmental aide memoire” was developed and distributed in 2012. The Prevention and Environment department
also encourages employees to think about environmental issues during sustainable development week.
Thus a poster campaign was developed for all AKKA France sites. It shows the “right” actions to take using a specially designed mascot.
As an innovative company, the Group’s technical teams are at the centre of environmental problems and must follow the Group’s 
eco-design recommendations: maximum recyclability, low energy consumption, maximum use of recyclable materials, etc.  

•Eco-friendly management of IT equipment 
The Group’s efforts to limit its environmental impact also apply to the IT sphere, managed centrally by the IT Equipment and Security
Department, which ensures standardisation and sharing of the equipment used.

Through its business of software development and IT project management for clients, AKKA Technologies has a large number of servers
and has developed a programme to rationalise the number of items of IT equipment and make sensible use of consumables, by sharing
the equipment and implementing solutions which reduce the energy consumption of workstations.

Moreover, the majority of photocopiers can print on both sides. In order to raise awareness among the Group’s employees, an infor-
mation chart was developed in 2010. This contains the basic eight points to consider before sending an email. 

Means devoted to preventing environmental risks and pollution
The “Prevention and Environment” department was created in 2010 in order to steer the Group’s Environmental Policy. With a staff
of 4, this department is dedicated entirely to running our Prevention policy. Reporting directly to the Managing Director France, 
the department’s role and responsibility is to ensure that the environmental management system is implemented and maintained in
accordance with requirements. 

Amount of provisions and guarantees for environmental risks
Not significant.

9.4.2.2 Pollution and waste management
Measures to prevent, reduce and clean up discharges into the air, water and land having a serious environmental impact 
Based in 20 locations across the world, AKKA Technologies is present in France and internationally. In France, the Group has more than
40 agencies which cover the entire country. Its clients are also based both in France and abroad.
The Greenhouse Gas Balance Sheet, drawn up in 2012 on the basis of 2011 data, highlighted the amount contributed by travel to
CO2 emissions.
In 2012, AKKA Technologies launched a programme to limit travel to internal and external meetings thanks to: 

- Progress in the installation of videoconference equipment on most Group sites. Thus the number of videoconferences increased to 
30 in 2012 compared with 27 in 2011. A note is sent out regularly to all management encouraging application of this action plan 
which sets out the principles of the Group’s policy on travel. 

- Provision of Jabber Credits, enabling video conferences from the employee’s on PC. In 2012, 25 employees were able to use this 
system from any location. This system should be generally available in the longer term.

- Telephone conferences becoming the norm: between January and 31 December 2012 the number of telephone conferences 
arranged rose from 486 to 831, an increase of almost 50%.

This summary enables identification of the routes to restricting the most polluting forms of transport and favouring the train for a
number of destinations in France.

Finally, in order to improve the management of business travel, arrangements are made by in-house teams who centralise business
travel and vehicle hire. The use of taxis and private cars is restricted for short journeys where public transport is easily accessible. 
In Toulouse, during Sustainable Development Week, steps were taken to encourage the use of public transport and promote car sharing
among 1,000 members of staff.

The rules on business travel are posted on the intranet and apply to all Group employees.  

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012



54

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

9

Steps to prevent, recycle and eliminate waste – Eco-friendly waste management
As far as waste management is concerned, AKKA Technologies operates a waste recycling policy embodied in the following measures:

- Waste sorting at the majority of sites in France, working with specialist service providers. In practice, a basket solely for sorting 
paper is placed in service areas (coffee machine, photocopier). Employees have been informed of the waste sorting procedure 
specific to each site in an internal memo. 

- Management of the specific aspects of Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment with removal by accredited firms enabling 
traceability of the waste: 
•Special containers have been installed for computer consumables, batteries, ink cartridges and paper. These are taken away by a 

specialist firm, which also enables monitoring of the amount of waste processed and the traceability of such waste. 
•In 2012, 100% of equipment was recovered and processed by external companies specifying the energy value of their 

components.
- Reduction in plastic waste with the use of AKKA mugs distributed to all 6,000 staff of AKKA France.
- Use of PEFC certified paper at all sites in France. 100% of the office stationery used in our agencies in France in 2012 was PEFC 

certified. 

A number of different types of steps are taken within AKKA Technologies to train and inform employees with regard to environmental
protection: 

- Awareness raising through the internal magazine under the heading Sustainable Development when a news item arises, 
- Regular information posted on the intranet as “news” items, 
- Information is also provided in the welcome booklet sent to each new member of staff,
- In the longer term, the Corporate website will have a page devoted to the environment.

Taking account of noise and all other forms of pollution specific to an activity
In the context of our innovative technology solutions and especially of the priority we are giving to rethinking travel options and
reducing the CO2 emissions associated with traffic density, AKKA Technologies is developing new prototypes of electric vehicles which
follow the route automatically. After the work done on the Astute Car in 2008, AKKA unveiled Link&Go, the independent, reliable, 
intelligent, companionable electric vehicle, on 21 February 2013.

9.4.2.3 Sustainable use of resources
Water consumption and supply depending on local constraints
Water consumption is not a major element in the AKKA Group’s operations. More generally, with regard to the sensible use of resources,
awareness campaigns are conducted with staff through the guide to eco-friendly measures and the Group’s communication tools.

Consumption of raw materials and steps taken to improve the efficiency of their use
The intellectual services provided by the AKKA Technologies Group have little environmental impact on the consumption of raw 
materials.

Energy consumption, steps taken to improve energy efficiency and use of renewable energy
Following a study undertaken in 2010, AKKA began virtualisation of the Group’s data centres and added electricity consumption as 
a criterion in the selection of IT equipment. The launch of virtualisation of the data centres has reduced electricity consumption and
enabled the achievement of 70% paperless operation. The Group’s eventual target is 75%.

In addition, in accordance with the legislation on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment, 100% of equipment is recovered and
processed by external companies specifying the energy value of their components. In 2012, 13 orders were placed for recycling equip-
ment.

Use of land
The intellectual services provided by the AKKA Technologies Group have little environmental impact on the use of land compared with
heavy industries.
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9.4.2.4 Climate change
Emissions of greenhouse gases
The Greenhouse Gas Balance Sheet, drawn up in 2012 on the basis of 2011 data, highlighted the amount contributed by travel to
CO2 emissions.
It is available on the AKKA Technologies Group’s website www.akka.eu.

Adaptation to the consequences of climate change
Climate change has no impact on the intellectual services provided by the AKKA Technologies Group compared with the operations of
heavy industries.

9.4.2.5 Protection and biodiversity
Steps taken to preserve and promote biodiversity
Biodiversity has no impact on the intellectual services provided by the AKKA Technologies Group compared with the operations of
heavy industries.

9.4.3 The company’s commitment to sustainable development
In accordance with the provisions of Articles L. 225-102-1, para. 5, R. 225-105 and R. 225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code, 
we hereby inform you that our Company has made the following commitments to sustainable development.

9.4.3.1 Geographical, economic and social impact of the company’s operations 
In terms of employment and regional development
The AKKA Group contributes to regional development through its sites and recruitment policy. In order to serve its clients and meet
their expectations, AKKA Technologies is establishing its service centres and strengthening its teams in its regional locations. The Group’s
recruitment policy gives priority on a voluntary basis to the employment of young graduates with 5 years of higher education at 
engineering or business schools or universities. 

The communications programme, which includes all the steps taken to widen the sourcing of CVs, selects the best candidates and
offers the companies dossiers targeted to their requirements and facilitating the recruitment of those starting out.

The aim of this programme is to improve the visibility and attractiveness of the employer brand:

•Relations with universities which are intended to favour the recruitment of graduates from target universities and candidates for 
pre-employment internships. AKKA Technologies currently has 28 partner universities. 

•Effective communications campaigns: Challenge, Bar AKKA, etc.

In 2012, AKKA remained a major player in the development of regional jobs, with more than 1,400 new recruits in France.

On neighbourhood or local populations
AKKA Technologies recruits 30-40% of its staff in the Ile de France region, in association with the industries in which we operate 
(Automotive, Aeronautics, Rail, Defence, Telecoms, Energy, Health, etc.) and the majority in France’s industrial heartlands (South-West,
North-East, East, etc.)

9.4.3.2 Relations with persons or organisations with an interest in the company’s operations, in 
particular employment assistance organisations, educational establishments, environmental protection
organisations, consumer associations and neighbourhood populations
Terms of dialogue with such persons or organisations
As part of its recruitment policy, AKKA technologies forges partnerships of different types with various engineering schools and 
universities throughout the country:
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- Educational involvement  in technical modules, 
- Conferences and Chairs on dedicated topics,
- Follow-up of student projects, particularly at the AKKA Technologies in-house Research Centre,
- Sponsorship of events (UTBM motor race, etc.),
- Practice interviews at our partnership universities or associations, 
- University forums.

Partnership or charity activities
Openness to diversity and commitment to employment are areas in which the AKKA Technologies Group is actively involved. 

In January 2011, AKKA signed its first agreement with the association Nos Quartiers ont des Talents (Our neighbourhoods have talent),
which mentors young graduates in order to help them find jobs consistent with their abilities. Our 25 volunteer consultants support
45 young people in finding jobs. To date, 15 young people have secured long-term employment.

For the last 5 years, AKKA Technologies has supported the Lyon-based association RESSORT which helps executives and young graduates
into jobs. 

The AKKA Technologies Group is one of the major supporters of the Lyon–Duchère sports association, based in a cosmopolitan, 
working-class district of the city. Our annual support enables the club to bring sport with an educational purpose to a population from
a disadvantaged social background, in the belief that participation in sport is also a social activity.

9.4.3.3 Sub-contractors and suppliers
Taking account of social and environmental issues in procurement policy
The AKKA Group has included a social action clause in its calls for tenders, which states that supplier selection takes into account their
approach to the employment of disadvantaged people (direct employment, interim, sub-contracting, qualifying programmes, etc.).
"AKKA wishes to have on its books service providers active in the environmental field. We wish to involve all stakeholders in this 
programme and put the environmental issue at the heart of our services. We would, therefore, ask you to take this requirement into
account in your service offer, in particular the steps you have taken or will commit to in order to limit the impact of your operations on
the environment."

The companies taken on offered concrete action in this direction which will be monitored jointly by the Procurement and Sustainable
Development Departments. This social action clause will be progressively introduced into a growing number of calls for tenders. 

In addition, another clause has also been introduced into our general purchasing terms and conditions requiring our service providers
and suppliers to comply with environmental standards. 
"The service provider undertakes to comply with the environmental requirements notified to it, to take all steps it considers necessary
to improve its environmental performance on a continuous basis and to promote socially responsible, environmentally friendly beha-
viour." 

Importance of sub-contractors and taking account of their social and environmental responsibility in relations with
suppliers and sub-contractors
The AKKA Technologies Group uses sub-contractors in the performance of contracts. In 2012, this represented 12% of the Group’s
consolidated revenue.
With regard to the importance of sub-contractors and the manner in which the Group ensures that their social and environmental 
responsibility, AKKA ensures that such partners comply with United Nations principles. Consequently, it inserts appropriate contractual
clauses into the documents governing the obligations between parties.

9.4.3.4 Fair business practices
Steps taken to prevent corruption
Operating in a highly competitive and constantly changing market, AKKA Technologies regularly makes acquisitions. The major 

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012



57

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

9

expansion of the Group requires in particular minimisation of any risk of fraud. Internal audit is directly responsible to the Board of 
Directors and reports directly to it. 

In 2012, AKKA signed all attestations and requests for commitments from clients to comply with business ethics and anti-corruption
codes.

In addition, in terms of procurement, the Group applies new purchasing terms and conditions to contracts with our suppliers and
sub-contractors, including compliance with business ethics and anti-corruption codes in order to obtain contracts. In 2012, 21 audits
were conducted on all procedures and their application in France and in subsidiaries based abroad, particularly on sales, sub-contractor
procurement and business monitoring.

No instances of corruption were reported in 2012 and no fines or non-financial penalties were imposed for failure to comply with
laws and regulations.

Steps taken in favour of consumer health and safety
Not applicable. 

Other steps taken, under this heading, in support of human rights
AKKA Technologies supports the 10 principles of the Global Compact in all its agencies in France and undertakes to all clients to respect
basic human rights and has signed all attestations relating to the respect for human rights.
Within the Company, every employee may, if he considers that he is the victim of discrimination or any other prejudice, have recourse
to the employee representatives (trade union representatives, elected member of the works council or staff representative) present in
all Group organisations. 
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10.1 Information on shareholders' equity
The statement of change in consolidated shareholders' equity appears in section 20.3.5 of this Registration Document. This increased
by €55,921 thousand during 2012 owing primarily to the following factors:

- the change in share capital of the consolidating entity in 2012 of +€3,691 thousand,
- net profit for the year 2012 of +€41,349 thousand,
- the change in consolidation scope with the impact of the change in minority interests in MBtech of €20,974 thousand,
- change of €(1,420) thousand in other items of comprehensive income, 
- dividends of €(8,684) thousand paid to shareholders in 2012 for the year ended 31 December 2011,
- the impact of IFRS 2 standards relating to free shares and share subscription options of +€163 thousand.

10.2 Source and amount of cash flows

Net cash flow generated from operations:

The cash generated from operations before the cost of net financial debt and tax during the year amounted to €59,759 thousand.
This financed the payment of €(9,764) thousand in corporation tax and the increase in working capital requirement of €58,000 
thousand during the year. 

Net cash flow associated with investment transactions:

The main investment cash-flows are associated with:
- the cost of additions to the consolidation scope which amounted to €(41,085) thousand primarily associated with the MBtech 

acquisition,
- fixed asset acquisitions of €(20,254) thousand.

Net cash flow associated with financing transactions:

In 2012, the amount of new borrowings and repayments of existing borrowings increased Group cash by €70,068 thousand. AKKA
Technologies in addition paid €(8,684) thousand as dividends to its shareholders in June 2012.

10 - CASH AND EQUITY

Change in cash in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Net cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 79,104 81,364

Net cash flow associated with business operations (8,005) 36,096 

Net cash flow associated with investment transactions (61,860) (18,150)

Net cash flow associated with financing transactions 61,723 (20,237)

Impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (31) 31

Net cash and cash equivalents at year end 70,931 79,104
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10.3 Information on the terms of borrowing and the financing structure of the Group
10.3.1 Financing policy

Fixed assets: external growth activities

Consolidation of the Group’s financial structure over time has provided it with flexibility in the choice of finance. Initially financed by
debt, small acquisitions are now financed entirely from shareholders’ equity, while larger acquisitions are financed partly by shareholders’
equity and partly by medium-term bank loans.

⇨ In April 2008, the Group issued bonds to the value of €20,000 thousand in the form of bonds with redeemable share subscription 
and/or acquisition warrants (OBSAARs - Obligations à Bons de Souscription et/ou d'Acquisition d'Actions Remboursables) in order 
to finance its growth. Following this issue and taking into account the Group’s financial structure, its cash flow and its good cash 
position, no borrowings were specifically required to finance acquisitions up to the end of 2011. 

⇨ On 12 April 2012, AKKA Technologies and MBtech Group GmbH & Co. KGaA took out a loan contract for a 5-year term with a 
pool of banks for €90 million. It is intended to finance:
• The acquisition of 65% of shares in MBtech Group GmbH & Co. KGaA and MBtech Verwaltungs GmbH,
• The refinancing of the MBtech sub-group's debt to Daimler,
• Financing WCR and the investments of the MBtech sub-group.

When taking out loans, an undertaking was made to respect the described in the consolidated financial statements (cf. section 20.3.6).

⇨ On 1 March 2013, the Group made a €100 million bond issue on the European private placement market. This initiative, which is 
non-dilutive for the shareholders and has no impact on the Group’s net debt, was undertaken in relation to AKKA Technologies’ 
change in size.

This bond issue enables AKKA:
• to secure the future of its Franco-German growth project,
• to diversify and optimise its sources of finance between banks and institutional investors,
• to refinance the acquisition of MBtech and finance the Group’s general requirements,
• to extend the average maturity of its debt under attractive market conditions.

Fixed assets: financing of premises

The premises at Colomiers are the subject of financial lease agreements restated in the consolidated financial statements, resulting in
the recognition of a residual loan of €211 thousand as at 31 December 2012.

The premises at Saint Victoret were financed by a loan taken out by AKKA Ingénierie Documentaire and repaid in full.

MBtech Bohemia’s land and buildings (at Pilsen and Prague in the Czech Republic) were financed by a loan which has been repaid 
in full. 

Fixed assets: financing of other fixed assets

These comprise mainly IT equipment, licenses and software. This item is a small element in the Group’s fixed assets. 

IT equipment is financed by financial lease in the company AEROCONSEIL. As at 31 December 2012, residual borrowings of €568
thousand appear in the accounts.
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Financing of Working Capital Requirement (WCR)

The working capital requirement of the main French companies is financed by factoring contracts or by assignments of trade receivables
(Dailly Act statement). 

As mentioned in note 4.13 to the consolidated financial statements (section 20.3.6), part of the loan taken out at the time of the
MBtech acquisition was to finance MBtech’s working capital requirement.

10.3.2 Summary of borrowings
Details of the terms and conditions of borrowings (including covenants) and financing structure as at 31 December 2012 are contained
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (see section 20.3 below).

The main changes occurring in 2012 were as follows:

⇨ Repayment of one third of the bonds amounting to €(6,7) million,
⇨ Taking out a loan of €103.3 million to finance the acquisition of MBtech,
⇨ Repayment of €(22.8) million of MBtech loan,
⇨ Taking out an overdraft of €2.4 million for MBSim. 

10.4 Information on any restrictions on the use of share capital or capable of 
having a significant direct or indirect influence  on the Group’s operations
Not applicable.

10.5 Information on the sources of financing envisaged for planned investments
Apart from any external growth transactions, where financing methods will be analysed on a case by case basis, the Group has the 
capacity to finance its investment programme.
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The AKKA Technologies Group has filed 18 patents mainly relating to vehicles field. In 2012, AKKA’s investment in research and 
innovation bore fruit insofar as 5 patents relating to “Electric Vehicle” research were granted (including the motor arm and ergonomic
steering wheel) and 3 new ones filed. The Group does not use any significant brand licences. 

Moreover, the Group believes it is not dependent on patents or licences owned by third parties.

Research costs committed in 2012 on amounted to €55,200 thousand and are recorded under expenses for the year. These costs
were €43,970 thousand (pro forma) for the year 2011 and €32,705 thousand in 2010.

11 - RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, 
PATENTS AND LICENCES
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12.1 Main trends affecting production since the end of the last financial year
There are a number of factors which need to be taken into account in order to understand the trends expected in the first few months
of 2013:

- An activity ratio of around 90% consistently reached over the end of the 2012 financial year, 
- A net rise in the workforce generating an "on-board" impact approaching 11,000 employees,
- Good international momentum,
- Use of new recruitment methods,
- Sustained dynamism and enterprise culture (enthusiasm, solidarity, passion for technology), 
- Opportunities for external growth internationally,
- AKKA has recovered its flexibility and reconfigured its financial capacity in order to support the Group’s growth.

In one year, AKKA has become an international Group, created a unique European platform and is in excellent shape
to accelerate its growth on a global scale. In the medium term, the Group will generate an operating margin of 
€100 million, a sign of its new momentum.

12.2 Commitments likely to have a significant effect on the Group's prospects
Not applicable.

12.3 Publications since closing
Press release 
Lyon, 7 February 2013 – 17.35 

Consolidated revenue in 2012 up 74.5%
•Pro forma revenue of €925 million

Strengthening of financial balance
•Debt reduction target achieved

2012 was a turning point for AKKA Technologies. The Group doubled in size between 2010 and 2012 to achieve pro forma revenue
of €925 million. It has bolstered its presence in Germany where it now generates 39% of its revenue.

The challenge in 2012 was to consolidate and stabilise this new structure. AKKA has given priority to focusing on the basics in order to:

•build an organisation capable of responding to the needs of a Group with a consolidated revenue of one billion euros,
•create the basis for long-term profitable growth at MBtech with the implementation of a Performance Optimisation Plan and 

overhauling the sales organisation,
•strengthen its corporate governance and give operational independence to the CEO/CFO team in each of the 3 Bus, while continuing 

to adhere to the Group’s family values.

The basic work completed during the year will enable AKKA Technologies to approach 2013 with confidence.

12 - INFORMATION ON TRENDS
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Consolidated revenue (1 January – 31 December)

The consolidated  revenue as at 31 December 2012 includes the MBtech Group since le 1 April 2012.

1. Consolidated revenue in 20112 of €827.2 million

Consolidated revenue in the fourth quarter of 2012 was €234.8 million compared with €145.1 million in 2011. Organic growth for
the period was 1.2%.

Revenue in 2012 amounted to €827.2 million up 74.5% compared with 2011. This increase resulted from the strategic positions
taken up in Germany, stability in France and further excellent progress in the Rest of the World. Pro forma revenue was €925 million.
France accounted for 49%, Germany for 39% and the Rest of the World for 12%.

•France remains central to the Group and has good growth potential. Revenue was up 12.5% on a consolidated basis and 
more or less stable at constant consolidated scope, despite the difficulties in the economy and the General Management’s involvement 
in Germany. Aeronautics +18% and rail +19% grew strongly at constant consolidation scope. The arrival of the French CEO/CFO 
team last September will increase the operational momentum.

•In Germany, the foundations have been laid for strong, profitable growth. In barely 9 months, MBtech has greatly improved 
its profitability. Significant work has been done with the teams and will pick up pace with the arrival of the new CEO in order to:

- Capitalise on MBtech’s unique, cutting edge expertise to work with other automotive manufacturers and in the aeronautics sector.
- Structure the organisation and commercial activity so as to achieve a new norm in profitability. 

The existing subsidiary, AKKA Germany, showed sustained growth. Business was up 30%, with a significant increase in the aeronautics
segment at +22%.

•The Rest of the World remained very dynamic, almost doubling on a consolidated basis (+92%) and up 16% at constant 
consolidation scope. Belgium grew at a rate of +14%, Italy at +24% and Romania at +10%. With over 1,800 employees, the Rest 
of the World is a growth vehicle for the Group and significant, secure growth opportunities are in prospect in strongly expanding 
markets.

2. Earnings improvement and debt reduction targets achieved

The consolidated profitability of business operations in 2012 will, as announced, be above 7%, with a significant increase
in the profitability of MBtech.

The Group’s debt reduction programme continued, due in particular to a significant improvement in WCR, which resulted in
gearing of around 30% as at 31 December 2012, compared with 53% as at 30 June 2012.
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In € million (unaudited) 2012 2011 Growth

Revenue 827.2 474.1 +74.5%

France 451.6 401.4 +12.5%

Germany 271.4 18.5 Ns

Rest of the World 104.2 54.2 +92.1%
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3. 2013, the foundations have been laid for profitable growth

The work done in 2012, revenue secured for 5 years by DAIMLER, the solidity of the French base and excellent momentum in the
Rest of the World have given AKKA the time necessary to proceed confidently with building a one billion euro Group and will enable
in 2013 and beyond:

•A return to growth in France over the year
•Completion of the commercial overhaul at MBtech
•An acceleration of growth in the stand alone subsidiaries
•An improvement in the Group’s profitability
•Continued debt reduction

In two years, AKKA Technologies has become a key player in the transport sector on a par with the largest European
companies.
Leading company in France and Germany – Leading company in the Automotive and Aeronautics sectors, AKKA now
has a unique specialist position.
Almost 11,000 engineers in 20 countries are a guarantee of sound expertise, sustainable project solutions and an 
ambition to serve our clients.

Press release
Paris, 28 February 2013 – 8.30

AKKA Technologies optimises its financing

AKKA is taking advantage of favourable interest rates to restructure its medium-term financing and has completed a successful 
€100 million bond issue on the European private placement market.

1. Background to the financial restructuring

This initiative, which is non-dilutive for the shareholders and has no impact on the Group’s net debt, was undertaken in relation to
AKKA Technologies’ change in size, following which revenue, after the acquisition of MBtech, reached €925 million pro forma.
The soundness of the Group and quality of its projects attracted investors and made the operation a success.

2. Description of the operation and what it means

- Issue amount: €100 million
- Maturity: 5years, 4 months (June 2018)
- Annual coupon: 4.45%

This bond issue enables AKKA:

- to secure the future of its Franco-German growth project;
- to diversify and optimise its sources of finance between banks and institutional investors;
- to refinance the acquisition of MBtech and finance the Group’s general requirements;
- to extend the average maturity of its debt under attractive market conditions;
- to increase the Group’s financial flexibility in order to pursue its growth strategy with confidence.
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Press release
Lyon, 2 April 2013 – 17.35

2012: a turning point
Consolidate revenue: +74.5% to €827.3 million
Profitability on target: 7.6% of revenue
Debt reduction successful: gearing below 0.3

2013: new momentum
AKKA is in good shape
AKKA strengthens its position as a specialist

Medium term: new target
Operating margin of €100 million
Strong growth in Germany
Increase in output outside Europe

The AKKA Technologies’ Board of Directors met on 28 March 2013 and approved the financial statements for 2012. The audit 
procedures in respect of the consolidated financial statements have been completed and the certification report is in the process of
being issued.

AKKA grows stronger underpinned its European base in France and Germany

1/ 2012 was a good year for AKKA Technologies. A turning point.

•France, 54.6% of consolidated revenue at €451.7 million, represents a solid platform for the Group’s growth programme. The 
aeronautics and rail segments strengthened. Our knowledge and expertise enable us to work in partnership with major French clients. 

•Germany, 32.8% of consolidated revenue at €271.4 million, has significant growth potential in the automotive sector, through 
diversification, but also in the aeronautics and rail sectors. This potential will enable us to build the Group’s largest development 
programme.

•The Rest of the World, 12.6% of consolidated revenue at €104.2 million, is growing very rapidly and covers 18 countries and 
represents a future growth seam for the Group.

2/ The profitability of business operations at 7.6% of revenue was above target.

ROA increased strongly at €63 million

•Profitability in France was 5.9% of revenue, despite a very competitive environment. It increased in the second half of the year (7.3%, 
compared with 4.6% in the first half). The Q4 action plan, rigorous management and redeployment in the commercial sphere have 
begun to bear fruit. 
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Consolidated income statement - in € million 2012 2011 Growth

Revenue 827.3 474.1 +74%

Earnings from business operations 63.0 43.0 +47%

Margin on business operations 7.6% 9.1% -

Earnings before tax 54.2 38.3 +42%

Net earnings 41.3 26.9 +54%

Group share of net earnings 40.4 26.9 +50%

Net margin 4.9% 5.7% -

2012: MBtech consolidated for 9 months (1 April / 31 December)
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•Profitability in Germany was 4.8% of revenue. AKKA Germany produced an excellent performance (ROA at 15% of revenue). And, as 
announced, MBtech’s profitability improved greatly, going from 2.7% in 2011 to 4.3% in 2012. Profitability doubled compared with 
2011, excluding non-recurring carve out items (costs of exiting from the DAIMLER consolidation scope). The productivity plan and 
diversification are being pursued. 

•Profitability in the Rest of the World remained high at 13% despite the dilutive effect of the MBtech start-ups (China and USA). 

Pro forma, earnings from business operation amounted to €66 million and revenue to €925 million. The transport 
segment represented 82% of revenue and gives AKKA a unique specialist position.

3/ The Group’s financial structure is strengthened in less than a year

As at 31 December 2012, gearing was 29.6% with shareholders’ equity of €177 million and net debts of €52.4 million.

•Gross debt has reduced significantly since June 2012 and cash has been rebuilt.
•In March 2013, AKKA optimised its financing by through a successful €100 million bond issue.
•AKKA has recovered its flexibility and reconfigured its financial capacity in order to support the Group’s development.   

Medium-term target: operating margin of €100 million.

In one year, AKKA has become an international Group, created a unique European platform and is in excellent shape
to accelerate its growth on a global scale. In the medium term, the Group will generate an operating margin of €100
million, a sign of its new momentum.
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Not applicable.
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14.1 Management and executive bodies
See Management report in section 9.1 of this Registration Document and the Executive committee summary presentation in section
7.1.4.

Alain TISSERAND – Director – age 58
With 30 years’ experience in Engineering and Consultancy, and a former executive at one of the largest French consultancies, Alain
TISSERAND has worked for the AKKA Technologies Group since 2002. Since his arrival, he has contributed to the significant growth of
the Group, in particular in the aeronautics sector.

Cécile RICCI – Director – age 51
After starting her career in management control at Rhône Poulenc, Cécile RICCI jointed AKKA Technologies in 1995. She was first 
employed in the role of Administrative and Finance Director of a subsidiary, before taking charge of the Group's management control
from 2004 to 2011. She has been in charge of the company IDEACTIVE Formation since 2012.

14.2 Conflict of interest at director and executive management level
As far as the Group is aware, there is no conflict of interest between the private interests of members of the management bodies and
their duties with regard to the company.

As far as the company AKKA Technologies is aware, over the course of the last five years no member of the Board of Directors has
been prosecuted for fraud, nor have they been involved in an executive capacity in any case of bankruptcy, fraudulent sequestration
or liquidation, been the subject of an indictment and/or an official public sanction pronounced by a statutory or regulatory authority,
been prevented by a court of law from acting as a member of a management, executive or supervisory body for an issuer or from 
becoming involved in the management or leadership of an issuer’s business.

14 - MANAGEMENT, EXECUTIVE AND SUPERVISORY
BODIES AND GENERAL MANAGEMENT
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15.1 Amount of remuneration and benefits in kind allocated to members of the
management and executive bodies
This information is provided in the management report that appears in section 9.1.2 (note 8.2.1) of this Registration Document.

15.2 Total amount of sums provided for or recognised for the purposes of the 
payment of pensions, retirement benefits or other benefits

Pensions
No amount was provided for in the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2012 for the purposes of retirement pensions
of members of the Group's management and executive bodies. 

Subscription and free share options allotted to company officers
See note 8.2.2 to the management report in section 9.1.2 of this Registration Document.

Information on the regulated agreements concluded between the company and one of its officers, a shareholder holding in excess of
10% of the share capital, its parent company
An agreement on the provision of support and services was signed on 30 April 2002 between the company AKKA Technologies and
the company AM INVESTISSEUR. The agreement was subsequently transferred to the company AMF INVESTISSEURS and continued in
force until 31 January 2013.

An agreement on the provision of support and services was signed on 25 November 2009 between the company AKKA Technologies
and the company DUBAIA9 SAS.

A lease agreement was concluded between the company AKKA Technologies and SCI STANDING COURCELLES for a term of six years
with effect from 1 January 2012.

An agreement on the provision of services was concluded with effect from 15 September 2012 between the company AKKA Techno-
logies and BMC MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT.

These agreements are referred to in the statutory auditor's special report that appears in section 20.5.5 of this Registration Document.

Managers' interests in the issuer's share capital, that of a company which controls it, that of a subsidiary of the issuer or of a client or
major supplier of the issuer 

As detailed in section 18.1, the Ricci family group and other executives of the Group directly held 4,915,633 shares in AKKA Technologies
as at 28 March 2013. In addition, Maurice Ricci and Jean-Franck Ricci, both directors, own 100% of the shares in the company 
IDEACTIVE EVENTS, which holds 739,872 shares in AKKA Technologies. Maurice RICCI also owns 100% of the shares in the company
BMC Management and Investment which holds 2,515,571 shares in AKKA Technologies.

Information on transactions not in the nature of current transactions
None.

Loans and guarantees granted or constituted in favour of the management and executive bodies
None. 

15 - REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS
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Company General Management (article 20 of the articles of association)

General Management of the company is undertaken by the Chairman of the Board of Directors (see decision of the Board of Directors
of 24 June 2002).

16.1 Date of end of current terms of office
Cf. report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors on corporate governance and internal control in section 16.5 (note 1.1) below.

16.2 Services agreement binding members of the management bodies 
Under an agreement concluded between the company AKKA Technologies and the company AM Investisseur (this agreement was
then transferred to the company AMF Investisseurs), on 30 April 2002, the latter, managed by Mr. Alain TISSERAND, provides its know-
how and expertise, particularly in relation to external growth activities, but also in terms of definitions and actions to improve Group
performance.

The amount invoiced under this agreement for 2012 was €189,600.

Under an agreement concluded between the company AKKA Technologies and the company DUBAIA9 SAS on 25 November 2009,
the latter, whose Chairman is Mr. Maurice RICCI, provides its know-how and expertise, particularly in relation to the management of
Business Units and Subsidiaries and support functions. The amount of services billed in 2012 was €44,400 excluding tax.

Under an agreement concluded between the company AKKA Technologies and the company BMC MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT
on 10 September 2012, the latter, whose managing director is Mr. Maurice RICCI, provides its know-how and expertise in relation to
the expansion of the Group. The amount of services billed in 2012 was €187,250 excluding tax.

Furthermore, the members of the company management bodies are not bound by any service agreements that include the granting
of benefits to subsidiaries of AKKA Technologies.

16.3 Information on the audit committee and remuneration committee
See report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors on corporate governance and internal control in section 16.5 below (note 1.4).

16.4 Compliance with current corporate governance
See report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors on corporate governance and internal control in section 16.5 below.

16 - OPERATION OF THE MANAGEMENT
AND EXECUTIVE BODIES
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16.5 Report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors on corporate governance
and internal control
In accordance with the provisions of article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, this report covers:
- the composition and conditions for preparing and organising the work of the Board of Directors during the financial year ending 31 

December 2012, the extent of the powers of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO), references made to a corporate 
governance code and special clauses relating to shareholders' participation at the General Meeting;

- the rules and policies fixed for determining the remuneration and benefits of any nature granted to company officers;
- the internal control and risk management mechanism implemented by the company.

The report of the Chairman was approved by the Board of Directors during its meeting of 28 March 2013, in accordance with the 
provisions of article 225-37 of the French Commercial Code.
AKKA Technologies has consulted (Decision of the Board of Directors of 29 January 2010) the Corporate Governance Code for small-
caps and mid-caps drawn up by MiddleNext (the "MiddleNext Governance Code") within the context of implementing its governance.
This code is available on the MiddleNext website (www.middlenext.com).

The MiddleNext governance code contains 15 recommendations as well as points for particular attention to ensure fair governance.
These points for particular attention concern the main questions that the Board of Directors must ask to ensure effective governance.
The Board states that it is aware of the elements presented in the "Points for particular attention" item of the MiddleNext Governance
Code.

I will inform you regarding the implementation of the 15 recommendations of the MiddleNext Governance Code within AKKA 
Technologies further on in the report.

Note 1 – Preparation and organisation of work carried out by the Board of Directors

Note 1.1 – Composition of the Board (recommendations R8 R9 and R10 of the Corporate Governance Code for small-
and mid-cap issuers published in December 2009 by MiddleNext, concerning the composition of the Board, the choice
of directors and the duration of the terms of office of the Board members)

The company AKKA Technologies was run by a Board of Directors comprising four members at the start of the financial year. At the
end of the year the Board of Directors had seven members.
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Directors Position Date of appointment / Re-appointment Duration

Maurice RICCI Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer

Memorandum of association of 12 February 1999 /
General Meeting of 28 February 2005 / 

General Meeting of 24 June 2008 / 
General Meeting of 14 June 2011

Until the General Meeting to approve 
the financial statements for the year ending 

31 December 2013

Alain TISSERAND Director General Meeting of 28 June 2007 / 
General Meeting of 22 June 2010

Until the General Meeting to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2012

Jean-Franck RICCI
Director and Deputy 

CEO
General Meeting of 07 March 2001 / General Meeting
of 28 June 2007 / General Meeting of 22 June 2010

Until the General Meeting to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2012

Cécile RICCI Director General Meeting of 7 March 2001 / General Meeting
of 24 June 2008 / General Meeting of 14 June 2011

Until the General Meeting to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2013

Charlotte RICCI Director General Meeting of 5 June 2012 Until the General Meeting to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2014

Nicolas VALTILLE
Director and Deputy 

CEO
General Meeting of 5 June 2012 (Director) / Board of
Directors' Meeting of 30 August 2012 (Deputy CEO)

Until the General Meeting to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2014

Guy LACROIX Independent Director General Meeting of 5 June 2012 Until the General Meeting to approve the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2014

Antoine CAHUZAC Independent Director General Meeting of 5 June 2012 Resignation tendered at Board of Directors' 
Meeting of 22 November 2012
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In accordance with recommendation R8 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on the presence of independent members, the
Board appointed 2 independent members during the year. The Board of Directors’ internal rules of procedure specify the independence
criteria to be used: the independence of a member of the Board is characterised by the absence of a significant financial, contractual
or family relationship which could affect the independence of judgement:

- not being an employee or executive officer of the company or a Group company and not having been so during the last three years;
- not being a significant customer, supplier or banker of the company or its Group or for which the Group represents a significant 

share of business;
- not being a major shareholder in the company;
- not having a close family tie to a company officer or major shareholder;
- not having been an auditor of company during the last three years.

It is the Board’s responsibility to examine on a case by case basis the situation of each of its members with regard to the criteria set
out above. Subject to being able to justify its position, the Board may consider that one of its members is independent although not
satisfying all these criteria; conversely, it may also consider that one of its members satisfying all these criteria is not independent.

Since the resignation of Mr Antoine CAHUZAC, the Company has been seeking a second independent director.

In accordance with recommendation R9 of the MiddleNext Governance Code on the choice of directors, information on the
experience and skills of each director will be communicated in the annual report and at the General Meeting at the time of appointment
or re-appointment of each director. The appointment of each director will be subject to a separate resolution.

Recommendation R10 of MiddleNext's Governance Code regarding the duration of terms of office of Board members
does not fix a duration for the terms of office of members of the Board of Directors but recommends that the Board of Directors makes
sure that the terms of office are appropriate for the company's specific needs, within the limits set by law. The term of office for a
member of the Board of Directors is fixed at 3 years which is in accordance with the law. With regard to the company's business ope-
rations, this term enables understanding to be gained regarding the various business sectors and follow-up on strategy.

Note 1.2 – Professional conduct of Board members

In accordance with recommendation R7 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on the professional conduct of Board members,
each director is made aware of the responsibilities that are incumbent upon him in the context of his duties at the time of his appointment. 

He is, therefore, is encouraged to:

- observe the rules of professional conduct relating to the obligations that arise from his/her office and to comply with the legal rules 
regarding the holding of multiple offices,

- inform the Board in the event of any conflict of interest arising after taking on the office,
- demonstrate diligence in attending Board meetings and at the General Meeting,
- ensure that he/she has all the information needed regarding the agenda for Board meetings before making any decisions,
- and respect professional secrecy.

Note 1.3 – Duty of the Board

The Board of Directors determines the directions of the Company’s business and ensures these are fulfilled. Subject to the powers 
expressly attributed to shareholders’ meetings and within in the limits of the company’s corporate objects, the Board of Directors deals
with all matters relating to the proper functioning of the company.
In accordance with the applicable legislative and regulatory provisions, the Board discusses all transaction having or potentially having
an effect on the Company’s share capital or shareholders’ equity, such as in particular: increase or reduction in capital, issue of bonds,
share buy-back programme, allotment of share subscription or purchase options.
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Note 1.4 – Special committees 

In applying recommendation R12 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on setting up committees and in accordance with 
article L. 823-20 4° of the French Commercial Code, it was decided that the Board of Directors would take on the duties of the
audit committee in order to enable all the directors to contribute to monitoring the drawing up of the financial information and the
efficiency of internal control systems, given Board members' accountability.
In this regard, the Board of Directors carries out the following duties:

- review of the financial statements,
- monitoring the internal audit,
- selection of the statutory auditors.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Deputy CEOs who perform management duties refrain from taking part in Board
meetings when it meets in the form of an audit committee. The meeting is then chaired by another director. However, the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer and the Deputy CEOs may be invited to take part in a part of the meeting depending on the nature of the
subjects and the details and information that they can usefully bring to enhance discussions.

The Board of Directors also performs the functions of an Appointments Committee and a Remuneration Committee:

- appointment of company officers,
- definition of the remuneration policy and allotting free shares and share subscription or purchase options.

Given the size of the Group and the company shareholding structure, no special committee has been established at this time.

Note 1.5 – Internal rules

In accordance with recommendation R6 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on the establishment of internal rules of procedure for the
Board, internal rules of procedure were adopted at the meeting of 22 November 2012. These rules contain the following sections: 

•Composition of the Board of Directors
•Tasks and competencies of the Board of Directors
•Meetings of the Board of Directors 
•Informing directors
•Professional conduct of the directors
•Remuneration of the directors
•Audit and financial statements committee

The rules incorporate the principles of the MiddleNext corporate governance code.

Note 1.6 – Frequency of meetings

Recommendation R13 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on Board and committee meetings recommends a minimum of 
4 annual meetings, each of which should be minuted.
During the financial year 2012, the Board of Directors deliberated on all of the major issues in the life of the Group. It met 7 times,
chaired by Mr Maurice Ricci (except for Board meetings in the form of audit committees).
Minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors drawn up at the end of each meeting are communicated or made available to all
Directors and entered into the company registers kept for this purpose on Company premises.
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Note 1.7 – Notifying directors of meetings

In accordance with article 17 of the articles of association, the directors were notified of meetings in advance by various means, including
by letter, electronic mail or even verbally. In accordance with article L. 823-17 of the French Commercial Code, the statutory auditors
were notified of Board meetings during which the half-yearly and annual financial statements were considered and approved.

Note 1.8 – Informing Directors

In accordance with recommendation R11 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on the informing of directors, all the documents,
technical dossiers and information needed for the directors to carry out their tasks were sent to them at least 2 days before meetings
of the Board of Directors. However, particularly sensitive and urgent subjects were able to be discussed without prior communication
or with prior communication close to the date of the meeting.
Furthermore, the directors were kept regularly informed between meetings of any event or information likely to have an effect on the
company's commitments, its financial position and its cash situation, when the company's current situation justified it.
In applying recommendation R11 of MiddleNext's Governance Code, the directors were invited to evaluate the relevance of the
information disseminated at the Board meeting on 25 January 2012: the Board members deemed that the information disseminated
was relevant and enabled them to have completely independent constructive discussions.

Note 1.9 – Holding meetings

Meetings of the Board of Directors take place at the company’s registered office or at company premises located in Lyon. The average
rate of participation by the members at meetings of the Board of Directors for the 2012 financial year was 69%. 

Note 1.10 – Evaluation of work carried out by the Board (recommendation R 15 on evaluating work carried out by the
Board)

In recommendation R15 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on evaluating the work carried out by the Board, the Chairman
invited Board members to express their opinions on the operation of the Board and on the preparation of its work at the meeting on
25 January 2012.
It emerged that the directors considered that the current operation of the Board of Directors enabled them to perform their tasks under
good conditions, with a possible improvement in terms of the time taken to send out some preparatory documents. The Chairman noted
these comments and specified that he would invite the members of the Board to give their opinions on this subject again next year.

Note 2 – Powers of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Deputy Managing Directors

No specific limitation has been applied to the powers of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and to the powers of the Deputy
Managing Director with the exception of limits in the legislation and the articles of association.

Note 3 – Policy for the remuneration of company officers

Note 3.1 – Concurrent employee contract/company officer status

With regard to recommendation R1 of MiddleNext's Governance Code, relating to the concurrent holding of an employee
contract and company officer status, it is specified that the company officer status of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
and the Managing Director Designate are not held concurrently with employment contracts. 

Note 3.2 – Remuneration of company officers

With regard to remuneration of company officers, the company complies with recommendation R2 of MiddleNext's 
Governance Code. In this way, the principles for determining this remuneration meet the requirements for comprehensiveness, 
balance, benchmarking, consistency, measurement and transparency.
Remuneration and benefits of any type granted to company officers are fixed in accordance with the following policies and regulations: 
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- a fixed remuneration including, if appropriate, benefits in kind corresponding to a company car,
- variable remuneration may be granted to certain corporate officers in accordance with performance indicators, which are linked to 

company profits in relation to internal targets. The variable part is determined to be 50% depending on economic and financial 
results, valued according to revenue, operating profit and net profit, and at 50% in consideration of individual performance based 
on qualitative criteria.

All remuneration paid to the company's managers is recapped within the annual management report appearing in section 9.1 of the
registration document.
In accordance with recommendation R5 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on share subscription or purchase options and
the allotment of free shares, the following information is given on free shares and share subscription or purchase options: the
company did not allocate any of these to its managers during 2012.

Note 3.3 – Deferred remuneration

The company officers do not receive any deferred remuneration, severance pay or pension as defined in recommendations R3 and
R4 of MiddleNext's Governance Code.

Note 3.4 – Attendance fees

In accordance with recommendation R14 of MiddleNext's Governance Code on the remuneration of directors, the following
information is given regarding attendance fees: Pursuant to its eighth resolution, the General Meeting of shareholders of 5 June 2012
decided to allocate an annual envelope of €50,000 of attendance fees as remuneration to the directors in respect of the current
financial year. €25,000 of this envelope was used by the Board in 2012 (Board of Directors’ meeting of 22 November 2012).

Note 4 – Internal control and risk management mechanisms

The reference framework used for the internal control and risk management part of this report is the Implementation Guide for Small-
and Mid-caps updated and published by the AMF (French Financial Services Regulator) on 22 July 2010.
This report was drawn up following discussions and interviews with the heads of the Group’s functional departments and the managers
of the Group’s Business Units and followed several meetings of the Board of Directors of the company AKKA Technologies.

Note 4.1 – Definition and objectives of the mechanism

AKKA Technologies' internal control is a mechanism which brings together all of the rules defined by the Group's operational depart-
ments and its aim is to give reasonable assurance regarding carrying out the following objectives: 

- Compliance with laws and regulations,
- Proper application of the instructions and guidelines set by the General Management,
- Effective operation of the company’s internal processes, including those aimed at safeguarding its assets,
- Reliability of financial information.

Generally speaking, it contributes to the controlling of its activities, the effectiveness of its operations and the efficient use of its 
resources.
The mechanism is applied across the whole of the AKKA Technologies Group:  the parent company and its subsidiaries, the majority
of which are contained within the three Business Units: France, Germany and the Rest of the World, established during 2012 in order
to support the Group’s new size and future growth. Each Business Unit is managed in tandem by a CEO, focused on operations and
commerce, and a CFO in charge of support functions

One of the objectives of internal control is to prevent and control the risks resulting from company operations and the risk of errors or
fraud, particularly in the finance and accounting fields. As with all control systems, however, it cannot provide an absolute guarantee
that these risks will be totally eliminated.
The risks which the Group must face are listed in the registration document under item "4. Risk factors".
All of the internal control mechanism described below aims to respond using procedures appropriate to these various risk factors.
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Note 4.2 – Description of the internal control and risk control mechanism

Group Internal Control Manual
With its extensive knowledge of financial and segment-related risks, the General Management of the Group has produced a formal
summary manual describing the Group’s internal control regulations to respond to these risks (“AKKA Group Internal Control Stan-
dards”). This manual has been distributed to all the CEOs/CFOs of each of the Business Units, who are responsible for the communi-
cation and application of these regulations within their area.

The main internal control principles are as follows:

- Significant involvement of General Management in monitoring monthly reports and the budgeting process,
- Monthly reconciliation of management control information with accounting data (at subsidiary and Group level),
- A single, consistent and centralised set of rules, administered by the Group's management control department,
- Independent but tightly interfaced payroll, sales administration and accounting software,
- Attachment to the finance department of management assistants and management controllers (ensuring independence and freedom 

of judgement with respect to the operational and commercial departments),
- An accounting department split into independent areas: customer accounts, supplier accounts, audit of the financial statements and 

cash,
- Securing bank account signatories.

Set of Group Procedures
The Group also has an intranet devoted to the Group’s Internal Control, the aim of which is to centralise and make available “on-line”:

- Group internal control rules and standards,
- reporting procedures,
- other Group procedures and notes.

This database is added to whenever a Group procedure is issued. A periodic review of the procedures appearing on this intranet is also
carried out to ensure the relevance of the information contained within them.

Quality Management System
The Quality Management System brings together all the operational procedures and is widely accessible to all those involved in the
company's life. The company's quality system is ISO 9001-certified (generic standard) and EN 9001-certified (aeronautics, space and
defence).

Evaluation of the mechanism
Internal Audit participates in all of the Group's companies, evaluates the application of internal control policies and informs the Board
of Directors of any issues noted. These issues are the subject of recommendations whose action plans are shared with the audited 
parties, their line managers and the management of the Business Unit in question so that corrective actions can be implemented.
Formal internal audit reports are produced for this purpose.
The quality system is subject to regular audits by the quality teams. At the end of the audits, an audit report is distributed to the audited
parties, their line managers and the management of the Business Unit in question so that corrective actions can be implemented.

Note 4.3 – Key players in internal control

Risk and internal control management is a matter for everyone, from the governance bodies to all of the Group's employees. All of the
Group's departments play an active role in defining the rules to be applied by the Group's companies. The Internal Control Department
is responsible for ensuring that this happens.

Operations
Aiming to limit the commercial and legal risks of operations, the Group’s General Management validates the largest contracts depending
on their value and according to predefined criteria. At the level of each Business Unit, the authorities to commit to client contracts are
controlled by rules on delegation defined each year by CEOs/CFOs.
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Each Business Unit has to adapt Group rules and standards to produce local procedures that embody strictly management actions
linked to business: pre-sales, contract preparation, business monitoring, revenue recognition procedures, and invoicing, as well as
compliance with the Group’s rules on transfer pricing.

Recruitment and Human Resources
Recruitment and dismissal activities come under the authority of the Human Resources Department of each Business Unit with the 
exception of the CEOs/CFOs of the Business Units and their direct subordinates. Once recruited, an employee record is created in the
local computer systems. Pay is centralised for all the French companies.
More generally speaking, the Human Resources Department in each Business Unit is responsible for human resources management,
payroll management, the monitoring and application of employment law and relations with social partners. The Human Resources
Department carries out its procedures in liaison with operations managers as well as the Human Resources Manager network in the
region which is intended to improve employee management and support to local managers.
Decisions connected with payroll changes are subject to systematic validation at CEO/CFO level.

Finance
With the aim of optimising credit management, all client account openings are preceded by an analysis of creditworthiness. 
Invoice collection is formalised and specifies a systematic follow-up system once late payments are identified.
Payment methods are centralised, with almost exclusive use of payment by bank transfer.
The choice of banks is validated by the Group Treasury department and there are only a few signatories who are formally identified.

Management control
The organisation of management control implemented within the Group aims to reduce the risks of misappropriation and poor business
profitability and, more generally, the risk of actual performance drifting in relation to the budget. The Group has a management control
department, which analyses the monthly performance of each Business Unit and consolidates the monthly earnings.
Each subsidiary within the Business Units also has one or more management controllers who are responsible for the monitoring and
financial evaluation of business operations, including the monitoring of business and invoicing margins.
A budget is established each year by the Group entities and consolidated at the level of each Business Unit. This budget is then subject
to approval by the General Management and consolidation at Group level. On this basis, Group management issues a note of internal
targets to the CEOs/CFOs of the Business Units. Each month, Group management control identifies differences in performance compared
to internal targets to enable group management to take rapid corrective action.

Purchasing
The selection of suppliers is based on calls for tenders and made according to objective criteria aimed at ensuring quality and compe-
titiveness with respect to the goods and services purchased. The Group’s purchasing policy consists of standardising as far as possible
supplier listing by purchase category, enabling advantage to be taken of negotiated prices and strengthened general purchasing terms
and conditions. Given its direct link to the quality of the goods and services supplied to the client, the procurement of sub-contractors
is the subject of enhanced monitoring.

The rules for delegation of signature authority are defined such as to comply with the principle of the separation of tasks and commu-
nicated to all parties involved.

Legal
In each Business Unit, the CEO, with the support of his CFO and the Group Legal Department, ensures that the company complies
with current laws and regulations in each geographical area. Subsidiaries may use external consultancy services, particularly in litigation
proceedings and for specific operations, after approval thereof by the Group Legal Department.
As part of the coverage for the main risks associated with liability, property, insurance, and contracts, the group Legal Department is
responsible for the centralisation of the main documents to facilitate their authorisation and control by Management.
Monthly reporting from the subsidiaries to the holding company enables recognised disputes and potential risks to be centralised, and
to avoid risks not taken into account at Group level. A numbered estimate of the various risks identified appears in the document.
All purchases and sales relating to fixed assets, patents, trademarks, know-how and other intellectual property rights are centralised
and validated by the Group’s General Management.
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Information  system
The Group Information Systems Department, in conjunctions with the Information Systems Departments in each Business Unit, works
to ensure that the company’s IT tools are permanently available and to ensure the integrity and confidentiality of information stored
in the information system.
A back-up and archiving system ensures that data are retained and are also immediately accessible.

Quality Management System
The Quality Management System unites practice around 4 priorities:

- to promote the development of synergies between sectors,
- to promote the sharing of values and practices as well as capitalising on know-how,
- to unite employees through a shared approach,
- to contribute to improved visibility of the Group with our clients and partners.

In addition, certification of this quality system in accordance with ISO 9001 (generic standard), EN 9001 (aeronautics, space, defence)
and IRIS (rail) gives the company a competitive position in France and recognition from our clients.

Safety, radiation protection and the environment
For AKKA Technologies, the health and safety of its employees is a priority. Our prevention policy aims at “zero accidents”.
In 2012, the focus was on the prevention of road accident risks by offering employees:

- training for all managers on accident prevention programmes,
- centralisation of the management of all statutory training (electrical permits, etc.),
- road accident prevention campaigns, to combat the main occupational accident risk in our business: national poster campaign in all 

agencies, fun questionnaire raising awareness of road accident risks, two-day practical workshops on driving.

In addition, at each AKKA site in France a manager responsible is appointed and trained. They ensure the regulatory compliance of
their site, in association with the Prevention of Environmental Risks team (single document for professional risk evaluations, installation
control, fire drills etc.).
In the at-risk business sectors, the Quality Assurance Department for the Prevention of Environmental Risks has specific measures that
are used and certified, such as MASE (iron and steel industry, chemicals, pharmaceuticals) and CEFRI-E (nuclear), to ensure the health
and safety of its employees throughout the provision of a service.
Finally, AKKA Technologies is committed under the United Nations Global Compact to a programme aimed at limiting its environmental
impact. A dedicated environmental team drives the environmental management system, encourages protection of the environment
through simple actions that minimise our impact, saving energy and natural resources. ISO 14001 environmental programmes have
resulted in certification of our largest sites in France.

The main measures in 2012 related to:

- establishing a survey of greenhouse gas emissions for the main entities in France,
- raising awareness of an eco-friendly attitude among all employees during sustainable development and transport weeks and European 

week for waste reduction, 
- promoting car sharing with 1,000 employees in the Toulouse region (subsidised access to a local car sharing platform).

Note 4.4 – Preparation and control of shareholder accounting and financial information

The persons responsible for the preparation and control of this information are:

- The Board of Directors,
- The Corporate Finance Department, responsible for the monthly management and production of financial information, Group treasury 

and Group consolidation in accordance with the articles of association,
- Group Management control department.
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Furthermore, significant subsidiaries have at least one statutory auditor who certifies the annual financial statements for the year ending
31 December and undertakes the limited review of the financial statements as at 30 June for the purposes of establishing the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are established in accordance with international financial reporting standards (IFRS).
The executives of each subsidiary are responsible for the preparation of the accounting data contained within these statements.
Except in the case of specific legislation that applies in certain countries, which would give rise to the restatement of consolidated 
financial statements for the institution, accounting policies and standards are standardised across all of the companies of the Group.
Restatements in accordance with IFRS standards will be subject to centralised processing by the consolidation team, particularly the
impairment tests on non-depreciable assets recommended by standard IAS 36.
The monitoring of off-balance sheet commitments is centralised with the Group Treasurer. The summary statement of off-balance
sheet commitments is updated at least twice a year for year ends and half-year ends. The off-balance sheet commitments are detailed
in the consolidated financial statements.
In order to limit the risk of error in terms of financial communication, the Group has set up an internal review and validation process
for all financial communication projects.

Note 4.5 – Action plan

Some twenty audits were performed in 2012 aimed at understanding the level of internal control in the existing entities and integrating
the newly acquired companies:

- France BU: focus on two main processes: “Sales/Business management” and “Sub-contractor procurement”;
- Rest of the World BU: general assessment of the level of adoption of the reference manual “Group Internal Control Standards”;
- Germany BU: ad hoc measures aimed at raising awareness of the Group’s standards and rules within the new entities.

Based on the audits, the main areas of work for 2013 are the following: 

- Acceleration of the integration of the newly acquired companies,
- Continuing to improve and adapt IT reporting and management tools in order to increase the consistency of financial and budgetary 

information,
- Updating and implementation of the Group’s internal control system (Internal Control Standards and internal control reference 

manual by major process),
- Establishment of a risk assessment process within each Business Unit,
- Continuing standardisation of the internal control procedures in the international subsidiaries, 
- Continuous improvement in the Group's governance, consistent with MiddleNext's Governance Code principles.
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16.6 Statutory auditors' report prepared in accordance with Article L.225-235 
of the French Commercial Code on the Report of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors with respect to the internal control procedures relating to the preparation
and processing of accounting and financial information
As statutory auditors for the company AKKA TECHNOLOGIES, and pursuant to the provisions of article L. 225-235 of the French 
Commercial Code, we present to you our report on the report prepared by the Chairman of your company in accordance with the 
provisions of article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code for the financial year ending 31 December 2012.
The Chairman is responsible for producing and submitting to the Board of Directors for approval a report detailing the internal control
and risk management procedures implemented within the company and providing the other information required by article L.225-37
of the French Commercial Code, particularly in relation to the corporate governance system.

We are responsible for:

•providing you with our observations on the information contained within the Chairman’s report concerning the internal control and 
risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information, and

•certifying that the report contains the other information required by article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, it being noted 
that we are not responsible for verifying the accuracy of the aforementioned information.

We have undertaken our work in accordance with the professional standards of practice applicable in France.

Information on the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of 
accounting and financial information.

Professional standards of practice require the implementation of measures designed to assess the accuracy of the information concer-
ning the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial 
information contained in the Chairman’s report. These measures include: 

•familiarisation with the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting 
and financial information underlying the information presented in the Chairman’s report as well as the existing documentation;

•familiarisation with the work that has enabled the preparation of this information and the existing documentation;
•determining whether any major internal control deficiencies relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial 

information that we have noted as part of our task are appropriately detailed in the Chairman’s report.

On the basis of this work, we have no observations to make on the information concerning the internal control and risk management
procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information contained in the report of the Chairman
of the Board of Directors, prepared in accordance with the provisions of article L.225-37 of the French Commercial Code.

Other information

We hereby certify that the report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors includes the other information required by article L. 225-
37 of the French Commercial Code.

Villeurbanne, 23 April 2013
Statutory Auditors

ORFIS Baker Tilly S.A. Deloitte & Associés
Jean-Louis FLECHE Xavier GRAZ
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17.1 Number of employees
17.1.1 Change in workforce numbers

The average workforce in 2012 was 9,645 employees, up 57.8% compared to the average workforce in 2011. Staff turnover was
14.9% in 2012 (15.9% in 2011).

The Group's consolidated workforce as at 31 December 2011 was 10,645 employees, an increase of 49.7% compared to the workforce
at the end of 2011. 

17.1.2 Enterprise culture and feeling of belonging
Since its creation, the Group has relied on strong values to ensure its growth: respect, ambition and courage. These three terms
represent the Group’s DNA.

This DNA relies above all on values that must be shared. They advocate the ability to listen, the respecting of differences and the
courage of conviction. They should drive healthy ambition.

These values enable cultural differences to be assessed and overcome, to ensure better mutual understanding. They are indispensable
for the business plan that the Group wishes to successfully pursue, particularly its desire for international expansion.

The Group culture is evident in terms of proximity, growth (guaranteed by internal promotion and training), involvement (participation
of employees in the AKKA challenge, recruitment evenings, co-optation, etc.) and sharing.

Employees’ talent is the Group’s main asset. The men and women who make it up are the main drivers of its values. Human Resources
are therefore at the heart of the strategy. The uniqueness of the Group also lies in its technical culture, a legacy of the Group’s founder
and current CEO. 

The Group's employees are all driven by the same passion for technology. Our in-house research centre, the AKKA RESEARCH, therefore
involves our consultants between projects, who are at the very heart of our R&D projects, and enables them to maintain the very
highest levels of motivation and performance.

So that the life of the Group embodies its values, AKKA Technologies is keen to develop a strong feeling of belonging in order to retain
the loyalty of its teams and attract future employees with promising talent. 

17 - EMPLOYEES

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Executive 7,165   4,359   3,898   

Other 2,480   1,753   1,705   

TOTAL 9,645   6,112   5,603   

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Non-billable staff 1,109   647   566   

Billable staff 8,536   5,465   5,037   

TOTAL 9,645   6,112   5,603   
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17.1.3 Recruitment policy
The AKKA Technologies Group numbers almost 11,000 people and recruited 1,260 employees in France in 2012. 

The Group’s sustained pace of growth is supported by a constant and significant increase in workforce.

With an innovative vision of recruitment that is suited to each type of profile, the Group continues to intensify its recruitment campaigns
and operations, including an increased presence at major events (recruitment fairs and forums), within top-tier European universities
and business schools (partnerships, interview simulations and conferences, etc.). The Group significantly increased its visibility on Web
2.0 in 2012 (Linkedin, viadeo, corporate FB page, etc.) disseminating information on events such as:

- Challenge AKKA (3 days of skiing, providing a pleasant, professional meeting environment) to enable recent graduates to obtain 
their first job,

- After work recruitment in Paris, Brussels and Toulouse to recruit all types of engineers,
- Segment- and/or sector-themed days to recruit experts,
- Organisation of interview simulation days at universities, etc.,
- A number of internal co-opting challenges, with more than 350 employees recruited in this way.

In 2013, the AKKA Group expects to recruit 3,000 staff including 1,700 in France. The profiles sought are 5 years’ higher education
with an international dimension in order to meet clients’ requirements in terms of cross-border projects.

17.1.4 Communications activities
The Group’s communications policy plays a major role in developing its image with its main target audiences: clients, employees, 
journalists, applicants and investors. 

The AKKA Technologies Group is keen to promote its communication initiatives. An increase in communications activities evidences its
dynamism and influence.

In 2012, AKKA put the spotlight on internal communication with the key aim of developing a sense of belonging in its staff and
retaining their loyalty. A new flagship project was launched internally: AKKA AWARDS which recognises engineers’ projects through
the award of trophies and prizes. Vital communications media such as AKKA WIRE, the Group’s in-house magazine and Technology
newsletter, and Success Stories maintain the information flow between the company and its employees.
As regards external communication, the priority in 2012 was to raise awareness of the Group’s new international dimension and high
level of expertise. This was supported by its presence at Trade Fairs and the organisation of events for clients and press conferences for
journalists.

2013 will see a new website devoted to the Group’s in-house Research Centre, as well as a large number of brochures covering each
segment of the company’s business. 

The strong presence of the AKKA Group on social networks and Web 2.0 demonstrates its desire and ability to adapt to new commu-
nication methods.

17.1.5 Training policy
Development of the skills of the Group’s employees is one of the keys to the company’s performance, which is why AKKA Technologies,
which puts prime importance on developing its teams, has establish AKKA Institute, the Group’s actual in-house university.

AKKA institute currently has several objectives:

- to promote the use of a development model based on an in-depth knowledge of the industrial sectors and technologies,
- to standardise the Group’s good practices with managerial teams,
- to offer employees real development opportunities,
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- to provide support to consultants’ technical development in their sector or in embarking on new sectors,
- to improve knowledge of methodologies and enable all employees to view their technical skills objectively, with degree programmes,
- to provide training for all staff.

AKKA Institute supports the Group’s men and women and enables them to respond to the changes in industries and skills, consistent
with the strategy and current and future challenges. In 2012, 1,600 staff received training (compared with 1,300 in 2011).

17.2 Equity interests and stock options of the management and executive bodies
See note 8.2.2 of the management report that appears in section 9.1 of this reference document.

17.3 Agreements providing for an employee share ownership scheme
17.3.1 Free shares
Between the years 2005 and 2011, several free share schemes were established for certain employees of the Group. The current 
acquisition scheme is described in note 4.11 of the consolidated financial statements presented in section 20.3 of this registration 
document. 

This scheme comes under the preferential treatment specified by the French Finance Act of 2004. An acquisition period of two to four
years starts from the allotment date. At the end of this period, the shares are definitively acquired by the employee, but the employee
must retain them for at least two further years before being able to sell them. 

It is specified, however, that the Board of Directors meeting of 5 March 2007, in accordance with the new provisions of article L. 225-
197-1 of the French Commercial Code, resulting from Law n°2006-1770 of 30 December 2006, decided that 20% of the free shares
to be allotted, to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) or the Managing Directors Designate,
should be retained as registered shares until the termination of their terms of office by each allottee. 

17.3.2 Employee investment scheme and employee savings scheme
In 2005, the AKKA Technologies Group established an Employee Savings Scheme (PEE), which was open to employees who had worked
for one of the French companies of the Group for at least 3 months. In 2010, 2011 ans 2012, an employer’s contribution of 300%
was allocated to employees for payments made into the AKKA Actionnariat Employee Investment Scheme (FCPE) (up to a limit of 
€ 300).

The employer’s contribution for voluntary payments was €344 thousand in 2010, €394 thousand in 2011 and €521 thousand in
2012.  These amounts were recorded directly under expenses.
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18.1 Distribution of share capital
Shareholders in the company as at 28 March 2012

The management report in section 9.1 of this Registration Document contains details of changes in the Group’s shareholders over the
last 3 years. 

As at 28 March 2013, the RICCI family group held 7,740,261 shares in the company AKKA Technologies (i.e. 56.0% of the share capital
shares and 66.2% of the voting rights) of which:

- 4,484,818 were held directly,
- 2,515,571 were held indirectly through the company BMC Management and Investment controlled by Maurice RICCI, 
- 739,872 were held indirectly through the company IDEACTIVE EVENTS in which Maurice RICCI and Jean-Franck RICCI own 100% of 

the shares.

Shareholders’ agreements

No shareholders’ agreements relating to AKKA Technologies existed as at the date of filing of this Registration Document. 

18.2 Existence of different voting rights
Each share gives entitlement to a share of the profits, company assets and surplus on liquidation proportional to the share of the
equity it represents.

It also gives entitlement to vote and to representation at the General Meetings, and entitlement to be informed on the progress of the
company and to receive certain company documents at the times and on the terms provided by law and by the articles of association.

The setting up of a double voting right allotted to all fully paid up shares registered for at least three years as registered shares in the
name of the same shareholder as at 31 December of the year immediately past was decided by the Combined General Meeting of 23
June 2003. The Combined General Meeting of 28 February 2005 brought the minimum period for registration as registered shares,
which enables this double voting right to be acquired, from three years to four years.

In the case of a capital increase by capitalisation of reserves, profits or premiums over par, the double voting right will be granted, 
on issue, to the new shares allotted to a shareholder on the basis of existing shares in respect of which he already enjoys this double
voting right.

18 - MAIN SHAREHOLDERS

Number of shares % Voting rights %

RICCI FAMILY 7,740,261 56.0% 12,645,819 66.2%

TREASURY SHARES 84,533 0.6% - 0.0%

EXECUTIVES 430,815 3.1% 781,255 4.1%

FIDELITY MANAGEMENT RESEARCH LLC (1) 714,256 5.2% 714,256 3.7%

EMPLOYEES 216,546 1.6% 280,256 1.5%

Public 4,640,478 33.6% 4,685,003 24.5%

TOTAL 13,826,889 100% 19,106,589 100%

(1) Based on the delaration of exceeding the threshold made on 17 December 2012
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Any shares converted to bearer shares or subject to a transfer of title lose this double voting right. Transfer by inheritance, by liquidation
of common property between spouses or by gift inter vivos in favour of a spouse or relative entitled to inherit does not, however,
cause loss of the acquired right or interruption to the four-year period.

Shareholders shall be entitled to waive their double voting right individually, temporarily or permanently. This waiver shall not be 
enforceable with respect to the company or the other shareholders unless notified to the company by registered letter with advice of
receipt at least three working days before the date of the Meeting in respect of which the shareholder intends to waive his double
voting right.

18.3 Holding in or control of the Group, which if implemented, could lead at a later
date to a change in control 
The company AKKA Technologies is controlled by the RICCI family group. No specific steps have been taken to ensure that control is
not abused. 

18.4 Agreement known by the issuer which if implemented, could lead at a later
date to a change in control 
As far as AKKA Technologies is aware, no agreement has been concluded which, if implemented, could lead to a change in control of
the company. 
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Details of transactions with related parties are contained in the auditors’ special reports in section 20.5.5 and in the consolidated 
financial statements in section 20.3.6 (notes 8.1 and 8.2).

19 - TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
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20.1 Historical financial information
Pursuant to Article 28 of Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004, the following information is included by reference in this Registration 
Document:

•The 2011 consolidated and annual financial statements and corresponding auditors’ reports contained in the 2010 Registration 
Document filed on 26 April 2012 under number D12-0416.

•The 2010 consolidated and annual financial statements and corresponding auditors’ reports contained in the 2010 Registration 
Document filed on 22 April 2011 under number D11-0356.

20.2 Pro forma financial information
The consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2012 (section 20.3.6 below) contain in note 1.6.7 the pro-forma data 
relating to the integration of the company MBtech, acquired in April 2012.

20 - FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER’S 
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND EARNINGS
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20.3 Consolidated financial statements for 2012 
20.3.1 Consolidated profit and loss statement for the 2012 financial year

20.3.2 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the 2012 financial year
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PROFIT AND LOSS 
in thousands of euros Notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Revenue 3-1 827,286 474,115 

Production recognised in inventories 131 (101)

External expenses 3-2 (225,244) (105,054)

Taxes and duties (9,163) (6,364)

Staff costs 3-3 (531,153) (319,477)

Net depreciations and provisions 3-4 (11,497) (599)

Other current expenses (2,225) (2,369)

Other current income 3-5 14,166 2,831 

Earnings of companies consolidated by the equity method 4-4 683 -

PROFIT FROM BUSINESS OPERATIONS 62,984 42,982 

Free shares and stock options (163) (283)

CURRENT OPERATING PROFIT 62,821 42,699 

Other non-current income and expenses 3-7 (2,198) -

OPERATING PROFIT 60,623 42,699 

Income from cash and cash equivalents 3-8 467 908 

Cost of gross financial  debts 3-8 (7,841) (4,846)

COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT (7,374) (3,937)

Other financial income and expenses 938 (475)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 54,187 38,287 

Tax expense 3-9 (12,838) (11,402)

NET CONSOLIDATED PROFIT 41,349 26,885 

Minority interests (968) -

GROUP SHARE OF NET PROFIT 40,381 26,885 

Earnings per share € 3.10 € 2.34
Diluted earnings per share € 3.09 € 2.30
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation 13,017,772   11,484,199   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares more potential dilutive shares 13,048,473   11,684,462   

STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

CONSOLIDATED NET PROFIT 41,350 26,885 

Gains and losses on financial hedging instruments (258) (19)

Tax effect 118 -

Net gains and losses on financial hedging instrument (140) (19)

Actuarial gains and loses on pension commitments (1,533) -

Tax effect 474 -

Net actuarial gains and losses on pension commitments (1,059) -

Currency translation differences (221) 23 

CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 39,929 26,890 

Minority interests 726 -

Group share 39,204 26,890 
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20.3.3 Consolidated balance sheet  for the 2012 financial year
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ASSETS in thousands of euros Notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Goodwill 4-1 104,022 94,119

Intangible fixed assets 4-3 8,566 1,417

Tangible fixed assets 4-3 52,144 11,636

Non-current financial assets 4-5 16,199 14,650

Securities consolidated by the equity method 4-4 1,955 -

Other non-current assets 4-6 35,134 22,794

Deferred tax assets 3-9-3 13,262 12,822

Non-current assets 231,282 157,438

Inventories and work in progress 2,513 1,672

Trade receivables and associated accounts 4-7 and 4-9 244,443 101,821

Other accounts receivable 4-8 and 4-9 62,784 53,585

Cash and cash equivalents 4-10 70,931 79,104

Current assets 380,672 236,182

TOTAL ASSETS 611,953 393,620

LIABILITIES in thousands of euros Notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Capital 4-11 21,155 18,612

Premiums associated with share capital 4-11 8,998 7,850

Consolidated reserves 84,742 67,708

Profit for the year 40,382 26,885

Group share of shareholders’ equity 155,277 121,055

Minority interests 21,297 (4)

Shareholders’ equity 176,973 121,052

Non-current provisions 4-12 14,577 4,578

Non-current financial liabilities 4-13 57,196 7,920

Restructured debt > 1 year 4-14 26,634 38,338

Deferred tax liabilities 3-9-3 669 371

Non-current liabilities 99,075 51,207

Current provisions 4-12 13,770 9,698

Current financial liabilities 4-13 32,576 7,830

Restructured debt < 1 year 4-14 6,892 5,823

Trade payables 65,273 36,109

Statement – tax on profits 1,263 1,013

Tax and social security contribution liabilities excluding corporation tax 4-15 177,380 134,275

Other liabilities 4-16 38,751 26,613

Current liabilities 335,905 221,361

TOTAL LIABILITIES 611,953 393,620
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  20.3.4 Consolidated cash flows statement for the 2012 financial year

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
in thousands of euros Notes 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Consolidated net profit 41,349 26,885 

Reintegration of expense (+) or elimination of income (-) associated with depreciation and 
impairment (excluding WCR) 3-4 and 3-5 297 664 

Reintegration of losses (+) or elimination of profitfs (-) associated with consolidation by 
the equity method 4-4 (683) -

Dividends received from companies consolidated by the equity method 4-4 1,172 -

Reintegration of tax expense (+) or elimination of calculated income (-) (2) 3-9-2 12,838 11,402 

Reintegration of calculated expense (+) or elimination of income (-) associated with IFRS standards (1) (2,113) 264 

Reintegration of expense (+) or elimination of income (-) from net disposals 169 198 

Reintegration of expense (+) or elimination of income (-) not having ann impact on cash flow (644) (774)

Reintegration of expense (+) or elimination of income (-) associated with net financial debt 3-8 7,374 3,671 

Cash generated from operations before cost of net financial debt and tax 59,759 42,309 

Tax paid (2) (9,764) (8,134)

Change in working capital requirement 5-2 (58,000) 1,921 

Net cash flow associated with business operations (8,005) 36,096 

Acquisitions of fixed assets 4-3 (20,254) (4,369)

Disposals of fixed assets 468 801 

Change in financial fixed assets (989) (3,094)

Income from divested operations - 474 

Impact of changes in consolidation scope 5-3 (41,085) (11,962)

Net cash flow associated with investment transactions (61,860) (18,150)

Dividends paid to shareholders in the parent company 5-4 (8,684) (7,618)

Capital increase through cash 4-11 3,691 1,799 

Cash inflows associated with new loans 4-13 106,499 131 

Repayment of loans 4-13 and 4-14 (36,431) (12,886)

Net financial interest received 467 487 

Net financial interest paid (3,819) (2,150)

Net cash flow associated with financial transactions 61,723 (20,237)

Impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (31) 31 

CHANGE IN CASH FLOW (8,173) (2,260)

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the start of the year 5-1 79,104 81,364 

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at as year end 5-1 70,931 79,104 

CHANGE IN CASH FLOW (8,173) (2,260)

(1) Calculated expenses associated with IFRS standards comprise the valuation of stock options and free shares (IFRS 2)
(2) The CVAE (French local business tax) is added to the line "Reintegration of tax expense (+) or elimination of tax income (-)* and deducted from the line "Tax 2012. For accounting purposes, 

this revised treatment has also been applied to the December 2011 financial statements in respect of an amount of €5,653 thousand 
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20.3.5 Consolidated statement of changes in equity the 2012 financial year

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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20.3.6 Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the 2012 financial year
These notes provide supplementary information on the consolidated balance sheet amounting to a total of €611,953 thousand and
the consolidated profit and loss statement which shows a Group share of comprehensive income of €39,204 thousand.

These items of information are only presented where they are of significance.

Unless otherwise stated, all figures are in thousand euro. 

The financial statements were approved by the meeting of the Board of Directors of the AKKA Technologies Group held on 28 March
2013.

Business operations:

AKKA Technologies, a European Engineering and Technology Consultancy Group, supports major industrial and service sector account
throughout the various phases of their projects, from R&D and design studies to industrialisation.

With its expertise in complementary sectors, AKKA Technologies brings real added value to its clients in all sectors: aeronautics, 
automotive, space/defence, consumer electronics, telecommunications, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, the iron and steel industry, energy,
rail, marine, service sector, 
Its leadership in the Automotive and Aeronautics sectors in Germany and France, the mobility of its teams and its international 
positioning enable AKKA Technologies to work globally on projects at the cutting edge of technology. 

The AKKA Technologies Group has almost 11,000 employees and is present in 20 countries: Germany, Belgium, Canada, U.A.E., Spain,
France, Hungary, Italy, India, Morocco, Netherlands, Czech Republic, Romania, United Kingdom, Russia, Switzerland, Tunisia, Turkey
and USA. AKKA is focusing on building a 1 billion euro group, more than 50% of which is generated outside France.

The company’s registered office is at 9-11 rue Montalivet, 75008 Paris.

AKKA Technologies is listed on EuronextTM Paris – Compartment B – Code ISIN: FR0004180537.
Indices CAC® Small, CAC® Mid & Small, CAC® All-Tradable, CAC® All-Share

Key events:

2012 was marked by: 

⇨ The acquisition of the German company MBtech on 12 April 2012. This sub-Group was included in the consolidation scope with 
effect from 1 April 2012 (cf. note 1.5 below). Pro forma financial information enabling an assessment of the impact of MBtech 
over 12 months is contained in note 1..6.7,

⇨ The taking out of a loan to finance the acquisition of MBtech, the repayment of the current account debt to DAIMLER, the working 
capital requirement and the capital expenditure of the MBtech sub-Group (cf. note 4.13 below),

⇨ Reorganisation of the Group into 3 segments: France, Germany and the Rest of the World.

2011 was marked by: 

⇨ The acquisition of the AEROCONSEIL Group at the end of September 2011. This Group is consolidated from October 2011,
⇨ The signing of the acquisition protocol for the Germany company MBtech in December.

Note 1 – Consolidation scope and methods

Note 1.1 – Reference manual

The consolidated financial statements of the AKKA Technologies Group have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS standards
and interpretations published by the IASB (International Accounting Standards Board) and adopted by the European Union as at the
year-end date.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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This reference manual is available on the European Commission website at the following address:
http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accounting/ias/index_fr.htm.

Notes 1.1.1 – Standards, amendments and new interpretations applied by the Group from 1 January 2012

The new standards, amendments and interpretations that apply as mandatory from 1 January 2012 have no significant effect on 
the consolidated financial statements for the AKKA Technologies Group as at 31 December 2012. They concern: IFRS 7 amended 
“Disclosures – transfers of financial assets”. 

The Group has decided to apply IAS 19 revised “Employee benefits” in advance with effect from 1 January 2012 (cf. note 2.16). 
The items shown in the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2011 associated with pension commitments (the
provision for pension commitments, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income) are not affected by this change in method insofar
as the Group recognised all actuarial differences in net profit.
In accordance with IAS 8, the advance application of IAS 19 revised has not lead the Group to recognise retrospectively in the financial
statements for the year ended on 31 December 2012 another item of comprehensive income in respect of the actuarial differences
existing as at 31 December 2011, given that these were not significant.

Notes 1.1.2 – Standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the IASB but not yet applied by the Group as at 31 
December 2012

The Group has not applied in advance any of the new standards and amendments detailed below, the application of which is not
mandatory as at 1 January 2012.

Standards regarding consolidation methods:

- IAS 12 amended "Recovery of underlying assets",
- IFRS 1 “Government loans”,
- IFRS 7 amended “Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities”,
- IAS 1 amended "Presenting other elements of comprehensive income",
- IFRS 13 "Fair value measurement",
- IFRS 10 "Consolidated financial statements",
- IFRS 11 "Joint agreements",
- IFRS 12 "Disclosure of interests in other entities",
- IAS 27 amended "Individual financial statements",
- IAS 28 amended "Investments in associates and joint ventures",
- IAS32 “Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities”.

AKKA Technologies is currently carrying out an analysis of the impacts and practical consequences of applying these standards and
amendments.

Note 1.2 – Management estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS standards requires the use of estimates and formu-
lation of assumptions, which have an impact on the financial statements. The latter are made on the basis of the information available
at the time. Estimates may be revised if the circumstances on which they were based change. Actual profit may thus be different from
the initial estimate.

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been prepared taking into account the current macroeconomic situation and
on the basis of market financial parameters available on the closing date. The effects of this situation have been taken into account,
where applicable, particularly in the valuation of assets such as trade receivables. In the case of longer term assets, such as intangible
assets (goodwill), it is assumed that the situation would be limited in duration. The value of these assets is assessed each financial year
on the basis of long-term economic prospects and on the basis of the Group Management’s best assessment against the background
of a limited ability to predict future cash flows.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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The use of estimates affected the following information in particular: 

⇨ the assumptions used for the asset impairment tests (notes 2.10 and 4.2),
⇨ valuation of the profit on the state of progress of contracts (notes 2.1 and 3.1),
⇨ valuation of provisions and pension commitments (notes 2.16 and 4.12),
⇨ estimate of the projects eligible for research tax credits (notes 2.22 and 3.6).

The Group did not identify any major change during the year in the level of uncertainty associated with these estimates and assumptions,
with the exception of the discount rate used to estimate pension commitments: in fact the volatility of the rates is very large, the 
risk-free rates used reduced substantially in 2012, despite a difficult economic and financial environment, to reach a historically low
level. This sharp decrease resulted in a significant increase in pension and similar commitments (cf. note 2.16).

Note 1.3 – Consolidation methods

Companies in which the Group exercises sole control directly or indirectly are consolidated by the full consolidation method.

Companies in which the Group exercises a significant influence directly or indirectly, in particular owing to the holding of equity interests
representing at least 20% of the voting rights, are consolidated by the equity consolidation method.
Where an entity consolidated by the equity method in involved in achievement of the Group’s strategic and operational targets, the
share of profit from companies consolidated by the equity method is recognised in operating profit.

Companies in which the Group exercises joint control directly or indirectly are consolidated by the proportional consolidation method. 

In the case of the 2011 financial year, no Group subsidiary was consolidated by the equity or proportional consolidation methods.

In the case of the 2012 financial year, one Group company (APS) was consolidated by the equity method and no company was 
consolidated by proportional consolidation method.

Note 1.4 – Date of closure of the financial statements

All the financial statements of the companies included in the consolidation scope have a closing date of 31 December 2012.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012
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Note 1.5 – Consolidation scope

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Companies % 
control

% 
interest

Consolidation 
method (1)

Country in which 
the company is based

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SA - - CE France

AEROCONSEIL PACIFIC SAS 100% 100% FC French Polynesia

AEROCONSEIL SAS 100% 100% FC France

AEROCONSEIL UK LTD 100% 100% FC Great Britain

AKKA AEROCONSEIL ESPANA SL 100% 100% FC Spain

AKKA BENELUX SA 100% 100% FC Belgium

AKKA DEUTSCHLAND Gmbh 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA DEVELOPMENT SARL 100% 100% FC Luxembourg

AKKA DEVELOPMENT UK Ltd 80% 80% FC Great Britain

AKKA GMBH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA GROUPE AMERIQUE DU NORD INC 100% 100% FC Canada

AKKA I&S SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INFORMATIQUE ET SYSTEMES SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INGENIERIE DOCUMENTAIRE SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INGENIERIE PROCESS SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INGENIERIE PRODUIT SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA ITALIA SRL 100% 100% FC Italy

AKKA MANAGER SARL 100% 100% FC France

AKKA MIDDLE EAST FZCO 100% 100% FC Dubai

AKKA OCTOGON GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA ROMSERV SRL 100% 100% FC Romania

AKKA SERVICES SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA SWITZERLAND SA 100% 100% FC Switzerland

APS-TECHNOLOGY GmbH ANTRIEBSPRUFFELD STUTTGART 30% 19.5% EM Germany

ATP AUTOMOTIVE TESTING PAPENBURG GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

CASCIOPE SAS 100% 100% FC France

CRDTA SAS 100% 100% FC France

EKIS FRANCE SAS 100% 100% FC France

EKIS SAS 100% 100% FC France

ERDIMAT SAS 99.97% 99.97% FC France

GEPILOG SAS 100% 100% FC France

MB SIM TECHNOLOGY Co. Ltd. 100% 65% FC China

MBTECH BOHEMIA s.r.o. 100% 65% FC Czech Republic

MBTECH CONSULTING GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

MBTECH EMC GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

MBTECH GROUP GmbH & Co. KGaA 65% 65% FC Germany

MBTECH HUNGARY Mérnöki es Tanacsado Kft 100% 65% FC Hungary

MBTECH MUHENDISLIK VE DANISMANLIK Limited Sirketi 100% 65% FC Turkey

MBTECH NORTH AMERICA Inc. 100% 65% FC USA

MBTECH VERWALTUNGS - GmbH 65% 65% FC Germany

MB-TECHNOLOGY NA LLC. 100% 65% FC USA

PROCEDA MODELBAU GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

REAL FUSIO SAS 100% 100% FC France

SYSTEM DESIGN GmbH 100% 65% FC Germany

(1) CE = Consolidating Entity; FC = Full Consolidation; EM = Equity Method
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Note 1.6 – Comparability of the financial statements

Note 1.6.1 – Entries into the consolidation scope in the 2012 financial year

MBtech Group – Acquisition of 65% of the shares

On 12 April 2012, AKKA Technologies acquired 65% of the shares in the company MBtech Group GmbH & Co. KGaA and the company
MBtech Verwaltungs GmbH.

This acquisition strengthens the sector and client balance in the aeronautics and automotive sectors and gives the Group an international
platform, with firm bases in Europe’s two most dynamic markets, France and Germany.
The MBtech Group comprises 17 companies, 14 of which were consolidated within the AKKA Group as at the end of December 2012.
The other subsidiaries are not significant.

In view of the date on which the MBtech Group was taken over, nine months of operations have been included in the AKKA Technologies
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The assets and liabilities valued at fair value, taken over when these companies were consolidated amounted to €40,217 thousand.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Company Country Consolidation 
method (1)

APS-TECHNOLOGY GmbH ANTRIEBSPRUFFELD STUTTGART Germany EM

ATP AUTOMOTIVE TESTING PAPENBURG GmbH Germany FC

MBTECH VERWALTUNGS - GmbH Germany FC

MBTECH GROUP GmbH & Co. KGaA Germany FC

MBTECH EMC GmbH Germany FC

MBTECH CONSULTING GmbH Germany FC

MBTECH BOHEMIA s.r.o. Czech republic FC

MB SIM TECHNOLOGY Co. Ltd. China FC

MBTECH HUNGARY Mérnöki es Tanacsado Kft Hungary FC

MBTECH POLSKA Sp.z.o.o. Poland NC

MBTECH MUHENDISLIK VE DANISMANLIK Limited Sirketi Turkey FC

MBTECH NORTH AMERICA Inc. United States FC

MB-TECHNOLOGY NA LLC. United States FC

PROCEDA MODELBAU GmbH Germany FC

RMC RELIABILITY TECHNOLOGY GmbH Germany NC

SYSTEM DESIGN France SARL France NC

SYSTEM DESIGN GmbH Germany FC

(1) FC = Full Consolidation / EM = Equity Method / NC = Non Consolidated

TOTAL MBtech
Group companies

Elimination 
of shares

Deferred 
taxes

Discounting of debts
and accounts receivable

Valuation at
fair value

Net consolidated
position

Assets 198,562 (36,703) 1,535 - 2,301 165,695

Liabilities 113,543 429 162 - (9,627) 104,507

Net consolidated corporate position 85,019 (37,132) 1,373 - 11,928 61,188

Minority interests (29,757) 12,405 (481) - (3,140) (20,971)

Group share of net position 55,262 (24,727) 892 - 8,789 40,217
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AKKA Middle East

This company, founded in August 2010, was outside the consolidation scope until the end of 2011. It is 100% owned by the AKKA
Technologies Group. AKKA Middle East is significant for the first time since its foundations.
It was, therefore, included in the consolidation scope in 2012 and the cumulative earnings since its foundation (-€126 thousand)
were recognised in the consolidated profit and loss.

Note 1.6.2 – Entries into the consolidation scope in the 2011 financial year

AEROCONSEIL Group
On 22 September 2011, AKKA Technologies acquired 100% of the shares in the company AEROCONSEIL SAS, located in Toulouse.
This company had 8 subsidiaries at the time of acquisition:

- AEROCONSEIL Canada;
- AEROCONSEIL Deutschland;
- AEROCONSEIL Iberica;
- AEROCONSEIL Netherland;
- AEROCONSEIL Pacific;
- AEROCONSEIL Tunisie;
- AEROCONSEIL UK;
- WEBSOURD.

Six companies have been included in the consolidation scope since 1 October 2011, namely: AEROCONSEIL SAS, AEROCONSEIL Canada,
AEROCONSEIL Deutschland, AEROCONSEIL Iberica, AEROCONSEIL Pacific and AEROCONSEIL UK. The other subsidiaries are either not
significant or are below the 20%-holding threshold.

The assets and liabilities, taken over on consolidation of these companies and valued at fair value, amount to €35,419 thousand.

In view of the date of entry into the consolidation scope, only 3 months of operations were included in the AKKA Technologies Group
financial statements as at 31 December 2011. 

Note 1.6.3 – Acquisition price of the companies first included in the consolidation scope in 2011 and in 2012 

Acquisition prices paid out in 2012 amounted to €47,954 thousand as against €30,402 thousand in 2011. €9,507 thousand remained
to be paid out in respect of acquisitions after 2012. Details of goodwill and earn-outs are contained in note 4.1.

Note 1.6.4 – Change in equity interest percentages

No change in equity interest percentage occurred in the 2012 financial year.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

TOTAL 
AEROCONSEIL

Group companies

Elimination 
of shares

Deferred 
taxes

Discounting of 
accounts payable 

and receivable

Valuation of 
assets at fair

value

Consolidated 
net position

Assets 86,415 (1,742) 4,331 - (2,331) 86,673

Liabilities 46,804 - - - 4,450 51,254

Net consolidated corporate position 39,612 (1,742) 4,331 - (6,781) 35,420 

Minority interests (1) - - - - (1)

Group share of net position 39,611 (1,742) 4,331 - (6,781) 35,419 
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Note 1.6.5 – Exits from the consolidation scope

The company SCI Les Favières was put into liquidation at the end of October 2012 and is no longer included in the consolidation scope
at the end of December 2012. 

Note 1.6.6 – Other events affecting the consolidation scope

In 2012, several mergers occurred within the Group. These transactions are summarised in the table below: 

As AKKA Gestion, AEROCONSEIL Deutschland and AKKA Spain Technologies were 100% fully consolidated prior to the merger, 
this transaction had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the AKKA Technologies Group for the 2012 financial year.

The company AKKA Development Spain was 100% owned by the AKKA Technologies Group but had never been included in the conso-
lidation scope as its operations were not significant. This company merged with AEROCONSEIL Iberica on 1 January 2012. The cumu-
lative earnings since its foundation (-€2 thousand) were recognised in the profit and loss for the year. 

The Canadian company AKKA Group North America was founded in September 2010 and was 100% owned by the AKKA Technologies
Group. It was never consolidated insofar as its operations were not significant. This company merged with AEROCONSEIL Canada in
2012. The cumulative earnings since its foundation (-€58 thousand) were recognised in the profit and loss for the year.

Note 1.6.7 – Pro forma financial information

When applying the General Regulation of the AMF (French Financial Services Regulator), pro forma financial information must be 
published insofar as the impact of a group of companies is significant: that is, if the change in consolidation scope has an impact on
the accounts greater than 25%.

This impact is measured by the AKKA Technologies Group from 3 indicators: 

⇨ Total balance sheet
⇨ Revenue
⇨ Net profit

Pro forma financial information must be published if the impact of the change in consolidation scope on the Group's accounts reaches
the 25% threshold in one of these indicators.

In the case of the 2011 financial year, the acquisition of AEROCONSEIL did not require pro forma information to be drawn up. However,
it has been decided to provide some pro forma information. This information is contained in the 2011 Registration Document, section
20.3 2011 Consolidated Financial Statements, note 1.6.7 – Pro forma financial information. 

In the case of the 2012 financial year, the acquisition of the MBtech sub-group requires pro forma information to be drawn up. This
pro forma information is intended to show the effect of the acquisition of 65% of the shares in the company MBtech Group GmbH &
Co. KGaA and the company MBtech Verwaltungs GmbH and their main subsidiaries on the AKKA Technologies Group's consolidated
financial statements, taking the acquisition date for the shares as 1 January 2012. 

The information shown has a value that is purely illustrative and deals with a hypothetical situation which, by nature, does not represent
the financial position or the real results of the Group.
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Company merged Merging company

AEC DEUTSCHLAND AKKA OCTOGON

AKKA GESTION AKKA SERVICES

AKKA SPAIN TECHNOLOGIES AKKA AEROCONSEIL ESPANA (Ex-AEC IBERICA)

AKKA DEVELOPMENT SPAIN AKKA AEROCONSEIL ESPANA (Ex-AEC IBERICA)

AKKA GROUP NORTH AMERICA AKKA GROUPE AMERIQUE DU NORD (ex-AEC CANADA)
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Given the major changes that have occurred in the MBtech sub-group following the takeover by the AKKA Group, the information
given below must not be used to build future projections as it does not give information on the Group's recurring activity. 

If the MBtech sub-group had actually been acquired by AKKA Technologies on 1 January 2012, the Group's Profit & Loss could have
been very different from the pro forma data given below. 

Scope

The companies used within the scope of the pro forma information are the same as those used in the consolidated financial statements
for 2012:

Procedure for drawing up the pro forma information

The pro forma financial information was drawn up on the basis of the Group’s historic 2012 consolidated financial statements, prepared
in accordance with the IFRS standards adopted by the EU.

Given the date of the takeover, the 2012 historic consolidated financial statements published by the AKKA Technologies Group includes
the activities of the consolidated companies of the MBtech sub-group for 9 months, i.e. from 1 April 2012, whereas the pro forma 
information includes 12 months of operations (as if the shares had been bought on 1 January 2012).  

The pro forma data was produced in three phases:

⇨ Consolidation of the sub-group for the period from 1 January to 31 March 2012 (on the basis of statutory data after elimination 
of the transactions carried out between the companies and taking account of IFRS restatements),

⇨ Inclusion of the consolidated Profit & Loss of the MBtech sub-group thus obtained in the AKKA Technologies Group’s consolidated 
financial statements,

⇨ Recording of pro forma adjustments.

These three phases were carried out by using the same accounting policies as those used when consolidating the accounts of the
AKKA Technologies Group, in accordance with IFRS standards and interpretations published by the IASB (International Accounting
Standards Board) and approved by the European Union at the year-end date.
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Company Country Consolidation 
method (1)

APS-TECHNOLOGY GmbH ANTRIEBSPRUFFELD STUTTGART Germany EM

ATP AUTOMOTIVE TESTING PAPENBURG GmbH Germany FC

MBTECH VERWALTUNGS - GmbH Germany FC

MBTECH GROUP GmbH & Co. KGaA Germany FC

MBTECH EMC GmbH Germany FC

MBTECH CONSULTING GmbH Germany FC

MBTECH BOHEMIA s.r.o. Czech republic FC

MB SIM TECHNOLOGY Co. Ltd. China FC

MBTECH HUNGARY Mérnöki es Tanacsado Kft Hungary FC

MBTECH POLSKA Sp.z.o.o. Poland NC

MBTECH MUHENDISLIK VE DANISMANLIK Limited Sirketi Turkey FC

MBTECH NORTH AMERICA Inc. United States FC

MB-TECHNOLOGY NA LLC. United States FC

PROCEDA MODELBAU GmbH Germany FC

RMC RELIABILITY TECHNOLOGY GmbH Germany NC

SYSTEM DESIGN France SARL France NC

SYSTEM DESIGN GmbH Germany FC

(1) FC = Full Consolidation / EM = Equity Method / NC = Non Consolidated
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The aim of the pro forma adjustments is to eliminate the income and expenses accounted for in 2012 but which may be considered
as non-recurring and which therefore could distort the Profit & Loss's comparability. 

If the acquisition of the MBtech sub-group had been made on 1 January 2012, the acquisition price could have been different from
the price paid at the end of March 2012. As more accurate data is not available to produce the pro forma financial information, it has
been considered, by agreement, that the purchase price for the MBtech sub-group paid in April 2011 would have been the same 
on 1 January 2012.

The cash mobilised to finance the transaction has been taken into account as if it had been mobilised at the start of the year, by
reporting an interest expense relating to the period from 1 January to 31 March 2012. The impact of this expense is reported net of
corporation tax. 

Pro forma information

The transition from the Group share of consolidated net profit to pro forma Group share of net profit breaks down as follows:

Note 1.7 – Conversion of the financial statements of the subsidiaries

The Group’s operating currency is the euro.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries were converted to euro using the closing rate in the case of balance sheet items other than
the equity, the average rate for the year in the case of the profit and loss statement and the historic rate for the components of the
equity other than the retained profit. 

The differences resulting from the conversion of the financial statements of the subsidiaries were recorded under a separate heading
in the statement of changes in equity, "translation adjustments"; movements in the year are shown on a separate line in other items of
comprehensive income.
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In thousands of euros 31/12/2012 
consolidated

Contribution of 
MBtech sub-group

1 st quarter

Pro forma 
adjustments

31/12/2012 
pro forma

Revenue 827,286 97,699 - 924,985 

PROFIT FROM BUSINESS OPERATIONS 62,984 3,042 - 66,026 

CURRENT OPERATING PROFIT 62,821 3,042 - 65,863 

OPERATING PROFIT 60,623 3,042 - 63,665 

COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT (7,374) 45 (479) (7,807)

Other financial income and expenses 938 - - 938 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 54,187 3,088 (479) 56,796 

Tax expense (12,838) (847) 132 (13,553)

NET CONSOLIDATED PROFIT 41,349 2,241 (346) 43,243 

Minority interests (968) (688) - (1,656)

Group share of net profit 40,381 1,553 (346) 41,588 

Amounts in thousands of euros Pro forma adjustments

Contribution of MBtech sub-group 1st quarter 1,553

Financial costs corresponding to the financing of the acquisition price (479)

Corresponding tax expense 132

Pro forma adjustments as at 31 December 2012 1,207
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Note 1.8 – Intra-Group transactions

Transactions between Group companies (purchases, sales, dividends, accounts receivable, accounts payable, provisions, results of 
internal transfers, etc.) are eliminated in full for fully consolidated companies.

Note 2 – Accounting policies and methods

Note 2.1 – Method of recognition of profit from contracts

The revenue and margin are established based on the individual technical status of each contract. Services are valued on the basis of
work completed, taking into account an estimate of the amount remaining in order to fulfil the contract. 

Where work completed is greater than the invoices issued, the difference is recognised in “invoices to be issued” on the assets side of
the balance sheet under the heading “trade receivables and other associated accounts”. In the opposite case, where the amount 
invoiced is greater than the work completed, the difference is recognised in “unearned income” on the liabilities side of the balance
sheet under the heading “other debts”.

In the case of fixed-price contracts, where the work completed plus the amount remaining in order to fulfil the contract is greater than
the total revenue from the contract, the excess amount is recognised in “provision for losses on contracts” on the liabilities side of the
balance sheet under the heading “current provisions”.

In the case of certain fixed-price contracts, where the client requests work not included in the initial order, if the company is certain to
earn income therefrom, the invoices to be drawn up are recognised on the basis of the work completed, provided that the client 
recognises that the work was carried out in addition to the services which are the subject matter of the contract. As this income cannot
be estimated with certainty, the revenue is recognised on the basis of the production cost.

In accordance with IAS 18, the re-invoicing of expenses at cost price is recognised less the corresponding expenses.

Note 2.2 – Research and development costs

Research costs are recognised as expenses.

Under IAS 38, development costs are to be recognised as assets if, and only if, the projects satisfy the following conditions:

⇨ the project is clearly identified and the costs of the project can be reliably assessed,
⇨ the technical feasibility of the project is demonstrated,
⇨ the Group intends to complete its project and to use or sell the results,
⇨ the financial and technical resources are available to complete the development and to use or sell the asset,
⇨ it is probable that future financial benefits will accrue to the Group.

Note 2.3 – Share-based payments

IFRS 2 defines the methods of valuing and recognising share-based payments. Stock option plans and free share schemes are regarded
as benefits allotted by the Group to the beneficiaries. On this basis, the benefit is valued at the fair value of the equity instruments 
allotted on the date of allotment. It generates the recognition of an expense spread over the period of acquisition of the rights offset
against an increase in equity, taking into account the probabilities of staff turnover. 

In accordance with the option chosen in the context of transition to the IFRS standards, the restatement applies only, and in totality,
to agreements relating to share-based payments made in the form of equity instruments allotted after 7 November 2002 and acquired
after 1 January 2005.
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At the end of the acquisition period, the amount of the cumulative benefits recognised is held as equity in the case of the part of the
equity actually acquired, whether or not the options are actually exercised.

The fair value of the stock option plans is determined using the Black & Scholes valuation model.

Free shares allotted are subject to certain restrictions on their sale or transfer and the condition that the employee is in Group service
at the end of the acquisition period. The fair value of the benefit allotted takes into account various parameters such as the Group
staff turnover and the prohibition on sale of the shares during the acquisition period.

Note 2.4 – Other non-current income and expense

The heading "other non-current income and expense" covers extraordinary, abnormal, infrequent and substantial income and expenses,
such as acquisition fees.

Note 2.5 – Tax expense

Note 2.5.1 – Income tax

The tax payable represents the amounts paid or still to be paid to the tax authorities for the year, based on the rules and rates applicable
in the various countries.

Deferred taxes are recognised on the differences between the carrying values of the assets and liabilities items and their values for tax
purposes pursuant to IAS 12, with the exception of differences associated with goodwill and with the equity interests in subsidiaries.
They arise, therefore, mainly from the following:

- difference in time between recognition in the financial statements and the tax deductibility of certain expenses,
- restatement of provisions of a tax nature,
- adjustments made between financial statements prepared according to local policies and financial statements prepared in accordance 

with IFRS standards (e.g. restatement of property which is the subject of a fixed or movable property financial lease).

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates adopted or close to being adopted on the closing
date. Changes in the rates and bases of deferred taxes are recognised in profit where they affect an item recognised in profit, or in
equity if the item on which the tax is levied was recorded in equity. 

Deferred tax assets are only recognised if they are likely to be recovered. In assessing its capacity to recover such deferred taxes, 
the Group takes into account the following:

- future profit forecasts as established in the long-term budgets for the impairment tests on goodwill; The forecasts are taken into 
account over a period of 5 years, which corresponds to the term of available forecasts;

- the probability of fiscal deficits arising before and after tax consolidation being used;
- the specifics of the treatment of the deficits under local tax regimes. 

No discounting is applied to deferred tax assets.

Note 2.5.2 – Tax on corporate added value

The Cotisation sur la Valeur Ajoutée des Entreprises (C.V.A.E) (French local business tax based on value added - one component of
CET), established on the resultant value added from the company financial statements, which, according to the Group's analysis, shows
characteristics that meet the definition of a tax on profits as stated by IAS 12.2 ("taxes due based on imposable profits") is accounted
for under the "tax expense" heading under Profit & Loss.
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Note 2.6 – Profit per share

In accordance with the IAS 33 standard, basic profit per share is calculated by dividing the “Group share of net profit” by the weighted
average number of shares in circulation less treasury shares. 

Diluted profit per share is calculated by dividing the “Group share of net profit”, adjusted by the financial cost of the dilutive instruments,
by the average number of shares in circulation after conversion to ordinary shares of the dilutive instruments in circulation giving an
entitlement to deferred access to the capital of AKKA Technologies. 

Basic profit per share and diluted profit per share are valued on the basis of the weighted average number of shares.

Note 2.7 - Goodwill

Goodwill amounts prior to the conversion of the Group financial statements to international standards were fixed as at 1 January 2004
in the context of transition to IFRS standards. Cumulative depreciation was deducted from the gross value as at that date.

IFRS 3 (revised) relating to business combinations was applied prospectively to business combinations carried out with effect from 
1 January 2010.

The policies set out below are those defined by IFRS 3 (revised).

When control is taken of a new company, the identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary acquired are recognised in the conso-
lidated balance sheet at their fair value at that date. These assets and liabilities follow the rules applicable to the balance sheet items
to which they are assigned.

The remaining difference between the acquisition cost of the shares and the interest share in the net fair value of any assets and
liabilities is capitalised under the heading “goodwill”. The analysis of the allocation of the acquisition price is only finalised after a
period of 12 months after the acquisition date.

The acquisition cost is the amount in cash or cash equivalents and price adjustments valued at fair value, excluding the costs of 
purchasing the shares. The acquisition costs were reported as expenses during the financial year.

On taking control, the Group values non-controlling interests either at their fair value (full goodwill method), or on the basis of their
pro rata share in the net assets of the company acquired (partial goodwill method). The option is exercised for each acquisition.

The impact of the buy-back of non-controlling interests after taking control is recognised directly in consolidated reserves. The treatment
is exactly the same in the case of sale without loss of control.

In the case of acquisitions made after 1 January 2010, in accordance with IFRS 3 (revised), changes in earn-outs are recognised in
profit after the acquisition date. 

Where the impact is significant, earn-outs are discounted. The impact of unwinding the discount is recognised in profit.

For acquisitions carried out up to 31 December 2009, variations in earn-outs are deducted from goodwill. 

Negative goodwill (badwill) is recognised immediately in profit and loss.

Goodwill is attributed to a cash generating unit or group of CGUs based on the synergies expected by the Group. In practice, the
goodwill is attributed to geographic areas, as described in note 4.1.

Goodwill is not depreciated. It is subject to impairment tests in accordance with the methods defined in note 2.10, whenever there is
an indication of impairment and at least once a year.
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Note 2.8 – Intangible and tangible fixed assets

The basic method adopted for the entry and valuation of fixed assets is the historic cost method. The Group has not opted to revalue
fixed assets excluding business combination transactions.

In the case of tangible fixed assets, only land is considered as a fixed asset with an indefinite lifespan.

In accordance with IAS 16, the component approach was applied in the case of buildings.

Buildings were recognised in four homogeneous components on the basis of estimates and money of the day:

⇨ building shell, 
⇨ façade and roof, 
⇨ general and technical fittings,
⇨ fixtures. 

The depreciation applied is generally determined on a linear basis over the useful life of the item. Accelerated depreciation may, however,
be applied where it appears more appropriate to the conditions of use of the equipment in question. 

The main useful lifespans of the different categories of intangible and tangible fixed assets are as follows:

The introduction of IAS 23 "Borrowing Costs" has not led to the capitalisation of interest costs, in the absence of eligible assets of 
significance.

Note 2.9 – Lease agreements

Note 2.9.1 – Financial lease agreements

The following are regarded as financial lease agreements:

⇨ agreements which transfer ownership of the item for the term of the agreement,
⇨ agreements containing an option to repurchase at a preferential price,
⇨ leases covering the major part of the useful life of the item,
⇨ agreements where the discounted value of the minimum rental payments is equal to almost the full fair value of the asset leased,
⇨ agreements relating to very specific assets.

|In addition, the following situations may individually or jointly lead to an agreement being classed as a financial lease agreement:

⇨ if the lessee can terminate the lease agreement, the losses incurred by the lessor with respect to the termination are borne by the 
lessee;
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Number of years

Software 1 to 3 years

Building shell 50 years

Façades and roofs 30 years

General and technical fixtures 4 to 20 years

Fittings 10 years

Transport equipment 4 years

Office equipment 4 years

IT equipment 3 years

Furniture 7 years
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⇨ the profits or losses resulting from the change in fair value of the residual value are borne by the lessee;
⇨ the lessee is able to extend the lease for a second term at a rent significantly below the market price. 

Financial lease agreements are recognised in fixed assets and financial liabilities. The rent is broken down into interest expense and 
depreciation. The Group is involved as lessee.

Note 2.9.2 – Simple lease agreements

Rents under simple lease agreements are recognised in expenses on a linear basis throughout the full term of the lease agreement.

Note 2.10 – Impairment of non-financial fixed assets

Periodically, once per year (in the case of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lifespan), and whenever an indication of
impairment is identified (in the case of other non-financial intangible assets|), an impairment test is applied to ensure that the 
recoverable value of non-financial fixed assets is at least equal to their carrying value. If necessary, an impairment is recognised to
adjust the carrying value of such assets to their recoverable value.

As recommended by IAS 36, the recoverable value is the higher of the net fair value (fair value less the costs to sell) of the asset 
and its value in use which corresponds to the discounted value of the estimated future cash flows of CGUs or groups of CGUs. 
Cash generating units are defined as being the smallest identifiable groups of assets generating independent cash entries. 

Impairment tests are conducted by CGU or group of CGUs on the basis of a 5-year projection of net cash flows from operations 
(operational cash flows, flows connected to the WCR and to investments) plus, if applicable, the corresponding R&D grants. This 
projection is determined with the help of the budget information for the CGU or group of CGUs and taking into account past experience
and future prospects. Beyond this horizon, the Group calculates a final value for the CGU corresponding to the discounting of the net
cash flows from operations to infinity.

The discount rate is determined, in accordance with IFRS standards, without taking into account the level of debt. The rate used is a
rate after tax and is applied to cash flows net of tax. Its use results in the determination of recoverable values identical to those obtained
by using the rates before tax on non-taxable cash flows, as required by IAS 36. The discount rate is calculated by including a risk-free
rate, a risk premium connected to the shares market and a sectoral beta.  Given the location of the CGUs or group of CGUs which
show goodwill and the low amount of corresponding goodwill, no specific risk premium has been taken into account.

Cash flow forecasts do not take into account cash flows associated with growth investments and cash flows associated with restruc-
turing not started.

The impairment recognised in respect of a CGU or CGU combination is deducted in the first instance from goodwill. Depreciation
applied to the goodwill of companies consolidated by full consolidation is non-reversible.

Note 2.11 – Trade receivables, associated accounts and other accounts receivable

Trade receivables and other accounts receivable are current assets valued initially at fair value, which generally corresponds to their 
nominal value, unless the effect of discounting is significant.

At each reporting date, the accounts receivable are valued at fair value recognising if necessary impairments to take into account any
risks of bad debts.

An impairment is recognised in the case of objective indications that the Group will not be able to recover all the amounts due in 
accordance with the terms of the original transaction. Bankruptcies, legal processes of protection against creditors, cases of manifest
insolvency or disappearance of the debtor and significant payment arrears are all indicators that a trade receivable must be depreciated. 
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Note 2.12 – Factoring and other financing tools

The working capital requirement of the main French companies is financed primarily by the assignment of receivables (factoring, Dailly
Act pooled receivables bank factoring, etc.). Analysis of the derecognition of the receivables assigned is performed on the basis of the
decision tree contained in IAS 39. 

The conditions which the Group enjoys lead us to recognise the liquid assets acquired through such assignments in the “cash and cash
equivalents” line, the retention guarantees in the “financial assets” line and the accounts receivable assigned are derecognised from
the assets side of the balance sheet.

This method of recognition is based in particular on the following criteria:

- at the time of assignment, rights to the cash flow from the asset have not expired,
- rights to receive cash flows from the asset are transferred to the assignee,
- the risks and benefits are substantially transferred to the assignee,
- control of the asset is not retained by the Group.

Note 2.13 – Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are reclassified under the heading "assets held for sale" if the criteria set out in the standard are met (assets effectively
available for sale, disposal mandate given by management, etc.). 

They are valued, as recommended by IFRS 5, at the lower of their carrying value and estimated fair value net of the costs to sell. 
They are recognised in current assets, since disposal is estimated to occur in less than one year.

They do not stop being depreciated with effect from their classification under this heading and the interest and other expenses 
attributable to them continue to be accounted for.

Note 2.14 – Cash and cash equivalents

This heading covers bank current accounts (debit and credit balances), amounts put at our disposal by the factor but not used and
cash equivalents.

Equivalent short-term investments (cash equivalents) are evaluated and accounted for at fair value with reference to the year-end
closing price. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit. 

Note 2.15 – Foreign currency transactions

Expenses and income in foreign currency are recognised at their exchange value on the date of the transaction. Accounts payable and
receivable are recognised in the balance sheet at their exchange value at the year-end exchange rate. 

Note 2.16 – Employee benefits

Note 2.16.1 – Post-employment benefits

Employee post-employment benefits comprise commitments in respect of retirement benefits and are the subject of a provision in
non-current liabilities.

Calculation of the amount of the commitments takes into account:

- the rights acquired, including expenses, by each employee under the projected unit credit method based on final salary,
- an inflation rate of 2% in France in 2012 (identical to 2011) and 1.8% in Germany,
- the mortality table,
- a wage inflation rate of 3% (identical to 2011).
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This calculation was discounted at a rate of 2.69% in 2012, as against 4.60% in 2011.

There is no deferred cost of past services.

The Group has opted for advance application of IAS 19 revised, mandatory with effect from 1 January 2013, pursuant to which actuarial
gains and losses are recognised in other elements of comprehensive income.

In accordance with IAS 8, advance application of IAS 19 revised has not lead the Group to recognise retrospectively in the financial
statements for the year ended on 31 December 2012 another item of comprehensive income in respect of the actuarial differences
existing as at 31 December 2011, given that these were not significant.

Note 2.16.2 - Droit Individuel de Formation (DIF - Personal Training Entitlement)

Since law L2004-391 of 4 May 2004 came into force, employees of French companies can benefit from Personal Training Entitlements
(DIFs). The entitlement is 20 hours per person per year, once the employee has completed one year of service. Training can be under-
taken, or not, during working hours. 

As at 31 December 2012, requests from employees under the Personal Training Entitlement represented 9,022 hours or 2.3% of the
entitlement acquired by employees in 2012 (compared with 6,953 hours or 2.2% in 2010). The number of hours acquired and not
used amounted to 390,544 in 2012 (compared with 388,943 in 2011 including AEROCONSEIL).

Note 2.17 – Provisions

Obligations to third parties resulting from causal factors in the past, whether legal, regulatory, contractual or implicit, are the subject
of a provision from the point at which the Group has a current, legal or implicit obligation resulting from past events, existing 
independently of the Group’s future actions, and at which it is probable that they will give rise to an outflow of resources. 

Any assets are referred to in the notes, where they are likely to be realised and the amount is significant. Any liabilities are referred to
in the notes, where the amount is significant.

A regular review of the items constituting these provisions (commercial disputes, industrial tribunal disputes, restructuring, etc.) 
is conducted to enable any readjustments considered justified.

Where the effect is significant, provisions are discounted.

Note 2.18 – Recognition of OBSAARs (bonds with redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants)

The OBSAAR is analysed as a compound financial instrument which must be treated in accordance with IAS 32 by distinguishing a
debt component (bond) and an equity component  (BSAAR - redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrant). The debt
component was determined at fair value on the issue date.

BSAARs have, therefore, been recognised in equity at an amount equal to the difference between the income from issue of the OBSAARs
and the fair value of the bonds discounted at the market rate on the issue date.

Issue costs which cannot be directly attributed to the debt or equity component are divided between the debt component and the
equity component pro rata to the division of the income from the issue.

The Group has not accounted for an IFRS 2 expense in the absence of benefits granted to employees who have subscribed for the
BSAARs to the extent that the latter paid market value, such value having been determined by an expert who assessed a non-assignability
discount at 27%.
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Note 2.19 – Financial liabilities other than debts associated with operations and OBSAARs

Financial liabilities comprise borrowings from credit institutions (banks and leasing-financing organisations). Financial liabilities are 
recognised at the amortised cost calculated on the basis of the effective interest rate.

The portion with a due date of less than one year is classified under the item “current financial liabilities”, the portion with a due date
of more than one year is classified under the item “non-current financial liabilities”. 

Note 2.20 – Derivative instruments

The Group uses financial instruments to hedge its exposure to the risks of changes in interest rates. These derivatives are initially valued
at fair value on the date they were set up and subsequently revalued at their fair value at each closing date. In accordance with IAS
39, recognition of the changes in fair value depends on the classification of the derivative in the financial statements as a hedging 
instrument in a fair value or cash flow hedging transaction.

A fair value hedge is intended to hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of an asset or liability recognised in the financial 
statements or of an identified part of such asset or liability or a commitment to purchase or sell an asset at a given price, which 
is subject to a specific risk and which will affect the profit shown. Any profit or loss resulting from the revaluation of the hedging 
instrument is recognised in the profit and loss statement.

A cash flow hedge is intended to hedge the exposure to changes in cash flow attributable to a specific risk associated with an asset
or liability accounted for in the financial statements or to an intended transaction and which will affect the profit. Changes in fair
value as at year-end are broken down into the effective part recognised in “other items of comprehensive income” and the ineffective
part attributed to the profit and loss for the period.

The effective part is recognised in the profit for the period to the maturities of the hedging instrument. If the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, the profit or loss initially recognised in other items of comprehensive income must be main-
tained separately in other items of comprehensive income as long as the intended transaction has not occurred. If it is no longer 
expected that the commitment or the transaction will materialise, any impact previously recognised in other items of comprehensive
income is transferred to the profit and loss statement.

Note 2.21 – Restructured debt

The company AKKA I&S, acquired by the AKKA Technologies Group in 2007, has a restructured debt, the repayment of which is spread
over 10 years interest-free. 

Given the large amounts at stake, the restructured debt is recognised in two specific lines of the balance sheet (short-term and 
long-term) and the amount is discounted, in accordance with IFRS standards, taking into account the repayment schedule.

Note 2.22 – Grants

Pending a position from the ANC (French Financial Reporting Standards Authority), research tax credits are considered as grants as 
defined in IAS 20, and shown as a deduction from the expense to which they relate.

Note 2.23 – Other information relating to financial assets and liabilities

Treasury shares and the associated impacts (profit from sale, depreciation, if applicable) are shown as reduction in the consolidated 
reserves.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised under several headings in the balance sheet (non-current financial assets, trade receivables,
other current assets, trade payables, other current liabilities, financial debts, cash and cash equivalents).
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Financial instruments are allocated to five categories which do not correspond to identified balance sheet headings, it being recognised
that the allocation determines the accounting and valuation rules. 

The five categories are as follows:

⇨ Assets held to maturity: not applicable in the Group for the financial years presented,
⇨ Financial assets and liabilities at fair value by the profit and loss: this heading essentially includes cash equivalents. Changes in fair 

value of the items allocated to this heading are recognised in the profit and loss statement at each year-end,
⇨ Loans, accounts receivable and accounts payable:  the items under this heading are accounted for and valued, "at cost" or "at 

amortised cost" as the case may be, 
- Assets and liabilities accounted for "at cost" relate primarily to trade receivables and payables and non-current financial assets 

(for example, deposits and guarantees). These items are recognised initially at fair value which corresponds in the Group to their 
nominal value (short maturity date). In the event of impairment, depreciation is applied to these items,

- Assets and liabilities recognised "at amortised cost" relate essentially to financial debts. The amortised cost of these items 
corresponds to the initial value of the asset or liability, less repayments of the principal, adjusted if applicable according to the 
effective interest rate method and corrected by any depreciation,

⇨ Assets held for sale: these only relate to non-consolidated shares, evaluated at cost, with depreciation tests carried out,
⇨ Derivative instruments: see note 2.20.

The Group has not opted for the reclassification of financial assets, as allowed as an option under the amendment to IAS 39.

In accordance with the amendment to IFRS 7, financial instruments are shown in 3 categories in note 4.17, according to a hierarchy
of methods of determination of fair value:

⇨ Level 1: prices quoted on an active market;
⇨ Level 2: information other than the quoted prices or rates referred to in level 1, observable in respect of the financial instruments, 

either directly (i.e. prices), or indirectly (i.e. information derived from prices);
⇨ Level 3: information relating to the financial instruments not based on observable market information.
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Note 3 – Notes on the profit and loss statement

Note 3.1 – Sector information

Sector information has been presented in accordance with IFRS 8 since 1 January 2009. The information given in the breakdown 
by sector is based on the internal reporting method used by the main operational decision maker (Group Executive Committee) for
evaluating the performance of various sectors.

The arrival of the MBtech sub-group changes the AKKA Group significantly. More than 50% of the Group’s revenue is now generated
outside France, compared with 15.3% as at 31 December 2011. Germany is now the main country outside France. The Group’s ope-
rational monitoring and presentation of information in accordance with IFRS 8 has been modified following the inclusion of MBtech.

As at the end of December 2012, the Group has identified 3 segments pursuant to IFRS 8 provisions on segmental information, 
representing geographic areas, France, Germany and the Rest of the World.

With the exception of France and Germany, no country reached the 10% threshold (in terms of revenue, profits and assets) described
in IFRS 8. As subsidiaries abroad, excluding Germany, are managed in a similar way by a common management team, they have all
been grouped into a “Rest of the World” segment.
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December 2012 - In thousands € France Germany Rest of 
the world Others TOTAL

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

External revenue 451,337 271,382 104,231 336 827,286

% of revenue 54.6% 32.8% 12.6% 0.0% 100.0%

Inter-sector sales 8,218 3,711 11,299 20,374 43,602

Revenue 459,555 275,093 115,530 20,710 870,888

Operating income and expense (424,702) (258,336) (90,701) 9,437 (764,301)

Operating profit 26,635 13,046 13,530 9,773 62,984

Cost of net financial debt - - - - (2,361)

Other financial income and expenxses - - - - (7,374)

Other non current income and expenses - - - - 938 

Tax expense - - - - (12,838)

Net profit - - - - 41,349

December 2011 - In thousands € France Germany Rest of 
the world Others TOTAL

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

External revenue 401,275 18,544 54,203 93 474,115

% of revenue 84.6% 3.9% 11.4% 0.0% 100.0%

Inter-sector sales 4,773 470 1,615 16,916 23,774

Revenue 406,048 19,014 55,818 17,009 497,889

Operating income and expense (369,392) (16,028) (45,967) 254 (431,133)

Operating profit 31,883 2,516 8,236 347 42,982

Cost of net financial debt - - - - (283)

Other financial income and expenxses - - - - (3,937)

Other non current income and expenses - - - - (475)

Tax expense - - - - (11,402)

Net profit - - - - 26,885 



111

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 
FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

20

The main client in each operating segment represents respectively 30.6% of revenue in France, 79.9% in Germany and 17.1% in the
Rest of the World. The five main clients in each operating segment represent respectively 54.1% of revenue in France, 91.4% in Germany
and 42.6% in the Rest of the World.

MBtech contributed €271,112 thousand to the consolidated revenue and €11,768 thousand to the consolidated profit from business
operations.

Note 3.2 – External expenses

This steep increase resulted primarily from the acquisition of MBtech which accounted for €103,001 thousand in 2012 and that of
AEROCONSEIL at the end of September 2011.

Note 3.3 – Personnel

Note 3.3.1 – Average workforce of the consolidated companies

The workforce at the end of the period at 31 December 2012 was 10,645 employees (7,111 at 31 December 2010), including a 
workforce of 3,296 at MBtech.

Note 3.3.2 – Staff costs

This steep increase resulted primarily from the acquisition of MBtech which accounted for €152,941 thousand in 2012 and that of
AEROCONSEIL at the end of September 2011.
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December 2012 - In thousands € France Germany Rest of the world Others TOTAL

BALANCE SHEET
Sector assets (1) 94,046 48,990 21,103 35,727 199,866

Sector fianacial liabilities (2) 34,992 33,864 3,622 50,820 123,298

December 2011 - In thousands € France Germany Rest of the world Others TOTAL

BALANCE SHEET
Sector assets (1) 92,151 2,438 11,919 23,458 129,966

Sector fianacial liabilities (2) 47,173 280 564 11,894 59,911
(1) Goodwill, intangible and tangible fixed assets (including investment property), other non-current assets
(2) Financial liabilities including restructured debt

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Sub-contracting (99,148) (46,101)

Other external expenses (126,096) (58,953)

External expenses (225,244) (105,054)

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Executive 7,165 4,359

Other 2,480 1,753

Total workforce 9,645 6,112

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Wages and salaries (389,786) (220,414)

Social security expenses (139,771) (97,636)

Employee share ownership (1,596) (1,427)

Staff costs (531,153) (319,477)
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Note 3.4 – Depreciation and provisions

MBtech contributed €6,411 thousand to depreciation and provisions.

Note 3.5 – Other current income

The change in other current income resulted primarily from the inclusion of MBtech in the consolidation scope, relief granted on the
restructured debt, and the time limit on elements of the operating debts classed as restructured debt. 

Note 3.6 – Grants

Grants are recorded as a deduction from the corresponding expenses.

Note 3.7 – Other non-current income and expenses

Given the significance associated with acquisitions, acquisition costs are shown in other non-current income and expenses with effect
from this financial year, from the first half of 2012.

Note 3.8 – Cost of net financial debt

Note 3.9 – Tax on profits

Note 3.9.1 – Breakdown of tax expense
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In thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Net amortisation and depreciation of fixed assets (12,069) (3,809)

Net depreciation of current assets (1,199) 563 

Net provisions for risks and expenses 1,771 2,647 

Net depreciation and provisions (11,497) (599)

Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Sub-contracting - 365 

Staff costs 19,867 11,785 

Net depreciation and provisions - 92 

Grants 19,867 12,242 

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Income from cash and cash equivalents 467 908 

Interest charges (4,306) (2,572)

Accretion (expense) in relation to restructured debt (3,535) (2,274)

Cost of gross financial debt (7,841) (4,846)

COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT (7,374) (3,937)

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Tax payable (4,338) (4,288)

CVAE (local business tax) (6,465) (5,653)

Deferred tax (2,036) (1,460)

Total corporation tax (12,838) (11,402)
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Note 3.9.2 – Disclosure of tax

Note 3.9.3 – Nature of deferred taxes

As indicated in note 2.5, where the probability of deducting them from future taxable profits is low, the deferred tax assets of French
and international subsidiaries are not recognised. 
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Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012
Change 

in deferred 
tax

Changes in
conslidation

scope
31/12/2011

Change 
in deferred 

tax

Changes in
conslidation

scope
01/01/2011

Restatement of financial leases (170) (37) - (132) (10) - (122)

Deferred taxes on current account provisions (25) - - (25) (93) - 68 

Deferred taxes associated with the local tax regime 7,963 1,916 - 6,047 2,945 - 3,102 

Deferred taxes on tax losses 8,140 (822) - 8,962 (1,776) - 10,738 

IFRS restatements (3,320) (987) - (2,333) 1,236 - (3,569)

Other restatements 4 (1,610) 1,684 (70) 4,320 (4,066) (325)

Net deferred taxes 12,593 (1,539) 1,684 12,449   6,622   (4,066) 9,892 

Including deferred tax assets 13,262 (1,243) 1,684 12,821 6,666 (4,066) 10,221 

Including deferred tax liabilities (669) (297) - (372) (43) - (329)

Net deferred taxes 12,593 (1,539) 1,684 12,449   6,622   (4,066) 9,892 

Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Consolidated net profit 41,349 26,885

Tax expense 12,838 11,402

CVAE (6,465) (5,653)

Consolidated profit (before corporation tax) 47,722 32,634

Tax rate applicable to the consolidating entity 33.33% 33.33%

Theoretical tax expense (15,906) (10,878)

Impact of permanent differences 7,117 3,622 

Deferred tax assets arising during the year but not recognised in the financial statements (316) (113)

Deferred tax assets relating to previous years 1,753 608 

Tax due in respect of previous years 49 250 

CVAE (6,465) (5,653)

Differential impact of foreign companies' tax rates 936 283 

Other differences (3) 479 

Tax expense (12,838) (11,402)
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Note 4 – Notes on the balance sheet

Note 4.1 – Goodwill

Breakdown of the CGUs

The years 2011 and 2012 were marked by the following acquisitions:

⇨ AEROCONSEIL Group: the goodwill was amended in the context of adjustment to the fair value of assets and liabilities within the 
12 month period (goodwill of €3,147 thousand),

⇨ Pierre’s Project (goodwill of €235 thousand),
⇨ MBtech Group: gthe goodwill is in progress. The Group has opted for the partial goodwill method (goodwill of €7,430 thousand).

In accordance with IFRS standards, the AKKA Technologies Group has a period of one year to value the assets and liabilities acquired
at fair value, as well as the goodwill, determined by the difference between the acquisition price and the Group pro rata share in the
fair value of such assets and liabilities. 

The amount of goodwill relating to earn-outs amounted to €9,507 thousand with as counterpart a debt to the sellers for the same
amount recorded under "Other debts" in the balance sheet for the same amount. The part of the earn-outs connected with takeovers
occurring later than 1 January 2010 is accounted for according to IFRS 3 revised rules.

Note 4.2 – Depreciation of the assets

Impairment tests were conducted on 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012, the research tax credit having been incorporated in
the cash flows for the next three financial years. These tests were applied on the basis of forecast cash flows after discounted taxes,
using the weighted average cost of capital for all cash generating units of 10.69% in 2012 (compared with 10.68% in 2011). The final
value of the CGU or group of CGUs corresponds to the discounting of the net cash flows from operations to infinity adopting a growth
rate of 1.5% (utility value). The rate adopted in 2011 was also 1.5%.

The AKKA Technologies Group was divided into 18 CGUs as at 31 December 2011 and 14 CGUs as at 31 December 2012 (effect of
mergers). MBtech has not been assigned insofar as the Group’s new operational organisation is being established, following the 
acquisition.
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Goodwill
Cash 

generating 
unit

31/12/2012
Changes in
consolida-
tion scope

Other
changes 31/12/2011

Changes in
consolida-
tion scope

Other
changes 01/01/2011

AEROCONSEIL AKKA France 3,147   2,469   - 678   678   - -

AKKA BENELUX AKKA Benelux 8,148   - - 8,148   - - 8,148   

AKKA Ingénierie Documentaire AKKA France 5,346   - - 5,346   - - 5,346   

AKKA INFORMATIQUE ET SYSTEMES AKKA France 16,163   - - 16,163   - - 16,163   

AKKA I&S AKKA France 27,129   - - 27,129   - - 27,129   

AKKA ITALIA AKKA Italy 580   - - 580   - - 580   

AKKA OCTOGON AKKA Germany 2,168   - - 2,168   - - 2,168   

AKKA INGENIERIE PROCESS (ex EURTECH) AKKA France 1,987   - - 1,987   - 1,986   

AKKA INGENIERIE PRODUIT AKKA France 19,738   - - 19,738   235   - 19,506   

AKKA SWITZERLAND SA (sté Suisse) AKKA Switzerland 2,214   - 7   2,208   - 29   2,179   

EKIS FRANCE AKKA France 8,438   - - 8,438   - - 8,438   

MBTECH Groupe GmbH & Co.KGaA Goodwill in progress 7,430   7,430   - - - - -

REAL FUSIO AKKA France 1,426   - - 1,426   - - 1,426   

AKKA ROMSERV AKKA Romania 107   - (3) 110   - (1) 111   

Amount of goodwill 104,022   9,900   4   94,119   913   28   93,178   
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Only 6 CGUs or group of CGUs had non-depreciable assets (6 in 2011). The impairment tests did not highlight any depreciation to be
recorded in the financial statements as at 31 December 2011 or as at 31 December 2012.

The sensitivity tests on the discount rates and the infinite growth rates in a +/- 1 per cent band did not reveal any depreciation risks.
The Group has not identified any probable scenarios which would lead to the recognition of depreciation.

The acquisition transactions are supported by assets and liabilities clauses covered by sureties. The commitments received by the Group
in this context amounted to €55,800 thousand in 2012 compared with €35,950 thousand in 2011. 

Note 4.3 – Intangible and tangible fixed assets

The MBtech sub-group contributed €7,176 thousand to this increase.

The MBtech sub-group contributed €40,401 thousand to this increase.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

Amounts in thousands of euros Gross intangible 
fixed assets

Depreciation on 
intangible fixed assets TOTAL

01/01/2011 11,763 (10,498) 1,264 

Changes in consolidation scope 2,377 (2,132) 245 

Acquisitions 1,339 - 1,339 

Disposals and others (15) 1 (14)

Depreciation - (1,411) (1,411)

Currency translation differences - - -

Other changes (34) 28 (6)

31/12/2011 15,430 (14,013) 1,417

Changes in consolidation scope 8,291 (5,410) 2,881

Acquisitions 6,833 - 6,833

Disposals and others (6) 6 -

Depreciation - (2,625) (2,625)

Currency translation differences (5) 4 (1)

Other changes 157 (95) 61

31/12/2012 30,699 (22,133) 8,566

Amounts in thousands of euros Gross intangible 
fixed assets

Depreciation on 
intangible fixed assets TOTAL

01/01/2011 21,725 (13,896) 7,829 

Changes in consolidation scope 7,250 (3,829) 3,421 

Acquisitions 3,120 - 3,120 

Disposals and others (448) 152 (296)

Depreciation - (2,443) (2,443)

Currency translation differences 11 (6) 6 

Other changes 244 (244) -

31/12/2011 31,902 (20,266) 11,636 

Changes in consolidation scope 92,873 (55,700) 37,173 

Acquisitions 13,421 - 13,421 

Disposals and others (3,744) 3,249 (494)

Depreciation - (9,424) (9,424)

Currency translation differences (193) 68 (125)

Other changes 187 (230) (43)

31/12/2012 134,447 (82,303) 52,144 
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Note 4.4 – Securities consolidated by the equity method

The company APS is subsidiary 30% owned by MBtech Group GmbH & Co. KGaA, which in turn is a subsidiary 65% owned by AKKA
Technologies SA. APS is consolidated for the first time with effect from 1 April 2012.
Its revenue for the 2012 financial year (9 months) was €15,711 thousand and its profit €3,504 thousand.

Note 4.5 – Non-current financial assets

Gross amounts:

Other financial assets primarily comprised retention guarantees provided by the factor (€5,405 thousand in 2012 compared with
€7,828 thousand in 2011). 

In the context of the acquisition of AEROCONSEIL, the research tax credits prior to 2012 were mobilised in favour of the vendor. 
The mobilisation contract has been derecognised in accordance with the IFRS reference manual.

Provisions in respect of non-current financial assets amounted to €2,509 thousand as at 31 December 2011 and €2,074 thousand as
at 31 December 2012.

Note 4.6 – Other non-current assets

This item includes receivables on R&D grants amounting to €35,605 thousand in 2012, as against €23,549 thousand in 2011, and
discounting them by € (481) thousand in 2012, as against € (755) thousand in 2011.

Note 4.7 – Trade receivables and associated accounts

The impact of MBtech on trade receivables was €122,274 thousand.

Accounts receivable not due transferred to the factor and derecognised amounted to €72,945 thousand as at 31 December 2012 as
against €96,005 thousand in 2011. They represent the total amount of accounts receivable not due assigned to the factor and not
yet paid by the client and are recorded as a credit to the client's account.
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Amounts in thousands of euros Assets available 
for sale

Other financial 
assets

TOTAL 
financial assets

01/01/2011 538 12,513 13,051

Changes in consolidation scope 820 716 1,536

Acquisitions 578 5,461 6,039

Disposals (689) (2,777) (3,466)

31/12/2011 1,248 15,913 17,161

Changes in consolidation scope 257 11 289

Acquisitions - 2,848 2,849

Disposals (144) (1,859) (2,024)

31/12/2012 1,361 16,913 18,274

Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Work in progress for clients 173,327 68,384

Invoices to be prepared 78,880 37,194

Gross trade receivables 252,207 105,578

Provisions (7,764) (3,756)

Net trade receivables 244,443 101,821



117

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 
FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

20

The breakdown of trade receivables as required by IFRS 7 is as follows:

Note 4.8 – Other accounts receivable

Other net accounts receivable amounted to €62,784 thousand as at 31 December 2012. This item relates mainly to accounts receivable
from the Treasury amounting to €47,657 thousand.

The impact of MBtech on other accounts receivable was €10,769 thousand.

In 2011, other accounts receivable amounted to €53,585 thousand. These related mainly to accounts receivable from the Treasury
amounting to €45,247 thousand.

In 2012, as in 2011, following an analysis of the payment schedule for other accounts receivable, the share thereof with due dates
greater than one year was reclassified in "other non-current assets" and discounted (see note 4.6).

Note 4.9 – Provisions in respect of current assets

Note 4.10 – Cash and cash equivalents

This item breaks down into liquid assets of €59,320 thousand in 2012 compared with €65,776 thousand in 2011 and net cash 
equivalents of €11,611 thousand in 2012 compared with €13,328 thousand in 2011.

MBtech contributed €14,617 thousand to the Group’s cash.

Liquid assets comprised €30,474 thousand made available by the factor but not used as at 31 December 2012 and €55,376 thousand
as at 31 December 2011. 

The purchase price for the cash equivalents appearing in the financial statements as at 31 December 2012 amounted to €11,613
thousand compared with €13,302 thousand as at 31 December 2011. The latter were made up of cash SICAVs (open-ended collective
investment schemes) the fair value of which (year-end value) was €5,481 thousand at the end of 2012 and of term deposits amounting
to €6,131 thousand.

Changes in the fair value of cash equivalents in the 2012 financial year were recognised in profit at €44 thousand.
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Amounts in thousands of euros Inventories Trade 
receivables

Other accounts
receivable Total

01/01/2011 1,633 2,269 6,107 10,009 

Changes in consolidation scope - 538 373 911 

Appropriations included in net depreciation and provisions - 2,721 275 2,996 

Reversals included in net depreciation and provisions (261) (1,775) (1,511) (3,547)

Currency translation difference - 2 - 2 

31/12/2011 1,372 3,754 5,244 10,370 

Changes in consolidation scope 94 2,831 - 2,924 

Appropriations included in net depreciation and provisions 275 1,748 49 2,072 

Reversals included in net depreciation and provisions (216) (558) (99) (873)

Currency translation difference - (13) - (13)

31/12/2012 1,524 7,764 5,194 14,482 

Amounts in thousands of euros Total Not due and
due < 6 months

Due 6 to 
12 months Due > 1 year

2012 financial year 244,443   238,554   3,822   2,067

2011 financial year 101,821   99,981   1,081   759
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Note 4.11 – Share capital and premium over par value

As at 31 December 2012, the share capital of AKKA Technologies comprised 13,826,889 shares of €1.53, i.e. €21,155 thousand and
the premium over par value was €8,998 thousand. The changes in these items in 2010 and 2011 were as follows:

All potentially dilutive instruments had a dilutive effect on the diluted profit per share as at 31 December 2011 and as at 31 December
2012. 

Voting rights:
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Number 
of 

shares

Par 
value

Amount 
of share 
capital

Premium
over 

par value

Notes

01/01/2011 10,882,906 1.53 16,651 8 012

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 31 March 2011) 3,591 1.53 5  35 Exercise of 2,899 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 31 March 2011) 18,332  1.53 28  136 Raising of 9,166 options converted to shares

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 31 March 2011) 2,000  1.53 3  (3) Allotment of free shares

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 14 June 2011) 35,844  1.53 55  345 Exercise of 28,953 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital (General Meeting of 14 June 2011) 1,096,653  1.53 1,678  (1,678) Allotment of one free share for 10 held

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 7 July 2011) 23,858  1.53 37  229 Exercise of 19,272 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 5 Sept 2011) 85,612  1.53 131  792 Exercise of 66,846 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 5 Sept 2011) 5,644  1.53 9  (9) Allotment of free shares

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 25 Nov 2011) 742  1.53 1  6 Exercise of 544 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 25 Nov 2011) 9,317  1.53 14  (14) Allotment of free shares

31/12/2011 12,164,499  1.53  18,612  7,851  

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 5 June 2012) 213,738  1.53 327  1,839 Exercise of 156,901 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital (Extraordinary General Meeting and 
Board of Directors' meeting of 5 June 2012) 1,237,823  1.53 1,894  (1,894) Allotment of one free share for 10 held

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 22 June 2012) 23,383  1.53 36  180 Exercise of 15,615 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital (Board of Directors' meeting of 22 June 2012) 45,290  1.53 69  (69) Allotment of free shares

Increase in capital 8,647  1.53 13  66 Exercise of 5,773 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital 16,675  1.53 26  128 Exercise of 11,127 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital 1,603  1.53 2  12 Exercise of 1,070 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital 9,620  1.53 15  74 Exercise of 6,421 BSAARs converted to shares

Increase in capital 105,611  1.53 162  811 Exercise of 70,500 BSAARs converted to shares

31/12/2012 13,826,889   1.53   21,155   8,998   

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Shares with single voting rights 8,380,624 4,701,898

Shares with double voting rights 5,364,233 7,372,463

Treasury shares (1) 82,032 90,138

Total number of shares 13,826,889 12,164,499

(1) Non-voting shares
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Potentially dilutive instruments:

The instruments issued by AKKA Technologies having a potentially dilutive effect and outstanding as at 31/12/2012 are as follows:

These financial instruments represented 0.3% of the total number of shares in circulation at the end of 2012, compared with 3.7% at
the end of 2011.

As at the end of December 2012, there was only one option plan in operation following exercise of the BSAAR (redeemable share
subscription and/or acquisition warrants) mandatory exchange clause and the end of the stock options plan of 28 May 2004:

In accordance with the provisions of the prospectus approved by the AMF on 20 February 2008, the Group decided to activate the
BSAAR mandatory exchange clause. As a result, the bearers were able to exercise their BSAARs at an exercise price of €13.80 (giving
entitlement to 1,498 AKKA shares) or to have these BSAARs reimbursed at a price of €0.01.

Free share schemes in the process of acquisition are set out in the following table: 
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Dilutive instruments Number of shares

Share subscription options issued on 14 March 2006 32,664  

Free shares allotted on 6 September 2011 9,020  

Total dilutive instruments 41,684  

Subscription options

Date of allotment by the Board of Directors 14 March 2006 

Number of options remaining 16,332   

Corresponding potential number of shares 32,664   

First possible exercise date 14 March 2007

Last possible exercise date 14 March 2014

First possible sale date 14 March 2010

Exercise price in euro (per option) € 16.15

Issuer AKKA Technologies

Year 2011

Type of scheme Free allotment of shares

Board of Directors' decision 06/09/2011

Board of Directors' decision 9,020

Means of settlement AKKA shares

Period of acquisition of entitlement 2 years, 3 years or 4 years

Performance terms for some allottees

Terms in the event of leaving Group service loss of entitlement

Share price at the time of allotment (€) 16.85

Shares lost as at 31.12.12 -

Shares remaining as at 31.12.12 9,020

Date for disposal 2 years after final allotment

Fair value (% of share price on allotment) 87.4%
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The periods for acquisition of the free shares allotted on 6 September 2011 are as follows:

⇨ 6,050 shares have an acquisition period of 2 years,
⇨ 1,485 shares have an acquisition period of 3 years,
⇨ 1,485 shares have an acquisition period of 4 years.

The company is not subject to any specific regulatory or contractual obligation with respect to the share capital. The Group has no
specific capital management policy. The arbitrage between financing by debt and by capital increase depends on the transaction in
question. The equity followed by the Group comprises the same components as the consolidated shareholders’ equity. 

Profit per share:

Note 4.12 – Current and non-current provisions
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31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Group share of net profit (in € thousand ) 40,381 26,885

Dilutive effects (in € thousand) - -

Diluted profit (in € thousand) 40,381 26,885

Number of shares in circulation as at 1 January 12,164,499 10,882,906

Effect prorata temporis on the weighted average number of shares relative to the issue of free shares 23,948 18,046

Effect prorata temporis on the weighted average number of shares relative to the issue 1 for 10 712,172 600,906

Effect prorata temporis on the weighted average number of shares relative to the exercise of BSAARs 199,185 72,479

Impact of treasury shares (82,032) (90,138)

Weighted average number of shares as at 31 December 13,017,772 11,484,199

Impact of dilutiveshare subscription options as at 31 December 21,681 12,093

Impact of dilutive free shares as at 31 December 9,020 49,373

Impact of BSAARs as at 31 December - 138,797

Weighted average number of shares as at 31 December after dilution 13,048,473 11,684,462

Profit per share (in €) 3.10 2.34

Diluted profit per share (in €) 3.09 2.30

Amounts in thousands of euros Current Non-current

Due date 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Provisions for disputes and risks 12,208   7,464   3,686   648   

Provisions for pensions - - 8,959   2,513   

Provisions for taxes 642   2,234   899   866   

Provisions for other expenses 920   - 1,033   551   

Total 13,770   9,698   14,577   4,578   
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Change in Provisions

The change in provisions is primarily due to the amount of €13,719 thousand (including €7,614 thousand of provisions classes as
non-current) in relation to the acquisition of MBtech in 2012.

The provisions for disputes and risks comprise primarily provisions for employment-related disputes (€9,738 thousand) and commercial
disputes (€5,663 thousand) relating mainly to circumstances prior to the acquisitions of AEROCONSEIL and MBtech. Some of these
disputes relate to recourse under passive guarantees given by the vendors.

Sensitivity analysis on post-employment benefits

The sensitivity analysis was performed on the basis of the balance of retirement benefits as at 31 December 2012. The group opted to
show a sensitivity analysis to the discount rate, taking into account a change in the rate curve of plus or minus 0.5 points compared
with the rate applicable at the closing date. A 0.5 point increase would have an impact of €(603) thousand on the pension commitment
and a 0.5 point decrease would have an impact of €670 thousand on the pension commitment.

Note 4.13 – Current and non-current financial liabilities

The current and non-current financial liabilities shown below exclude the restructured debt shown in section 4.14 and the debt 
associated with external growth transactions shown in section 4.16.
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Amounts in thousands of euros Disputes 
and risks Pensions Taxes Other 

provisions TOTAL

01/01/2011 4,654   2,059   4,146   67   10,926 

Change in consolidation scope 5,157 1,017 691 484 7,349 

Provisions 2,490 113 51 - 2,654 

Reversals of used provisions (3,335) (115) (1,788) - (5,238)

Reversals of unused provisions (855) (561) - - (1,416)

Reclassifications and others 1 - - - 1 

31/12/2011 8,112   2,513 3,100 551 14,276   

Change in consolidation scope 8,966 4,427 - 2,478 15,871 

Provisions 3,592 707 54 267 4,620 

Reversals of used provisions (4,435) (170) (1,613) (1,343) (7,561)

Reversals of unused provisions (333) (10) - - (343)

Actuarial differences - 1,492 - - 1,492 

Currency translation differences (8) - - - (8)

31/12/2012 15,894   8,959   1,541   1,953   28,347   

Amounts in thousands of euros Miscellaneous borrowings
and financial debts Financial leases Total financial 

liabilities

Due date 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Current ( less than one year) 32,117 7,305 459 525 32,576 7,830

1 to 5 years 56,876 6,797 320 779 57,196 7,576

More than 5 years - 344 - - - 344

Total 88,993 14,446 779 1,304 89,772 15,750
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The change in financial liabilities breaks down as follows: 

The second tranche of the bond debt amounting to €6,667 thousand was repaid on 3 April 2012.

On 12 April 2012, AKKA Technologies and MBtech Group GmbH & Co. KGaA took out a loan for a 5 year term with a pool of banks.
It is intended to finance:

- the acquisition of 65% of the shares in MBtech Group GmbH & Co. KGaA and MBtech Verwaltungs GmbH,
- the refinancing of the MBtech sub-group to DAIMLER,
- the financing of the WCR and capital expenditure of the MBtech sub-group.

Securities and guarantees amounted to €93,339 thousand as at 31 December 2012 compared with €715thousand in December
2011. These were given when loans were taken out to finance an external growth transaction. They correspond to:

⇨ An independent guarantee by AKKA Technologies amounting to 115% of the lenders’ commitments in respect of facilities B1, B2 
and B3;

⇨ A security in the form of AKKA Technologies’ shares in AERCONCONSEIL, AKKA Informatique  & Systèmes, AKKA Services and AKKA 
Ingénierie Process as a guarantee of the lenders’ commitments in respect of facility A and in guarantee of the independent guarantee.

As at 31 December 2012, the covenants negotiated with the Group’s banks were as follows:
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Amounts in thousands of euros 2012 31/12/2012
Changes in
consolida-
tion scope

Currency
translation
differences

Change 
in fair 
value

Increases
Reductions

and reclassi-
fications

01/01/2012

Borrowings from credit institutions 82,371 20 104,102 (49) 406 (23,126) 1,018 

Restatement of financial leases 779 - - - - (525) 1,304 

Bonds 6,459 - - - (1) (6,608) 13,068 

Miscellaneous financial liabilities 164 - 77 - - (273) 360 

Bank overdrafts - - - - - - -

Financial liabilities 89,773 20 104,179 (49) 405 (30,532) 15,750 

Cash equivalents (11,611) - - - - 1,717 (13,328)

Cash (59,320) (7,251) - - - 13,707 (65,776)

Cash and cash equivalents (70,931) (7,251) - - - 15,424 (79,104)

Net debt (-net cash) excluding 
restructured debt 18,842 (7,231) 104,179 (49) 405 (15,108) (63,354)

Amounts in thousands of euros 2011 31/12/2011
Changes in
consolida-
tion scope

Currency
translation
differences

Change 
in fair 
value

Increases
Reductions

and reclassi-
fications

01/01/2011

Borrowings from credit institutions 1,018 4 118 - - (1,425) 2,321 

Restatement of financial leases 1,304 1,062 - - - (226) 468 

Bonds 13,068 - 63 - (19) (6,647) 19,671 

Miscellaneous financial liabilities 360 144 - - - (83) 299 

Bank overdrafts - - - - - - -

Financial liabilities 15,750 1,210 181 - (19) (8,381) 22,759 

Cash equivalents (13,328) - - - - 13,959 (27,286)

Cash (65,776) (18,522) - - - 6,823 (54,078)

Cash and cash equivalents (79,104) (18,522) - - - 20,782 (81,364)

Net debt (-net cash) excluding 
restructured debt (63,354) (17,312) 181 - (19) 12,401 (58,605)
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MBtech loan:

When the loan was taken out, a commitment was made to comply with the following financial ratios relating to the balance sheet
structure and the ability of the business to meet due payment dates:

⇨ Leverage ratio: Net consolidated financial debt / consolidated EBITDA
- as at 30 June 2012 <3.0x
- as at 31 December 2012 <2.75x
- rom 30 June 2013 < 2.5x

⇨ Gearing ratio: Net consolidated financial debt / shareholders’ equity
- as at 30 June 2012 <1.25x
- as at 31 December 2012 <1.15x
- as at 30 June 2013 < 1.00x
- from 31 December 2013 < 0.9x

⇨ Debt cover ratio: Consolidated free cash flow / debt service
- at least equal to 1.2x from 30 June 2012 

⇨ Capital expenditure limit
- €30 million for the Group in 2012
- 110% of the capital expenditure planned for 2012 to 2016

As at 31 December 2012, these 4 ratios were complied with by the Group.

OBSAAR (bonds with redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants):

On 25 February 2008, AKKA Technologies launched an issue of 20,000 bonds with redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition
warrants (OBSAAR) of a nominal unit value of €1,000 amounting to a total of €20 million.

Features of BSAAR (redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants): The 420,000 BSAARs subscribed for under this issue
were non-assignable during the first 2 years and were listed for trading on the Euronext Paris market with effect from 3 April 2010.
Following a number of changes to the capital (4 allotments in 2008, 2009, 2011 and 2012 of one free share per 10 shares held and
distribution of part of the AKKA Technologies reserves), the parity was changed. 

The Group activated the BSAAR mandatory exchange clause in accordance with terms of the prospectus approved by the AMF in 2008
(see note 4.11). There were, therefore, no BSAARs in circulation at the end of December 2012. 

Features of the bonds: The 20,000 bonds were subscribed for by banks. They are payable in three equal amounts. The first two tranches
have been paid off. The last will be paid off on 3 April 2013.

The General Meeting of bond holders on 19 July 2010 changed the calculation of the Leverage ratio. Henceforth the ratios are the 
following:

⇨ Gearing ratio, corresponding to the ratio of Gross consolidated debt/Net consolidated position, less than or equal to 1.
⇨ Leverage Ratio, corresponding to the Consolidated Gross Debts/Consolidated EBITDA ratio, less than or equal to 3 as at 31 December 

2011 and less than or equal to 2.5 as at 31 December 2012.

The ratios provided in our transaction note decrease year on year. They must also be complied with as at 30 June of every financial
year.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group complied with these two ratios. 
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Note 4.13.1 – Interest rate risk

⇨ On 5 July 2010, the Group signed an interest rate hedge on the 2008 OBSAAR in anticipation of the increase in the Euribor 
3-month interest rates (on which the bond is indexed). The financial derivative instrument held as at 31 December 2012 was one 
SWAP contract with the following features: SWAP at a fixed rate of 1.545 %, i.e. 2.205 % after application of the 0.66 % margin, 
up to April 2013 on the amortised outstanding amount of the 2008 OBSAAR.

This hedging instrument is consistent with the definition of a cash flow hedge. The change in fair value was recognised at €(1) thousand
in other items of comprehensive income as at 31 December 2012.

⇨ The Group has signed a number of interest rate hedging transactions relating to loans associated with the acquisition of MBtech 
in order to fulfil its commitments to its bank partners:
- An interest rate hedge signed on 2 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.715% 

over 3 years for an amount of €20 million;
- interest rate hedge signed on 23 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.734% over 

3 years for an amount of €20 million;
- interest rate hedge signed on 23 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.70% over 

3 years for an amount of €14 million.

These hedging instruments are consistent with the definition of a cash flow hedge. Their fair value as at 31 December 2012 was 
recognised at €(406) thousand in other items of comprehensive income.

Gross consolidated debt excluding restructured debt represented €89,772 thousand as at 31 December 2012, €32,576 thousand of
which had a due date of less than one year, including €459 thousand of bond debt. Financial debts were taken out at a floating rate,
with the exception of the AKKA Benelux loan and certain financial lease agreements which represented €779 thousand at the end of
December 2012 and are at fixed interest rates. 

The sensitivity analysis was conducted on the basis of the balance of interest-bearing financial liabilities at floating rates as at 31 
December 2012, taking into account the hedging instruments put in place in respect of the bonds. The tests were conducted on the
basis of a change in the interest rate curve of plus or minus 1% on the rates applicable the year-end. This variation would have an
impact on net profit of €324 thousand.

Note 4.13.2 – Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2012, the AKKA Technologies Group had gross available cash of €70,931 thousand comprising €59,320 thousand
in liquid assets and €11,611 thousand in cash equivalents. 

The company conducted a specific review of its liquidity risk and considers that it is in a position to meet future repayment due dates.

No information is, therefore, given on the schedule of accounts receivable and payable with due dates of less than one year.
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Description of the loans taken out
(amounts in thousands of euros)

Company taking 
out the loan

Initial amount
(loans > €1,000

thousand)
Currency

Total amount of 
the loans as at 

31 December 2012
Due dates

Syndicated loan December 2011 TA AKKA Technologies 52,260   Euros 45,909  Dec-16

Syndicated loan December 2011 B1 MBtech 18,605   Euros 16,538  Dec-16

Syndicated loan December 2011 B2 MBtech 10,000   Euros 10,000  Dec-16

Syndicated loan December 2011 B3 MBtech 23,000   Euros 8,000  Dec-16

Bonds April 2008 AKKA Technologies 20,000   Euros 6,667  Sep-15

Sim Tech loan - Overdraft facility MB Sim 2,370   Euros 2,370  2014

Colomiers premisies lease AKKA Doc 1,105   Euros 211  May-14

AEC France lease AEC France 1,627   Euros 568  Jun-15

Other non-significant loans - - - 1,095  -

TOTAL FINANCIAL DEBTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 - - 91,358  -
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Note 4.13.3 – Exchange rate risk

Outside the euro zone, the Group has operations in Great Britain, Switzerland, Romania, Turkey, Czech Republic, China, Dubai, United
States and Canada. These operations represented around 6% of the Group's revenue in 2012, compared with 2% in 2011. 
The flows of purchases and sales in local currency are more or less in balance, with the exception of operations in the Czech Republic
where invoicing is in euros and expenses are paid in local currency. A forward EUR/CZK exchange contract is in place to hedge exchange
rate risks.

Investments in a currency other than the euro represented 4.3 % of consolidated investments in 2012 compared with 1.5% in 2011.
Only the Chinese entity has a bank overdraft, the amount of which was not significant as at 31 December 2012.  

AKKA Technologies has put in place the hedges necessary to cover exchange rate risks.

Note 4.13.4 – Risk on shares

The cash equivalents recognised in the financial statements as at 31 December 2012 represented 1.9% of the total consolidated assets
(compared with 3.4% in 2010) and comprised risk-free monetary SICAVs and term accounts in euro. 

Owing to its position as a service provider and the factoring agreement, the AKKA Technologies Group’s cash management policy
does not include the acquisition of cash equivalents by the operating subsidiaries. 

AKKA Technologies, therefore, currently has only a very low exposure to a risk on shares.

Note 4.14 – Restructured debt

The company AKKA I&S, acquired by the AKKA Technologies Group in 2007, was the subject of an open administration protection
procedure in November 2006. Under this procedure, the company's liabilities were "frozen" and creditors were induced to declare their
claims. 

The administration procedure was ended by the Paris Commercial Court on 4 September 2007. The total amount of claims stated
amounted to €80,881 thousand, and the liabilities retained by the administrative receiver amounted to €71,704 thousand. 

Creditors with claims in excess of €300 were requested to choose between two options:

Option 2: repayment of 100% of the amount owed over 10 years without interest. Almost 99% of creditors opted for this solution,
Option 1: repayment of 50% of the amount owed at the time of adoption of the debt restructuring plan.

Claims of less than €300 were repaid in full at the end of 2007.

The repayment schedule for option 2 is shown in the table below:

In accordance with IFRS principles, the restructured debt was discounted on the basis of a risk-free rate over 10 years, taking into 
account the due dates for repayment. The discount rate was fixed, in accordance with the provisions of the standard.
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2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Repayment schedule 5% 5% 6% 8% 10% 12% 12% 14% 14% 14%



126

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 
FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

20

Accretion of this debt amounting to €3,535 thousand was carried out in 2012 and recorded under financial expenses. The repayment
of €5,552 thousand due in 2012 was paid in September.

Note 4.15 – Tax and social security contribution liabilities

The impact of MBtech on the item “tax and social security liabilities” was €40,765 thousand.

All these debts have a due date of less than one year.

Note 4.16 – Other liabilities

MBtech contributed €14,354 thousand to other debts.
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Amounts in thousands of euros 2012 31/12/2012 Increases Reductions and 
reclassifications 01/01/2012

Current restructured debt 6,892 - 1,069 5,823 

Non-current restructured debt 26,634 3,535 (15,239) 38,338 

Restructured debt 33,526 3,535 (14,170) 44,161 

Amounts in thousands of euros 2011 31/12/2011 Increases Reductions and 
reclassifications 01/01/2011

Current restructured debt 5,823 - 1,165 4,658 

Non-current restructured debt 38,338 2,274 (6,717) 42,781 

Restructured debt 44,161 2,274 (5,552) 47,439 

Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Social security liabilities 116,999   85,202   

Tax liabilities 60,381   49,073   

Total tax and social security liabilities 177,380   134,275   

Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Other debts associated with external growth transactions (1) 9,527   9,253   

Unearned income 15,698   12,905   

Other items 13,526   4,455   

Total other liabilities 38,751   26,613   

(1) Cf section 1.6.3 of these notes



127

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 
FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

20

Note 4.17 – Financial instruments

The bond of €(6,459) thousand which appears under current borrowings has been the subject of a hedging instrument since 2010. 
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In € million

As at 31/12/12 Breakdown of the book value by category of instruments

Book value 
on balance

sheet
Fair value Fair value 

in income

Assets and 
liabilities held

for sale
Derivatives

Loans, accounts 
receivable and

debts at amortised
cost

Shares available for sale 1,080   1,080   - 1,080   - -

Other non-current assets 15,119   15,119   - - - 15,119   

Trade receivables and associated accoutns 244,443   244,443   - - - 244,443   

Other current assets associated with 
business operations 13,899   13,899   - - - 13,899   

Marketable securities and other current 
financial assets 11,611   11,611   11,611   - - -

Cash and cash equivalents 59,320   59,320   59,320   - - -

ASSETS 345,472   345,472   70,931   1,080   - 273,461   

Non-current borrowings and derivatives 56,876   56,876   - - 406   56,470   

Debts on non-current financial lease 
agreements 320   320   - - - 320   

Non-current restructured debt 26,634   26,634   - - - 26,634   

Current borrowings and derivatives 32,117   32,117   - - 45 32,072   

Debts on current financial lease agreements 459   459   - - - 459

Current restructured debt 6,892   6,892   - - - 6,892

Trade payables and associated accounts 65,273   65,273   - - - 65,273

Other current liabilities 38,751   38,751   - - - 38,751

LIABILITIES 227,322   227,322   - - 451 226,871

In € million

As at 31/12/11 Breakdown of the book value by category of instruments

Book value 
on balance

sheet
Fair value Fair value 

in income

Assets and 
liabilities held

for sale
Derivatives

Loans, accounts 
receivable and

debts at amortised
cost

Shares available for sale 942   942   - 942   - -

Other non-current assets 13,708   13,708   - - - 13,708   

Trade receivables and associated accoutns 101,821   101,821   - - - 101,821   

Other current assets associated with 
business operations 7,499   7,499   - - - 7,499

Marketable securities and other current 
financial assets 13,328   13,328   13,328   - - -

Cash and cash equivalents 65,776   65,776   65,776   - - -

ASSETS 203,074   203,074   79,104   942   - 123,028   

Non-current borrowings and derivatives 7,141   7,141   - - - 7,141   

Debts on non-current financial lease 
agreements 779   779   - - - 779   

Non-current restructured debt 38,338   38,338   - - - 38,338   

Current borrowings and derivatives 7,305   7,305   - - 46   7,259   

Debts on current financial lease agreements 525   525   - - - 525   

Current restructured debt 5,823   5,823   - - - 5,823   

Trade payables and associated accounts 36,109   36,109   - - - 36,109   

Other current liabilities 26,613   26,613   - - - 26,613   

LIABILITIES 122,633   122,633   - - 46   122,587   



128

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 
FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

20

In accordance with the amendment to IFRS 7, financial instruments are shown in 3 categories according to a hierarchy of methods of
determination of fair value:

⇨ Level 1 - prices quoted on an active market and similar: cash equivalents (SICAV mainly)
⇨ Level 2 - information other than the quoted prices or rates referred to in level 1, observable either directly (prices) or indirectly 

(information derived from prices): rate hedging instruments
⇨ Level 3 - information relating to the financial instruments not based on observable market information: none.

Note 5 – Notes on the consolidated statement of cash flows

Note 5.1 – items constituting net cash at year-end 

Note 5.2 – Change in working capital requirement

The change in WCR relating to MBtech corresponds to changes between the date of inclusion in the consolidation scope, i.e. 1 April
2012, and 31 December 2012.

Note 5.3 – Instances of change in consolidation scope

The impact of changes in consolidation scope corresponding to earn-outs and to acquisition prices paid in 2012 net of cash supplied
by the companies acquired.

Apart from the liquidation of SCI Les Favières, no company was removed from the consolidation scope in 2012. 

Note 5.4 – Dividends paid to shareholders in the parent company

The 2013 dividend policy has not been decided.
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Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Liquid assets 59,320   65,776   

Cash equivalents 11,611   13,328   

Net cash at year end 70,931   79,104   

Amounts in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Inventories (544) 1,038 

Trade receivables and associated accounts (44,336) (8,797)

Other accounts receivable 7,608 13,467 

Other non-current assets (12,330) (13,203)

Trade payables (2,469) 5,630 

Tax and social security liabilities 14,551 7,569 

Miscellaneous debts (excluding debts on acquisitions of fixed assets) (20,480) (3,783)

Change in working capital requirement (58,000) 1,921 

in 2012 in 2011

Amount of dividend paid (in thousands of euros) 8,684  7,618  

Dividend per share (in euro) 0.64  0.70  

Adjusted dividend per share (in euro)       (*) 0.58  0.58  

(*) After taking into account the allotment of one free share for 10 after distribution of dividends in 2012
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Note 6 – Auditors’ fees

Note 7 – Post-closing events

On 1 March 2013, the Group decided to restructure its medium-term financing through a private placement bond issue.
The amount of this issue was €100 million with a maturity of 5 years, 4 months (due date 29 June 2018) and an annual coupon 
of 4.45%.
This initiative, which is non-dilutive for the shareholders and has no impact on the Group’s net debt, was undertaken in relation to
AKKA Technologies’ change in size.

This bond issue enables AKKA:

- to secure the future of its Franco-German growth project,
- to diversify and optimise its sources of finance between banks and institutional investors,
- to refinance the acquisition of MBtech and finance the Group’s general requirements,
- to extend the average maturity of its debt under attractive market conditions,
- to increase the Group’s financial flexibility in order to pursue its growth strategy with confidence.

Note 8 – Information on related parties

Note 8.1 – Purchases and sales of goods and services

Three companies fall within the definition of related parties as defined in IAS 24:

- Idéactive Events (events organisation);
- Saône Valley (property rental);
- Dubaia9 (service provider).

As transactions with these three companies are not considered significant, they are not detailed in these notes.

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

ORFIS Baker Tilly DELOITTE

Amount excluding tax % Amount excluding tax %

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Statutory audit

Issuer (AKKA Technologies) 43  38  17.6% 19.3% 51  38  8.7% 12.7%

Fully consolidated subsidiaries 203  159  82.4% 80.7% 539  161  91.3% 53.8%

Total statutory audit 247  197  100.0% 100.0% 591  199  100.0% 66.5%

Other work

Acquisition audits - - 0.0% 0.0% - 100   0.0% 33.5%

Other work - - 0.0% 0.0% - - 0.0% 0.0%

Total other work - - 0.0% 0.0% - 100 0.0% 33.5%

TOTAL FEES 247  197  100% 100% 591  299  100% 100%
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Note 8.2 – Remuneration paid to members of management and executive bodies

In 2012 as in 2011, the composition of the management board was the same as that of the executive board.

In 2011, no free shares were allocated to members of AKKA Technologies' management and executive bodies.  

In 2012, no free shares were allocated to members of AKKA Technologies' management and executive bodies.  

Note 9 – Other information relating to risk management

The business operations of some companies in the Group are subject to checks by the fiscal authorities and social welfare bodies. Since
2005, the Group has been subject to regular checks with respect to all statements in relation to accountancy, tax (in particular corpo-
ration tax, business tax and later CVAE, grants, research tax credit, VAT, etc.) and social security (social security contributions and taxes
based on employees) in the case of its subsidiaries both in France and abroad. The checks completed in the 2012 financial year had
no significant consequences on the Group’s financial position. In addition, in the case of some companies checked, rectification 
proposals were received in July 2012. The points raised related in particular to the eligibility of certain projects which received grants
and in respect of which the additional information and answers necessary for correct understanding were provided point by point in
response to the comments made by the authorities in order to enable them to validate the Group’s position. After taking into account
the opinions of our external legal and tax advisers, we do not expect any significant future impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Amounts in thousands of euros 2012 2011

Fixed remuneration 524   725   

Variable remuneration 150   -

Attendance fees 25   None

Benefits in kind 1   4   

Fees 732   150   

Complementary pension schemes None None

TOTAL 1,431   879   
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20.4 Auditors’ report on the 2012 consolidated financial statements
In performing the task assigned to us by your General Meeting, we hereby submit our report relating to the year ended 31 December
2012 on:

- the audit of the consolidated financial statements of AKKA Technologies, as attached to this report;
- the justification for our assessments;
- the specific checks provided for by the law.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. It is our duty to provide an opinion on these 
financial statements on the basis of our audit.

I. OPINION ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of professional practice applicable in France; these standards require the
exercise of due diligence in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements do not contain any signi-
ficant anomalies. An audit consists of verifying, by sampling or other selection methods, the items justifying the figures and information
contained in the consolidated financial statements. It also involves assessing the accounting policies adopted, the significant estimates
made and the presentation of the financial statements as a whole. We believe that the items which we have examined are sufficient
and appropriate to justify our opinion. 

We hereby certify that the consolidated financial statements for the year are, with regard to the IFRS reference manual as adopted in
the European Union, in order and truthful and present an accurate picture of the assets and liabilities, financial position and profit of
the whole constituted by the persons and entities included in the consolidation.

II. JUSTIFICATION OF THE ASSESSMENTS
Pursuant to the provisions of Article L.823-9 of the French Commercial Code relating to the justification of our assessments; we hereby
draw to your attention the following:

The company systematically, at each year-end, performs an impairment test on goodwill and assets with an indefinite lifespan and also
assesses whether there is an indication of impairment in respect of long-term assets, in accordance with the methods described in
notes 2.10 and 4.2 to the financial statements. We have examined the methods of performing this impairment test, as well as the
cash flow forecasts and assumptions used, and we have verified that notes 2.10 and 4.2 provide appropriate information.

The assessments thus made are within the scope of our audit of the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and have
therefore contributed to the formation of our opinion expressed in the first section of this report.

III. SPECIFIC VERIFICATION
We also performed, in accordance with the standards of professional practice applicable in France, the specific verification, provided
for by statute, of the information relating to the Group contained in the management report. 

We have no findings to report with respect to the truthfulness thereof and consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

Villeurbanne, 23 April 2013
Statutory Auditors

ORFIS Baker Tilly S.A. Deloitte & Associés
Jean-Louis FLECHE Xavier GRA  
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20.5 AKKA Technologies 2012 annual financial statements
20.5.1 Balance Sheet  2012
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HEADINGS
Amounts in thousands of euros Gross Depreciation 

and provisions
Net 

31/12/2012
Net 

31/12/2011
SUBSCRIBED SHARE CAPITAL NOT CALLED UP
INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Set-up costs - - - -
Research and development costs - - - -
Licence, patents and similar rights 578   556   22   40   
Goodwill 15   4   11   11   
Other intangible fixed assets - - - -
Advances and prepayments on intangible fixed assets - - - -

594   560   34   51   

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Land - - - -
Constructions - - - -
Technical fittings, industrial equipment and tooling 30   30   1   1   
Other tangible fixed assets 1,085   678   407   451   
Fixed assets in progress - - - -
Advances and prepayments - - - -

1,115   708   408   452   

FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS
Equity method investments -     - - -
Other equity interests 126,381   28   126,353   78,681   
Accounts receivable associated with equity interests -     - - -
Other fixed asset securities 2,500   - 2,500   2,500   
Loans 65   20   46   28   
Other fixed asset securities 544   - 544   653   

FIXED ASSETS 131,200   1,316   129,884   82,367   
INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS
Inventories of raw materials - - - -
Inventories of work in progress - production of goods - - - -
Inventories of work in progress - production of services - - - -
Inventories of intermediate and finished products - - - -
Inventories of goods - - - -

- - - -

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Advances, prepayments on orders - - - -
Trade receivables and associated accounts 6,352   43   6,309   3,104   
Other accounts receivable 126,431   126   126,305   77,565   
Subscribed share capital called up, unpaid -     - - -

132,783   169   132,614   80,669   

LIQUID ASSETS, MISCELLANEOUS AND ACCRUALS
Marketable securities including treasury shares 11,664   - 11,664   13,127   
Liquid assets 5,992   - 5,992   625   
Pre-paid expenses 188   - 188   173   

CURRENT ASSETS 150,627   169   150,458   94,594   
Loan issue costs to be spread 650   - 650   1,088   
Bond redemption premiums -     - - -
Currency translation assets 169   - 169   165   

TOTAL 282,645   1,485   281,161   178,213   
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HEADINGS
Amounts in thousands of euros

Net 
31/12/2012

Net 
31/12/2011

NET POSITION

Share or individual capital                    including paid up 21,155   21,155   18,612   

Premiums over par value, merger premiums, contribution premiums, etc. 8,998   7,850   

Revaluation differences                        including equity method evaluation difference - -

Statutory reserve 2,098   1,906   

Statutory and contractual reserves - -

Regulated reserves - -

Other reserves 13,024   10,951   

Carry-forward - -

Profit for the year 21,279   10,949   

INVESTMENT GRANTS - -

REGULATED PROVISIONS 26   43   

EQUITY 66,580   50,310   

Income from issues of shares - -

Conditional advances - -

OTHER SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY - -

Provisions for risks 182   199   

Provisions for expenses 35   23   

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND EXPENSES 217   222   

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Convertible bonds - -

Other bonds 6,668   13,334   

Borrowings from and debts to credit institutions 45,938   85   

Borrowings and miscellaneous financial liabilities 155,172   107,221   

207,778   120,640   

ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS RECEIVED ON ORDERS IN PROGRESS

MISCELLANEOUS LIABILITIES

Trade payables and associated accounts 4,077   4,838   

Tax and social security liabilities 1,536   2,182   

Debt on fixed assets and associated accounts - -

Other liabilities 973   20   

UNEARNED INCOME - -

LIABILITIES 214,364   127,681   

Currency translation  liabilities - -

TOTAL 281,161   178,213   
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20.5.2 2012 Profit and Loss Statement
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HEADINGS Amounts in thousands of euros France Export 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Sales of goods - - - -
Production sold as merchandise - - - -
Production sold as services 10,090   6,414   16,504   13,829   
Net revenue 10,090   6,414   16,504   13,829   
Production recognised in inventories - -
Production recognised in fixed assets - -
Grants for operations 3   2   
Reversals of depreciation and provisions, transfer of expenses 876   811   
Other income - -
Total operating income 17,383   14,642   
Purchases of goods 1   2   
Change in inventories of goods - -
Purchases of raw materials and other supplies - -
Change in inventories (raw materials and other supplies) - -
Other purchases and external expenses 12,669   11,227   
Taxes, duties and similar payments 259   272   
Wages and salaries 3,034   3,111   
Social security expenses 1,320   1,375   
PROVISIONS FOR OPERATIONS
Provisions for depreciation on fixed assets 322   205   
Provisions for fixed assets 35   23   
Provisions for current assets - -
Provisions for risks and expenses - -
Other expenses 25   68   
Total operating expenses 17,665   16,281   

OPERATING PROFIT (282) (1,639)
Profit allocated or loss transferred - -
Loss sustained or profit transferred - -
Financial income from equity interests 22,388   13,157   
Income from other securities and receivables from fixed assets - 219   
Other interest and similar income 248   219   
Reversals of provisions and transfer of expenses 3   -
Positive exchange rate differences - 5   
Net income from the sale of marketable securities - -
Total financial income 22,639   13,599   
Financial allowances for depreciation and provisions 4   28   
Interest and similar expenses 2,554   1,308   
Negative exchange rate differences 1   -
Net expenses on disposals of marketable securities - -
Total financial expenses 2,559   1,336   

FINANCIAL PROFIT 20,080   12,264   
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 19,799   10,624   

Exceptional income from management transactions - -
Exceptional income from capital transactions 28   227   
Exceptional reversals of provisions and transfer of expenses 35   79   
Total exceptional income 63   306   
Exceptional expense from management transactions 5   146   
Exceptional expense from capital transactions 5   10   
Exceptional allowances for depreciation and provisions 17   12   
Total exceptional expenses 28   168   

EXCEPTIONAL PROFIT 35   138   
Employee profit sharing - -
Income tax (1,445) (187)
Total income 40,085   28,547   
Total expense 18,806   17,598   

PROFIT OR LOSS 21,279   10,949   
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20.5.3 Notes to the company financial statements as at 31 December 2012
Accounting policies and methods

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with the French Commercial Code, and with rule no. 99-03 of the Accounting
Regulation Committee of 29 April 1999, in compliance with fundamental accounting principles: 

- going concern principle,
- consistency of accounting policies year on year,
- independence as between years.

* Key events during the financial year

- On 3 April 2012, AKKA Technologies made the second payment of €6,666 thousand on its bond. 
- In April 2012, AKKA Technologies acquired 65% of the MBtech Group, a subsidiary of the DAIMLER Group. 
- In April 2012 took out a loan to finance the stake in the company MBtech.
- On 28 December 2012, repayment of the first annual instalment of €5,739 thousand on the Natixis loan (MBtech). 

* Research costs

The company has not committed to any research costs during the financial year.

* Intangible fixed assets and tangible fixed assets 

The basic method adopted for the entry and valuation of fixed assets is the historic cost method. Depreciation on tangible and intangible
fixed assets is calculated on the basis of the following rates: 

When the tax system allows, depreciation is recorded using the degressive method. However, economic depreciation is considered to
be the linear mode. The difference between the two depreciation methods is recorded under equity on balance sheet liabilities as 
  additional depreciation for tax purposes.
The basic method adopted for the entry and valuation of fixed assets is the historic cost method. Depreciation on tangible and intangible
fixed assets is calculated on the basis of the following rates: 

According to CNC notice no. 2003-E (appendix 2 § 1.1), a fixed asset must be divided up into components once the elements making
it up are significant and have this character at the time they are replaced and derecognised. From that time on, it is advisable to concen-
trate the analysis not only on elements with high unitary value, but also on those with depreciation periods that are noticeably different
from the main asset period. 

As the company has only fixed assets of low unit value or with components of relatively homogeneous lifespan, no fixed asset has
been broken down by component in respect of the year. 

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012

New goods purchased Pre-owned goods purchased

Method Period % Method Period %

Office automation software Linear 1 100 Linear 1 100

Software associated with operations (unit value less than € 23 thousand) Linear 2 50 Linear 2 50

Software associated with operations (unit value greater than € 23 thousand) Linear 3 33.33 Linear 3 33.33

Technical fittings, industrial equipment and tooling Linear 4 25 Linear 2 50

General fixtures, fittings and equipment Linear 4 to 10 25 to 10 Linear 2 50

Transport equipment Linear 4 25 Linear 2 50

Office equipment Linear 4 25 Linear 2 50

IT equipment Degressive 3 50 Linear 2 50

Furniture Linear 7 to 10 14 to 10 Linear 2 50
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Financial Fixed Assets

* Equity interests, other fixed asset securities

The gross value comprises the purchase cost excluding ancillary expenses. Where the asset value is less than the gross value, a provision
for depreciation is made for the amount of the difference.

The gross asset value is assessed based on a dual approach: 

- market value based on revenue and operating profit, as well as net profit, shareholders’ equity and employee numbers,
- value in use based on the cash flow generated on a recurrent basis.

The financial and economic crisis increased the difficulty of valuing and estimating certain assets and liabilities (in particular financial
fixed assets), and the risks associated with business developments. Management estimates were made on the basis of information
available at year-end, taking into account post-closing events and on the assumption that the crisis would be limited in duration.

* Building Campaign Loan

For 2012, the amount of contributions to the building campaign was €15,358.39.
In addition, depreciation of €3,215.81 was recognised at the year end for loans deposited with a discounting rate of 1.98%.

* Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are valued at nominal value. If necessary, accounts receivable are depreciated by means of provisions for bad debt
risks. 

* Costs of loans – expenses to be spread

The costs of the loan associated with the acquisition of MBtech are spread over 5 years.

The amount to be spread is €812 thousand and a provision of 1/5th of this amount, i.e. €162 thousand was made in the 2012
financial year.

* Changes in shareholders' equity

The changes in equity in 2012 break down as follows (figures in € thousand):
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Equity as at 31/12/2011 50,310   

Dividends paid during the 2011 financial year (8,683)

Capital increase 2,543 

Change in the premium over par value 1,148 

Change in additional depreciation for tax purposes (17)

Profit for the 2012 financial year 21,279 

Equity as at 31/12/2012 66,580   
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Share capital increased from €18,612 thousand to €21,155 thousand. Changes were as follows:

* Retirement benefits

The amount of commitments regarding retirement benefits was subject to provisions for expenses which amounted to €34,983 at
the year end.

Calculation of the amount of the commitments takes into account:

- the rights acquired by each employee under the projected unit credit method based on final salary (recommended by IAS 19),
- the possibility of retirement at age 65, taking into account staff turnover in each Group company,
- the probability of each employee reaching retirement age,
- a social security contribution rate of 45%,
- an inflation rate of 2%,
- a wage inflation rate equal to 3%,
- a discounting rate used of 2.69% (Iboxx rate AA10+).

* Provisions for risks and expenses

Obligations to third parties, whether legal, regulatory, contractual or implicit, are the subject of a provision for risks and expenses from
the point at which they exist at year-end and at which it is established that they will give rise to an outflow of resources, without an
equivalent counterpart from the third parties in question. 

A regular review of the items constituting these provisions (commercial disputes, industrial tribunal disputes, restructuring, etc.) 
is conducted to enable any readjustments considered justified.

* Marketable securities

Marketable securities are recognised at acquisition cost. Where the asset value determined by reference to the year-end closing price
is less than the acquisition cost, a provision for depreciation is recognised in respect of the difference. 

The purchase price of the marketable securities amounted to €11,533 thousand as at 31 December 2012 compared with €13,123
thousand as at 31 December 2011. These comprised €6,000 thousand of term deposits and €5,433 thousand of cash SICAVs (open-
ended collective investment schemes) whose year-end value was €5,437 thousand. The remaining €100 thousand comprised 81,229
shares belonging to AKKA Technologies whose year-end value was €1,949 thousand. 
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Number 
of shares

Par value Amount of capital

in € in €

1 January 2012 12,164,499 1.53 18,611,683.47   

Exercise of 156,901 BSAARs converted to shares (Board of Directors' meeting of 5 June 2012) 213,738 1.53 327,019.14   

Allotment of 1 free share for 10 held (Board of Directors' meeting of 5 June 2012) 1,237,823 1.53 1,893,869.19

Exercise of 15,615 BSAARs converted to shares (Board of Directors' meeting of 22 June 2012) 23,383 1.53 35,775.99   

Allotment of free shares (Board of Directors' meeting of 22 June 2012) 45,290 1.53 69,293.70   

Exercise of 5,773 BSAARs converted to shares 8,647 1.53 13,229.91   

Exercise of 11,127 BSAARs converted to shares 16,675 1.53 25,512.75   

Exercise of 1,070 BSAARs converted to shares 1,603 1.53 2,452.59   

Exercise of 6,421 BSAARs converted to shares 9,620 1.53 14,718.60   

Exercise of 70,500 BSAARs converted to shares 105,611 1.53 161,584.83   

31 December 2012 13,826,889 1.53 21,155,140.17
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Dilutive instruments

The instruments issued by AKKA Technologies having a dilutive effect are as follows:

The periods for acquisition of the free shares allotted on 6 September 2011 are as follows:

⇨ 6,050 shares have an acquisition period of 2 years,
⇨ 1,485 shares have an acquisition period of 3 years,
⇨ 1,485 shares have an acquisition period of 4 years.

These financial instruments represented 0.3% of the total number of shares in circulation at the end of 2012, compared with 3.7% at
the end of 2011.

As at the end of December 2012, there was only one option plan in operation following exercise of the BSAAR (redeemable share
subscription and/or acquisition warrants) mandatory exchange clause and the end of the stock options plan of 28 May 2004:

In accordance with the provisions of the prospectus approved by the AMF on 20 February 2008, the Group decided to activate the
BSAAR mandatory exchange clause. As a result, the bearers were able to exercise their BSAARs at an exercise price of €13.80 (giving
entitlement to 1,498 AKKA shares) or to have these BSAARs reimbursed at a price of €0.01.

* Covenants in respect of loans

As at 31 December 2012, the covenants negotiated with the banks were as follows:

MBtech loan:

When the loan was taken out, a commitment was made to comply with the following financial ratios relating to the balance sheet
structure and the ability of the business to meet due payment dates:

⇨ Leverage ratio: Net consolidated financial debt / consolidated EBITDA
- as at 30 June 2012 <3.0x
- as at 31 December 2012 <2.75x
- from 30 June 2013 < 2.5x

⇨ Gearing ratio: Net consolidated financial debt / shareholders’ equity
- as at 30 June 2012 <1.25x
- as at 31 December 2012 <1.15x
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Dilutive instruments Nomber of shares

Share subscription options issued on 14 March 2006 32,664  

Free shares allotted on 6 September 2011 9,020  

Total dilutive instruments 41,684  

Subscription options

Date of allotment by the Board of Directors 14 March 2006 

Number of options remaining 16,332   

Corresponding potential number of shares 32,664   

First possible exercise date 14 March 2007

Last possible exercise date 14 March 2014

First possible sale date 14 March 2010

Exercise price in euro (per option) € 16.15
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- as at 30 June 2013 < 1.00x
- from 31 December 2013 < 0.9x

⇨ Debt cover ratio: Consolidated free cash flow / debt service
- at least equal to 1.2x from 30 June 2012 

⇨ Capital expenditure limit
- €30 million for the Group in 2012
- 110% of the capital expenditure planned for 2012 to 2016 

As at 31 December 2012, these 4 ratios were complied with by the Group.

OBSAAR (bonds with redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants):

On 25 February 2008, AKKA Technologies launched an issue of 20,000 bonds with redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition
warrants (OBSAAR) of a nominal unit value of €1,000 amounting to a total of €20 million.

Features of BSAAR (redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants): The 420,000 BSAARs subscribed for under this issue
were non-assignable during the first 2 years and were listed for trading on the Euronext Paris market with effect from 3 April 2010.
Following a number of changes to the capital (4 allotments in 2008, 2009, 2011 and 2012 of one free share per 10 shares held and
distribution of part of the AKKA Technologies reserves), the parity was changed. 

The Group activated the BSAAR mandatory exchange clause in accordance with terms of the prospectus approved by the AMF in 2008.
There were, therefore, no BSAARs in circulation at the end of December 2012. 

Features of the bonds: The 20,000 bonds were subscribed for by banks. They are payable in three equal amounts. The first two tranches
have been paid off. The last will be paid off on 3 April 2013.

The General Meeting of bond holders on 19 July 2010 changed the calculation of the Leverage ratio. Henceforth the ratios are the 
following:

⇨ Gearing ratio, corresponding to the ratio of Gross consolidated debt/Net consolidated position, less than or equal to 1.
⇨ Leverage Ratio, corresponding to the Consolidated Gross Debts/Consolidated EBITDA ratio, less than or equal to 3 as at 31 December 

2011 and less than or equal to 2.5 as at 31 December 2012.

The ratios provided in our transaction note decrease year on year. They must also be complied with as at 30 June of every financial
year.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group complied with these two ratios. 

* Interest rate risk

⇨ On 5 July 2010, the Group signed an interest rate hedge on the 2008 OBSAARs in anticipation of the increase in the Euribor 
3-month interest rates (on which the bond is indexed).
The financial derivative instrument held as at 31 December 2012 was one SWAP contract with the following features:
SWAP at a fixed rate of 1.545 %; that is, 2.205 % after application of the 0.66 % margin up to April 2013 on the amortised 
outstanding amount of the 2008 OBSAARs.

⇨ The Group signed a number of interest rate hedging transactions relating to the loans associated with the acquisition of MBtech in 
order to fulfil its commitments to its bank partners:
- interest rate hedge signed on 2 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.715% over 

3 years for an amount of €20 million;
- interest rate hedge signed on 23 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.734% over 

3 years for an amount of €20 million;
- interest rate hedge signed on 23 May 2012: the financial derivative instrument is a SWAP contract at a fixed rate of 0.70% over 

3 years for an amount of €14 million.
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* Remuneration of members of management bodies

* Information on DIF (personal training entitlement) 

* Information on related parties 

The company conducted transactions with the following related parties as defined in IAS 24: 

- Idéactive Events (events organisation) 
- Dubaia9 (service provider)

As transactions with these companies are not considered significant, they are not detailed in these notes.

* Identity of the consolidating company

AKKA Technologies is the Group head company in the consolidation of the AKKA Group.

* Tax consolidation

A group tax consolidation has been created as from 1 January 2003. AKKA Technologies is the head company of the group under this.

The tax consolidation agreement provides that the subsidiaries will pay AKKA Technologies the amount of tax that they would have
been charged without the tax consolidation. The tax credit arising from any tax deficits for the year is recognised in the AKKA Techno-
logies financial statements. 

The net tax saving from the tax consolidation was €1,917 thousand in 2012.

* Auditors’ fees 

The amount paid in auditors’ fees for 2012 was €94,800.

* Post-closing events

On 1 March 2013, the Group decided to restructure its medium-term financing through a private placement bond issue.
The amount of this issue was €100 million with a maturity of 5 years, 4 months (due date 29 June 2018) and an annual coupon 
of 4.45%.
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Amounts in thousands of euros 2012 2011

Fixed remuneration 359 587

Variable remuneration 150 50

Attendance fees 25 None

Benefits in kind None None

Fees 150 150

Complementary pension schemes None None

TOTAL 684 787

Hours acquired as at 31/12/2011 2,054  

Hours acquired in 2012 519  

Hours taken in 2012 -

Total as at 31/12/2012 2,573  
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Fixed assets

Depreciation
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Amounts in thousands of euros Gross value at
the start of  2012

Revaluation
during 2012

Acquisitions
during 2012

Transfers 
during 2012

Disposals 
during 2012

Gross value at
the end of 2012

Set-up and development costs - - - - - -

Other intangible fixed asset items 571   - 22   - - 594   

TOTAL INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 571   - 22 - 594   

Land - - - - - -

Constructions on own land - - - - - -

Constructions on third party land - - - - - -

General fittings, structural fixtures - - - - - -

Technical fittings, industrial equipment and tooling 30   - - - - 30

General fixtures and fittings, sundry equipment 111   - - - - 111

Transport equipment 139   - - - 70 69

Office equipment and IT furniture 730   - 80 - - 810

Various recoverable packaging materials 95   - - - - 95

Tangible fixed assets in progress - - - - - -

Advances and prepayments - - - - - -

TOTAL TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 1,106   - 80 - 70 1,115   

Equity interests valued by equity method - - - - - -

Other equity interests 78,710   - 47,687   - 15 126,381   

Other fixed asset securities 2,500   - - - - 2,500   

Loans and other financial fixed assets 704   - 62   129   28   609   

TOTAL FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 81,914   - 47,749   129   43   129,491   

TOTAL 83,591   - 47,851   129   113   131,200   

Situation and changes over the year in thousands of euros Amount at the
start of 2012 Increases Reductions Amount at the

end of  2012

Set-up and development costs - - - -

Other intangible fixed asset items 520   40   - 560   

TOTAL INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 520   40   - 560   

Land - - - -

Constructions on own land - - - -

Constructions on third party land - - - -

General fittings, structural fixtures - - - -

Technical fittings, industrial equipment and tooling 29   1   - 30   

General fixtures and fittings, sundry equipment 25   11   - 37   

Transport equipment 111   21   65   68   

Office equipment and IT furniture 488   86   - 574   

Various recoverable packaging materials - - - -

TOTAL TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 653   119   65   708   

TOTAL 1,173   159   65   1,268   
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Depreciable fixed assets in thousands of euros

PROVISIONS REVERSALS Deprecia-
tion

amount at
the end 

of the year

Difference
in 

duration

Degressive
method

Exceptional
deprecia-

tion for tax
purposes

Difference
in 

duration

Degressive
method

Exceptional
deprecia-

tion for tax
purposes

Set-up and development costs - - - - - - -

Other intangible fixed asset items 12   - - 32   - - (19)

TOTAL INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 12   - - 32   - - (19)

Land - - - - - - -

Constructions on own land - - - - - - -

Constructions on third party land - - - - - - -

General fittings, structural fixtures - - - - - - -

Technical fittings, industrial equipment and tooling - - - - - - -

General fixtures and fittings, sundry equipment - - - - - - -

Transport equipment - - - - - - -

Office equipment and IT furniture - 5 - - 3 - 2

Various recoverable packaging materials - - - - - - -

TOTAL TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - 5   - - 3   - 2 

TOTAL 12   5   - 32   3   - (17)

TOTAL not broken down - - 17   - - 35   (17)

Expenses spread over several years in thousands of euros Amount at the
start of 2012 Increases Reductions Amount at the

end of 2012

Loan issue costs to be spread 1,088 (275) 162 650

Bond repayment premiums - - - -
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Provisions

Business assets
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Type of provisions

Amount at
the start 

of 
2011

Increases: Reductions Amount at
the end 

of 
2011

Provisions 
made during

the year

Used 
during 

the year

Not used 
during 

the year

Reversals 
during 

the year
Regulated provisions
Provision for reinstatement of production sites (mines, oil) - - - - - -
Provisions for capital expenditure - - - - - -
Provisions for price increases - - - - - -
Additional depreciation for tax purposes 43   17 - - 35 26
Including exceptional increases of 30% - - - - - -
Tax provisions for foreign operations (before 1.1.92) - - - - - -
Tax provisions for foreign operations (after 1.1.92) - - - - - -
Provisions for set-up loans - - - - - -
Other regulated provisions - - - - - -
TOTAL REGULATED PROVISIONS 43   17   - - 35   26   
Provisions for risks and expenses
Provisions for disputes 34   - - - 21 13
Provisions for guarantees given to clients - - - - - -
Provisions for losses on term contracts - - - - - -
Provisions for fines and penalties - - - - - -
Provisions for exchange rate losses 165   4 - - - 169
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 23   35   - - 23   35   
Provisions for taxes - - - - - -
Provisions for the renewal of fixed assets - - - - - -
Provisions for major maintenance and major refurbishments - - - - - -
Provisions for social security and tax expenses on paid holiday - - - - - -
Other provisions  - - - - - -
TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND EXPENSES 222   39   - - 44   217   
Provisions for depreciation
On intangible fixed assets - - - - - -
On tangible fixed assets - - - - - -
On investments consolidated by the equity method - - - - - -
On equity interests 28   - - - - 28
On other financial fixed assets 23   - - - 3 20
On inventories and work in progress - - - - - -
On trade receivables 43   - - - - 43
Other depreciation 126   - - - - 126
TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR DEPRECIATION 220   - - - 3   217   
TOTAL 485   57 - - 83 459

Including operating provisions and reversals of provisions 35 44
Including financial provisions and reversals of provisions 4 3

Including exceptional provisions and reversals of provisions 17 35

In € thousands Gross value at 
the start of the year Increases Reductions Gross value at the

end of the year
Lease right - - - -
Goodwill subject to legal protection - - - -
Goodwill not subject to legal protection 15 - - 15
Goodwill resulting from a statutory revaluation - - - -
Goodwill resulting from a voluntary revaluation - - - -
Other - - - -
TOTAL 15 - - 15
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Statement of accounts receivable (in thousands of euros) Gross 
amount

At up to 
1 year

At more than 
1 year

Accounts receivable associated with equity interests - - -

Loans (1) (2) 65   - 65

Other financial fixed assets 544   544   -

Doubtful or disputed trade receivables 49   49   -

Other trade receivables 6,303   6,303   -

Accounts receivable representing loaned securities - - -

Personnel and associated accounts - - -

Social security and other welfare systems 8   8 -

Income taxes 74,771   26,929   47,842   

Value added tax 766   766 -

Other taxes, duties and similar payments - - -

Miscellaneous - - -

Groups and associates (2) 50,845   50,845   -

Miscellaneous receivables 41   41 -

Pre-paid expenses 188   188 -

TOTAL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 133,580   85,673   47,907   
(1) Amount of loans granted during the year
(1) Amount of repayments received during the year
(2) Loans and advances granted to associates (natural persons)

-
-
-

Statement of accounts payable (in thousands of euros) Gross 
amount

At up to 
1 year

At more than 
1 year up to 

5 years

At more than 
5 year

Convertible bonds (1) - - - -

Other bonds (1) 6,668   6,668   - -

Borrowings from and debts to credit institutions at max. one year 45,938   11,507   34,431 -

Borrowings from and debts to credit institutions at more than one year - - - -

Borrowings and miscellaneous financial debts (1) (2) - - - -

Trade payables and associated accounts 4,077   4,077   - -

Personnel and associated accounts 643   643   - -

Social security and other welfare systems 670   670   - -

Income taxes - - - -

Value added tax 143   143   - -

Hypothecated bonds - - - -

Other taxes, duties and similar payments 79 79   - -

Debt on fixed assets and associated accounts - - - -

Groups and associates (2) 155,172   155,172   - -

Other accounts payable 973   973   - -

Debt representing borrowed securities - - - -

Unearned income - - - -

TOTAL ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 214,364   179,933   34,431 -
(1) Loans taken out during the year
(1) Loans repaid during the year
(2) Amount of borrowings and debts owed to associates

51,647 
12,405   

-
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Income to be received

Expenses to be paid
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Type of income
(accounts receivable in thousands of euros) Amount

Financial fixed assets

Accounts receivable associated with equity interests -

Other financial fixed assets 459   

Accounts receivable

Trade receivables and associated accounts 10   

Other accounts receivable 43   

Marketable securities 131   

Liquid assets -

Other -

TOTAL 642   

Type of expenses
(in thousands of euros) Amount

Convertible bonds -

Other bonds -

Borrowings from and debts to credit institutions 29   

Borrowings and miscellaneous financial debts -

Advances and prepayments received on orders in progress -

Trade payables and associated accounts 1,104   

Tax and social security liabilities 825   

Debt on fixed assets and associated accounts -

Other debts -

Other -

TOTAL 1,959   
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Pre-paid expenses and unearned income

Exceptional expenses
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Type of expenses in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Operating expenses
Supplies 31   35
Rentals + maintenance 34   77
Public relations 98   7
Recruitment costs - 22
Miscellaneous 16   24
Financial expenses
Interest / loan - -
Securities management costs 9   9
Exceptional expenses - -

TOTAL PREPAID EXPENSES 188   173   
BALANCE SHEET comparison (Balance sheet assets: 2050 heading CH) 188   173

Type of income in thousands of euros 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Operating income - -
-

Financial income - -

Exceptional income - -

TOTAL UNEARNED INCOME - -
BALANCE SHEET comparison (Balance sheet liabilities: 2051 heading EB) - -

TOTAL PREPAID EXPENSES AND UNEARNED INCOME 188   173

Type of expenses in thousands of euros Amount

Exceptional expenses on management transactions
Contract penalties -
Tax penalties and fines 1   
Gifts, donations -
Accounts receivable which became unrecoverable during the year -
Grants awarded -
Tax arrears -
Other exceptional expenses on management transactions 22   

Expenses relating to previous years

Book value of asset items sold
Intangible fixed assets -
Tangible fixed assets 5   
Financial fixed assets -
Other asset items (excluding inventories and securities) -

Other exceptional expenses
Deficits arising from indexation clauses -
Premiums -
Deficits arising from buy-back of treasury shares -
Miscellaneous exceptional expenses -

TOTAL 28   
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Exceptional income

Composition of share capital

Average workforce
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Type of income in thousands of euros Amount

Exceptional income from management transactions

Forfeits and penalties imposed on purchases and sales -

Gifts received -

Recognitions in respect of depreciated accounts receivable -

Grants for balance -

Tax reductions (other than taxes on profits) -

Other exceptional income from management transactions 35   

Income from previous years

Income from sales of asset items

Intangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 28   

Financial fixed assets

Other asset items (excluding inventories and securities)

Share of investment grants transferred to profit

Other exceptional income

Surpluses arising from indexation clauses -

Premiums -

Surpluses arising from the buy-back or sale of treasury shares -

Miscellaneous exceptional income -

TOTAL 63   

Category of shares
Number of shares

Par value
At year-end issued during 

the year
redeemed during 

the year

Ordinary shares 13,826,889   1,662,390   - € 1.53

Redeemed shares - - - -

Dividend preference shares - - - -

Preference shares - - - -

Company shares - - - -

Investment certificates - - - -

Categories
Average workforce Average available workforce Total

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Executives 37 38 - - 37   38   

Supervisors 5   3 - - 5 3

Clerks and engineers - - - - - -

Blue collar workers - - - - - -

Total 42   41   - - 42   41   
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Breakdown of revenue
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In thousands of euros

December 2012 December 2011

Profit before 
deficit 

carry-forward

Deficit 
carry-forward

Profit before 
tax Tax due Net profit Net profit

Current profit 19,799   - 19,799   460 19,339   10,206   

Exceptional short-term profit 35   - 35 12 23 92

Exceptional long-term profit - - - - - -

Profit for tax consolidation purposes - - - - - -

Employee share ownership scheme - - - - - -

Tax credits - - - (1,917) 1,917   651   

TOTAL 19,834   - 19,834   (1,445) 21,279   10,949   

Details of revenue 
in thousands of euros

December 2012 December 2011

France Export Total France Export Total

Provision of services 10,090   6,414   16,504   13,336   493   13,829   

TOTAL 10,090   6,414   16,504   13,336   493   13,829   

Impact on profit in thousands of euros Provisions Reversals Amount

Regulated provisions - - -

Provision for retirement pensions 35   23 12

ORGANIC 29   22 7

Marketable securities 4   7 (3)

Acquisition cost of equity interests 2,425   933 1,492   

Provision for construction - 6 (6)

Other provisions 2,493   991   1,502   

Carry Back - -

Training tax credit and research tax credit - -

IMPACT ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,493   991 1,502   

Impact on equity in thousands of euros Provisions Reversals Amount

IMPACT ON EQUITY RESULTING FROM REGULATED PROVISIONS - - -
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Financial commitments 

€ 9,507 thousand remains to be paid out for acquisitions after 2012 which are not recorded in the financial statements.
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Commitments made in thousands of euros Total Executive Subsidiaries Equity 
interests Affiliates Others

Endorsements: - - - - - -

Deposits

- - - - - -

Guarantees

Mbtech guarantees 39,719   - 39,719   - - -

Sahes securities - MBtech 52,795   - 52,795   - - -

Guarantee - MB Sim Technology 2,606   - 2,606   - - -

Other - - - - - -

TOTAL 95,120   - 95,120   - - -

Commitments received in thousands of euros Total Executive Subsidiaries Equity 
interests Affiliates Others

Endorsements: - - - - - -

Deposits

on earn-outs  frm - - - - - -

external growth - - - - - -

Guarantees in respect of external growth transactions 55,800   - - - - 55,800   

Other - - - - - -

TOTAL 55,800   - - - - 55,800   



150

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, 
FINANCIAL POSITION AND EARNINGS

20

Affiliates and equity interests
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Items in thousands of euros

Amount relating to

affiliates
companies in which

the company has 
an equity interest

Financial fixed assets

Advances and prepayments on fixed assets - -

Equity interests - -

Accounts receivable associated with equity interests 126,353   -

Loans - -

Accounts receivable

Advances and prepayments made on orders - -

Trade receivables and associated accounts 6,094   -

Other accounts receivable 50,719   -

Subscribed share capital called up, unpaid - -

Liabilities

Convertible bonds - -

Other bonds - -

Borrowings from and debts to credit institutions - -

Borrowings and miscellaneous financial debts - -

Advances and prepayments received on orders in progress - -

Trade payables and associated accounts 2,842   -

Other debts 155,172   -

Financial items

Income from equity interests 21,827   -

Other financial income 559   -

Financial expenses 979   -

Other

TOTAL 364,545   -
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List of subsidiaries and equity interests
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Amounts in thousands of euros

Capital

Reserves 
and 

carry-for-
ward before
allocation 
of profits

Share of 
capital 
held 

(in %)

Book value of 
shares held

Pre-tax 
revenue 

for the last 
financial 

year

Profit 
(or loss) 

for the last 
financial 

year 

Dividends 
received by

the company
during 

the yearCompanies Gross Net

AKKA DEVELOPMENT SAS 240   3,682 100.00% 229   229   8,843   3,112 -

AKKA MANAGER SARL 39   62 100.00% 39   39   2,858   (41) 7

CASCIOPE SAS 100   154 100.00% 200 200   1,092   (101) -

MBTECH GROUP 300   47,260 65.00% 47,621   47,621   268,375   (375) -

MBTECH VERWALTUNGS 25   (1) 65.00% 26 26 - 3 -

AKKA INGENIERIE PRODUIT SAS 976   9,671   100.00% 14,360   14,360   127,954   4,019 6,500   

AKKA SWITZERLAND  83   1,447   100.00% 1,588   1,588   4,879   114 -

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES MAROC 34   634   80.00% 180   180   2,231   315 -

AKKA INGENIERIE PROCESS SAS 101   5,430   100.00% 1,499   1,499   80,711   2,513 1,500   

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES INDIA (1) 1   (4) 100.00% 1 - - - -

IDEACTIVE FORMATION 8   197 100.00% 500   500   359   10 85

AKKA MIDDLE EAST 21   (123) 50.00% 11 11 3,952   468 -

AKKA TRANS AFRICA 20   193 60.00% 12 12 2,428   261 -

AKKA SERVICES SAS 1,299   2,678 100.00% 12,785   12,785   32,286   2,500 3,735   

GEPILOG SAS 40   686 100.00% 3,843   3,843   - 108 -

REAL FUSIO 40   292 51.00% 620   620   1,594   (17) -

AKKA I&S SA 26,000   12,222 100.00% 8,955   8,955   134,723   7,006 5,900   

AEROCONSEIL 6,000   28,161 100.00% 30,081   30,081   87,029   11,046 3,600   

AKKA INFORMATIQUE ET SYSTEMES SAS 990   3,597 25.00% 3,202   3,202   80,027   3,226 500   

ERDIMAT SAS 459   1,017 100.00% 544 544   - 8 -

CRDTA 37   (1,782) 100.00% 24 - - (447) -

AKKA IMMO 3   (1) 100.00% 3 - - (1) -

EKIS SAS 1,952   (1,300) 100.00% 58 58   102   478 -

(1) Figures as at 31 March 2012
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20.5.4 General auditors’ report – year ended 31 December 2012
In performing the task assigned to us by your General Meeting, we hereby submit our report relating to the year ended 31 December
2012 on:

- the audit of the annual financial statements of AKKA TECHNOLOGIES, as attached to this report;
- the justification for our assessments;
- the specific checks and information provided for by law.

The annual financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. It is our duty to provide an opinion on these financial
statements on the basis of our audit.

I. OPINION ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of professional practice applicable in France; these standards require the
exercise of due diligence in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the annual financial statements do not contain any significant
anomalies. An audit consists of verifying, by sampling or other selection methods, the items justifying the figures and information
contained in the annual financial statements. It also involves assessing the accounting policies adopted, the significant estimates made
and the presentation of the financial statements as a whole. We believe that the items which we have examined are sufficient and 
appropriate to justify our opinion.

We hereby certify that the annual financial statements are, with regard to French accounting rules and principles, in order and truthful
and present an accurate picture of the operating profit for the past financial year and the financial position and assets and liabilities
of the company at the end of such financial year.

II. JUSTIFICATION OF THE ASSESSMENTS
Pursuant to the provisions of Article L.823-9 of the Commercial Code relating to the justification of our assessments; we hereby draw
to your attention the following:

The note “Accounting policies and methods – equity interests, other fixed asset securities” in the notes describes the method of assessing
the asset value of equity interests. Our work involved assessing the information and assumptions on which these estimates are based
and reviewing the calculations made by the company. Based on this, we assessed the extent to which these estimates are reasonable.

The assessments thus made are within the scope of our audit of the annual financial statements, taken as a whole, and have therefore
contributed to the formation of our opinion expressed in the first section of this report.

III. SPECIFIC VERIFICATIONS AND INFORMATION
We also performed, in accordance with the standards of professional practice applicable in France, the specific verifications, provided
for by statute.

We have no findings to report with respect to truthfulness and consistency with the annual financial statements of the information
provided in the management report of the Board of Directors and the documents addressed to shareholders with respect to the
financial position and annual financial statements.

With regard to the information supplied pursuant to the provisions of Article L.225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code concerning
the remuneration and benefits paid to company officers and the commitments made in their favour, we have verified the consistency
thereof with the financial statements or with the information used to prepare these financial statements and, if applicable, with the
items obtained by your company from companies controlling your company or controlled by it. On the basis of this work, we hereby
attest to the accuracy and truthfulness of this information.
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Under the terms of the law, we are satisfied that the various items of information relating to the taking of equity interests and control
and the identity of the holders of capital and voting rights have been communicated to you in the management report.

Villeurbanne, 23 April 2013
Statutory Auditors

ORFIS Baker Tilly S.A. Deloitte & Associés
Jean-Louis FLECHE Xavier GRA  
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20.5.5 Special auditors’ report on related party agreements
To the shareholders,

In our capacity as auditors of your company, we hereby submit our report on the related party agreements and commitments.

It is our duty to inform you, based on the information supplied to us, of the essential features and provisions of the agreements and
commitments of which we have been advised or which we have uncovered during our work, without having to express an opinion on
their utility and merits, or to seek out the existence of other agreements and commitments.

It is your duty, under the terms of Article L. 225-31 of the French Commercial Code, to assess the value of concluding such agreements
and commitments with a view to approval thereof.

In addition, it is our duty, if applicable, to inform you of the information specified in Article L.225-31 of the French Commercial 
Code relating to the performance, during the past financial year, of agreements and commitments already approved by the General
Meeting.

In performing this task, we applied the due diligence which we deemed necessary with regard to the professional code of the National
Company of Auditors. Such due diligence consisted in verifying the consistency of the information supplied to us with the basic 
documents from which it came.

AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS SUBMITTED FOR THE APPROVAL OF THE GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article L.225-40 of the French Commercial Code, we have been advised of the following agreements and undertakings
which have been subject to prior approval by your Board of Directors. 

With the company SCI STANDING COURCELLES

Person concerned: Maurice RICCI

Nature and purpose: The Board of Directors meeting on 25 January 2012 authorised the rental of a 198 m2 furnished apartment in
Paris for use as company accommodation.

Terms: The rental is for a 6 year term from 1 January 2012 at a monthly rent of €16,666 reviewable annually. The rental expense for
the 2012 financial year was €200,000 excluding tax.

With the company BMC MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT

Person concerned: Maurice RICCI

Nature and purpose: The Board of Directors meeting on 30 August 2012 authorised the provision of services corresponding to 
commercial, strategic, administrative and relationship management duties in the context of the Group’s development.

Terms: Payment of an annual fee of €642,000. The amount charged to expenses in respect of the 2012 financial year was €187,250
excluding tax.

AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS ALREADY APPROVED BY THE GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article R.225-30 of the French Commercial Code, we have been informed that the execution of the following agreements
and commitments, already approved by the General Meeting during previous financial years, continued during the lasts financial year.
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With the company AMF Investisseurs

Person concerned: Alain TISSERAND

Nature: Agreement on the provision of support and services dated 30 April 2002, concluded with AMF Investisseurs and transferred
to the company AMF Investisseurs SARL.

The aforementioned agreement is continuing according to the authorisation terms given the Board of Directors dated 23 November
2010, specifying annual invoicing of 150,600 euro before tax for 8 days of monthly services provided by Alain Tisserand, as well as the
provision by persons other than Alain Tisserand of additional administrative, office and marketing support services for a monthly
amount of €3,300 before tax (corresponding to 12.5 days of services per month).

As amendment no. 6 includes a material error in the annual amount of additional services (33,600 euro instead of 39,600 euro before
tax), the Board of Directors of 5 September 2011 authorised the signing of an amendment (amendment no. 7) rectifying this error
and also modifying the annual contract expiry date (31 December).

Amount of sums paid during the last financial year: The amount charged to expenses in respect of the 2012 financial year under this
agreement was €189,600 excluding tax.

With the company DUBAIA9 SAS

Person concerned: Maurice RICCI

Nature: Service agreement corresponding to the duties of the Finance, Human Resources and Corporate Affairs Departments concluded
with the company DUBAIA9 SAS.

The amount invoiced for this agreement corresponds to the costs actually undertaken by DUBAIA9 SAS, plus a margin of 15%.

Amount of sums paid during the last financial year: The amount recorded under expenses as at 31 December 2012 under this agreement
amounted to €44,000 excluding before tax.

Villeurbanne, 23 April 2013
Statutory Auditors

ORFIS Baker Tilly S.A. Deloitte & Associés
Jean-Louis FLECHE Xavier GRA  
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20.6 Dividend distribution policy
Dividends paid during the last 5 financial years

The table below shows the dividends (in euros) per share, distributed during the last five financial years.

The table below shows the dividends (in euros) per share, distributed during the last five financial years and adjusted by the transactions
carried out on share capital:

⇨ Allocation of one free share per 10 held,
⇨ Division of par value by 2,
⇨ Dividend distribution on reserves.

The dividends per share are therefore at number of comparable shares: i.e. 12,826,889 shares in circulation as at 31 December 2012. 

Distribution policy

The Group cannot guarantee the amount of dividend which may be paid. It is, however, envisaged that a dividend corresponding to
a range between 20% and 30% of the net consolidated profit (Group share) will be distributed, subject to the analysis, in respect of
each financial year, of the company’s profits, financial position and any other factor considered relevant by the Board of Directors. 

Limitation period

Dividends not claimed are time barred for the benefit of the State after a period of 5 years with effect from the date on which they
were due for payment. 

20.7 Judicial and arbitration proceedings
As far as the company is aware, there were no government, judicial or arbitration proceedings (including any proceedings of which
the Group is aware which are suspended or threatened) which could have had or have recently had significant effects on the financial
position or the profitability of the company AKKA Technologies and/or the AKKA Technologies Group.

The debt restructuring plan of the company AKKA I&S approved by a ruling of the Paris Commercial Court on 4 September 2007 is
mentioned here solely insofar as it continues and the sixth annual payment under the plan will be made in accordance with the terms
of the said ruling.

20.8 Significant change in the financial or commercial position since the end of
the last financial year
Not applicable.
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2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 (1)

Dividend per share 0.52 0.34 0.70 0.64 0.64

Amount of dividends distributed 5,039,821 3,654,589 7,618,288 8,683,066 9,734,129

(1) Divided proposed to the General Meeting of shareholders on 11 June 2013

2008 (2) 2009 (2) 2010 (2) 2011 (2) 2012 (1)

Dividend per share 0.39 0.28 0.58 0.58 0.64

Amount of dividends distributed 5,039,821 3,654,589 7,618,288 8,683,066 9,734,129
(1) Dividend proposed to the General Meeting of shareholders on 11 June 2013
(2) On a comparable number of shares (i.e. after restatement of the 3 allotments of one free share per ten held in 2009, 2011 and 2012)
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21.1 Share capital
21.1.1 Information relating to the subscribed capital
At the end of December 2012, the share capital is TWENTY-ONE MILLION ONE HUNDRED AND FIFTY-FIVE THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED
AND FORTY EUROS AND SEVENTEEN CENTS (€21,155,140.17), divided into THIRTEEN MILLION EIGHT HUNDRED AND TWENTY-SIX
THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED AND EIGHTY-NINE (13,826,889) shares of €1.53 par value each.

Capital authorised but not issued

Status of authorisations given to the Board of Directors:   

21 - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Date of 
the General 

Meeting

Subject of the authorisation 
given  to the Board of 

Directors

Term 
of 

delegation
End date

Use during 
the 2012 

financial year

14/06/2011
Increase in capital with maintenance of preferential 

subscription right 
L 225-129-2 and L 228-92

26 months Expires 
on 13 August 2013 None

14/06/2011
Increase in capital with suppression of preferential 

subscription right 
L 225-129-2, L 225-135 and L 228-92

26 months Expires 
on 13 August 2013 None

14/06/2011
Increase in capital with suppression of preferential 

subscription right for the benefit of a category of persons
L 225-129-2, L 225-135 and L 228-92

26 months Expires 
on 13 August 2013 None

14/06/2011
Increase in capital with a view to remuneration 

of contributions in kind 
L 225-147

26 months Expires 
on 13 August 2013 None

14/06/2011

Increase in capital by capitalisation of reserves, 
profits, premiums in the form of free share 

allotments increase in par value 
L 225-129-2

26 months Expires 
on 13 August 2013 None

14/06/2011
Increase in capital reserved for employees

L 225-129-6 and L 225-138-1 of the French Commercial 
Code and L 3332-18 ff. of the French Employment Code

26 months Expires 
on 13 August 2013 None

14/06/2011 Share purchase options
L 225 -177 ff. 26 months Expires 

on 13 August 2013 None

14/06/2011 Share subscription options
L 225 -177 ff. 26 months Expires 

on 13 August 2013 None

14/06/2011 Potential adjustment to a share issue 26 months Expires 
on 13 August 2013 None

05/06/2012 Authorisation to trade in the company’s shares
L225-209 18 months Expires 

on 4 December 2013 Liquidity contract

05/06/2012 Cancellation of treasury shares
L 225 -209 24 months Expires 

on 4 june 2014 Liquidity contract

05/06/2012 Allotment of free shares
L 225-197-1 38 months Expires 

on 4 August 2015
Board Meeting of 22.06.2012

45,290 shares allotted

05/06/2012
Issue of bonds enabling shareholders to subscribe for new
shares on preferential terms during a public offer period

L 233-32 II L233-33
18 months Expires 

on 4 December 2013 None
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Changes in capital and in the voting rights attached to the shares

Any changes in capital or in the voting rights attached to the shares of which it is comprised are subject to the provisions of the law,
as the articles of association do not contain any specific provisions. A comparison of the number of shares in circulation at the start
and end of the 2010 and 2012 financial years is contained in the 2012 consolidated financial statements in section 20.3.6 above.

Acquisition by the company of its own shares

The Extraordinary General Meeting of 28 February 2005 authorised the Board of Directors to trade in the company’s shares, in 
accordance with the provisions of Article L 225-209 of the French Commercial Code, for a period of eighteen months from the date
of admission of the company’s shares to listing on a regulated market.

At its meeting on 14 April 2005, the Board of Directors decided to make use of the authorisation granted by the General Meeting of
28 February 2005 in order to trade in the company’s shares. This share buy-back programme was approved by the AMF (French
Financial Markets Authority) on 26 April 2005 under number 05-304.

The Board of Directors’ authorisation to trade in the company’s shares was subsequently renewed for a term of eighteen months in
each case, by the Extraordinary General Meetings of 20 June 2006, 28 June 2007, 24 June 2008, 23 June 2009, 22 June 2010 and 
14 June 2011, in accordance with the provisions of Article L 225-209 of the French Commercial Code.

The Extraordinary General Meeting of 14 June 2011 renewed the Board of Directors’ authorisation to trade in the company’s shares,
in accordance with the provisions of Article L 225-209 of the French Commercial Code, for a term of eighteen months or until the date
of its renewal by the Ordinary General Meeting.

Shares concerned: ordinary shares (ISIN code FR0004180537).

21.1.2 Shares not representing equity  
Not applicable, with the exception of the OBSAARs described below (see note 21.1.5).

21.1.3 Treasury shares
As at 31 December 2012, AKKA Technologies and its subsidiaries owned 3,797 treasury shares under its share buy-back programme
and 78,235 outside this programme. The Group management report in section 9.1 of this Registration Document contains details of
the treasury shares.

21.1.4 Potential equity
The company’s potential equity as at 31 December 2012 amounted to 41,684 shares which came from the exercise of share subscription
options and issue of free shares. As at such date, the total potential dilution represented 0.3% of the equity. A table summarising the
various schemes is contained in note 4.11 to the consolidated financial statements in section 20.3.6 above.

21.1.5 Other shares giving entitlement to the equity
On 3 April 2008, AKKA Technologies issued 20,000 bonds with redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants (OBSAARs)
of a nominal value of 1,000 euro amounting to a total of 20 million euro.

The issue was made with maintenance of the shareholders’ preferential subscription right.

From the portion of the 420,000 BSAARs issued and not subscribed for by AKKA Technologies’ main shareholders, the Group was also
able to give its directors and key executives a stake in its success and to secure their loyalty.

The Company decided to proceed with early repayment of the BSAARs with effect from 30 November 2012 (publication in the BALO
(Bulletin of Mandatory Legal Announcements) of 19 October 2012) (cf. note 4.11 of the 2012 consolidated financial statements).

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES - Annual Financial Report 2012



159

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

21

21.1.6 Pledges, registrations, guarantees 
As at the date of filing of this report, the company is not aware of any pledges and other sureties relating to the shares registered as
registered shares.

21.1.7 Information on the equity of all members of a group which is the subject of an option or of
a conditional or unconditional agreement providing for it to be placed under option
Not applicable.

21.1.8 Table showing the change in the company’s equity over the last five years
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Date of meeting Transaction

Number 
of 

shares 
issued

Par valoue 
of 

the shares 
in €

Nominal
amount 

of increase 
in capital 

in €

Contribution
or merger
premium 
over par

value

Cumulative
amount 

of 
capital 

in € 

Cumulative
num ber 
of shares

General Meeting 24
June 2008

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
858,129   1.53 1,312,937   - 14,442,320   9,439,425   

Board of 
Directors' meeting 
6 July 2008

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
26,320   1.53 40,270   - 14,482,590   9,465,745   

Board of 
Directors' meeting 
18 July 2008

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
185,726   1.53 284,161   - 14,766,751   9,651,471   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
10 October 2008

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
25,604   1.53 39,176   - 14,805,926   9,677,076   

Board of 
Directors' meeting 
5 March 2009

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
104,600   1.53 160,038   - 14,965,954   9,781,676   

General Meeting 
23 June 2009

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
978,168   1.53 1,496,597   - 16,462,561   10,759,844   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
12 October 2009

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
85,000   1.53 130,050   - 16,592,611   10,844,844   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
22 June 2010

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
2,199   1.53 3,364   - 16,595,976   10,847,043   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
23 November 2010

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
35,863   1.53 54,870   - 16,650,846   10,882,906   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
31 March 2011

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
2,000   1.53 3,060   - 16,653,906   10,884,906   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
31 March 2011

Exercise of 2,899 BSAARs 3,591   1.53 5,494   - 16,659,400   10,888,497   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
31 March 2011

Capital increase following exercise 
of stock options 18,332   1.53 28,048   - 16,687,448   10,906,829   
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Extracts from the articles of association relating to the equity:

- following the decision of the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 24 June 2008, the share capital was increased by 
€1,312,937.37 by capitalisation of the premium over par value and the creation of 858,129 shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 06 July 2008 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting of 
28 February 2005, the share capital was increased by €40,269.60 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” account 
and the creation of 26,320 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 18 July 2008 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting of 
28 February 2005, the share capital was increased by €284,160.78 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” account 
and the creation of 185,726 new shares of par value €1.53.

- the Board of Directors meeting of 10 October 2008 approved two increases in share capital amounting to a total of €39,175.62. 

- "following the decision of the Board of Directors of 05 March 2009 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 28 June 2007, the share capital was increased by €160,038 euro by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” 
account and the creation of 104,600 new shares of par value €1.53.
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Board of 
Directors' meeting
14 June 2011

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
35,844   1.53 54,841   - 16,742,289   10,942,673   

Board of 
Directors' meeting 
7 July 2011

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
1,120,511   1.53 1,714,382   - 18,456,671   12,063,184   

Board of 
Directors' meeting 
5 September 2011

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
91,256   1.53 139,622   - 18,596,293   12,154,440   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
25 November 2011

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
9,317   1.53 14,255   - 18,610,548   12,163,757   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
25 November 2011

Exercise of 544 BSAARs 742   1.53 1,135   - 18,611,683   12,164,499   

Board of 
Directors' meeting 
5 June 2012

Exercise of 156,901 BSAARs 213,738   1.53 327,019   - 18,938,703   12,378,237   

Board of 
Directors' meeting 
5 June 2012

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
1,237,823   1.53 1,893,869   - 20,832,572   13,616,060   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
22 June 2012

Exercise of 15,615 BSAARs 23,383   1.53 35,776   - 20,868,348   13,639,443   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
22 June 2012

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
10,527   1.53 16,106   - 20,884,454   13,649,970   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
22 June 2012

Capital increase by capitalisation of 
amounts from the "premium over 

par value" account
34,763   1.53 53,187   - 20,937,641   13,684,733   

Board of 
Directors' meeting
28 March 2013

Exercise of 94,891 BSAARs 142,156   1.53 217,499   - 21,155,140   13,826,889   

Cf. 21.1.1 on the changes in share capital which occurred in the 1st quarter of 2013.
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- following the decision of the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 23 June 2009, the share capital was increased by 
€1,496,957.04 by incorporating the premium over par value and the creation of 978,168 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 12 October 2009 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 28 June 2007, the share capital was increased by €130,050 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” account 
and the creation of 85,000 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 22 June 2010 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 23 June 2009, the share capital was increased by the sum of €3,167.10 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” 
account and the creation of 2,070 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 22 June 2010 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 23 June 2009, the share capital was increased by €197.37 by exercise of 105 BSAARs and creation of 2,070 new shares paid up 
in cash and of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 23 November 2010 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General 
Meeting of 23 June 2009, the equity was increased by €9,945 by capitalisation of sums from the “premium over par value” account 
and the creation of 6,500 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 23 November 2010 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General 
Meeting of 23 June 2009, the share capital was increased by €44 925,39 by exercise of 23,721 BSAARs and creation of 29,363 new 
shares paid up in cash and of par value €1.53.

- "following the decision of the Board of Directors of 31 March 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 23 June 2009, the share capital was increased by the sum of €3,060 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” 
account and the creation of 2,000 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 31 March 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 23 June 2009, the share capital was increased by €5,494.23 by the exercise of 2,899 BSAARs and creation of 3,591 new shares 
paid up in cash and of par value €1.53.

- the Board of Directors meeting of 31 March 2011 approved an increase in equity of €28,047.96 by the exercise of  9,166 options 
and creation of 18,332 new shares paid up in cash and of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 14 June 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by the sum of €54,841.32 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par 
value” account and the creation of 35,844 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 07 July 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting of 
14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by the sum of €36,502.74 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” 
account and the creation of 23,858 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 07 July 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting of 
14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by the sum of €1,677,879.09 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par 
value” account and the creation of 1,096,653 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 05 September 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General 
Meeting of 14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by the sum of €130,986.36 by incorporating sums from the “premium 
over par value” account and the creation of 85,612 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 5 September 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General 
Meeting of 14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by the sum of €8,298.72 by incorporating sums from the “premium over 
par value” account and the creation of 5,424 new shares of par value €1.53.
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- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 5 September 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General 
Meeting of 14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by the sum of €336.60 by incorporating sums from the “premium over 
par value” account and the creation of 220 new shares of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 25 November 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General 
Meeting of 23 June 2009, the share capital was increased by the sum of €14,255.01 by incorporating sums from the “premium 
over par value” account and the creation of 9,317 new shares of par value €1.53. 

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 25 November 2011 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General 
Meeting of 14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by €1,135.26 by the exercise of 544 BSAARs and the creation of 742 new 
shares paid up in cash and of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 5 June 2012 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting of 
14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by €327,019.14 by the exercise of 156,901 BSAARs and the creation of 213,738 new 
shares paid up in cash and of par value €1.53. 

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 5 June 2012 adjusting, in order to take into account the shares issued between 
25 November 2011 and 31 May 2012 on the exercise of the BSAARs, the increase in share capital decided by the Extraordinary 
General Meeting of 5 June 2012 relating to the allotment of one new share for ten existing shares, the share capital was increased 
by €1,893,869.19 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” account and the creation of 1,237,823 new shares 
paid of par value €1.53. 

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 22 June 2012 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by €35,775.99 by the exercise of 15,615 BSAARs and the creation of 23,383 new 
shares paid up in cash and of par value €1.53. 

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 22 June 2012 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 5 June 2012, the share capital was increased by €16,106.31 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” account 
and the creation of 10,527 new shares paid of par value €1.53.

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 22 June 2012 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 5 June 2012, the share capital was increased by €53,187.39 by incorporating sums from the “premium over par value” account 
and the creation of 34,763 new shares paid of par value €1.53. 

- following the decision of the Board of Directors of 28 March 2013 and in accordance with the authorisation of the General Meeting 
of 14 June 2011, the share capital was increased by €217,498.68 by the exercise of 94,891 BSAARs and the creation of 142,156 
new shares paid up in cash and of par value €1.53. 

21.2 Memorandum and articles of association
21.2.1 Objects of the company (article 2 of the articles of association)

The objects of the company are:

- the acquisition, administration and management of a portfolio of securities and company shares,
- the taking of equity interests in any industrial, commercial and/or service company, the creation and/or acquisition of any business 

interests or branches of business in the work flow management field, in particular the design, study and production of industrial 
automation equipment and systems,

- the control and co-ordination of any company and in particular for the execution of all mandates for management and control and 
for all commercial, administrative, information technology and other services, and employee training and management and financial 
consultancy,
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- the trading and supply of all products and items useful or necessary for the operation of the companies with which it has a business 
relationship,

- the taking out, filing and commercialisation of patents and trademarks,
- the contribution of technology and the development of technical know-how,
- the provisions of services of all types, in particular engineering, consultancy, support and organisation for industrial, commercial and 

service companies,
- the training of all persons in all fields,
- the organisation of events of all types,
- participation by the company, by all means, directly or indirectly, in all transactions which may be associated with its objects by way 

of formation of new companies, contribution, subscription or purchase of company shares or rights, by merger or otherwise, by 
creation, acquisition, rental, leasing of all business assets or premises; the taking out, acquisition, commercialisation or assignment 
of all procedures and patents relating to such activities.

And generally, all industrial, commercial, financial, civil, fixed or movable property transactions which may be associated directly or 
indirectly with the company’s objects or any similar or related objects.

21.2.2 Board of Directors (article 15 of the articles of association)
The company is managed by a Board of Directors comprising at least three and not more than eighteen members, subject to the 
exception provided for by law in the event of merger.

During the existence of the company, the directors are appointed or have their mandate renewed or revoked by the Ordinary General
Meeting. They are always eligible for re-appointment.

The directors’ term office is three years; it ends at the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened to approve the financial statements
for the past financial year and held during the year in which their mandate expires.

No one can be appointed as a Director if, having passed the age of eighty, his or her appointment has the effect of bringing the
number of directors who have passed such age to more than one third of the number of Board members. If this limit is exceeded, the
oldest director is deemed to have resigned his post.

No one can be appointed as a Director if he or she is also a major shareholder and/or director and/or executive officer and/or manager
of an entity which has a business operation which is in direct or indirect competition with that of the AKKA Technologies Group.

If, while occupying a post on the Board of Directors, a Director becomes a major shareholder and/or director and/or executive officer
and/or manager of an entity which has, in fact and in law, a business operation which is in direct or indirect competition with that of
the AKKA Technologies group, he/she undertakes, before taking any equity interest and/or accepting an office in such entity, to notify
the Board of Directors thereof and it shall decide alone on whether he/she shall continue or relinquish his/her post.”

Directors may be natural persons or legal entities. In the latter case, they must on appointment nominate a permanent representative,
subject to the same conditions and obligations and having the same liability as if he were a director in his own right, without prejudice
to the joint liability of the legal entity which he represents.

In the event of vacancy of one or more directors’ posts, the Board of Directors may, between two General Meetings, make temporary
appointments pursuant to Article L. 225-24 of the French Commercial Code. The director appointed as a replacement shall fulfil his
role for the remaining term of his/her predecessor’s mandate.

An employee of the company may not be appointed a director unless his/her employment contract corresponds to an actual position.
The number of Directors linked to the company by an employment contract may not exceed one third of the Directors in post.
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21.2.3 Rights and obligations attached to the shares (articles 12 and 13 of the articles of association)
Each share gives entitlement to a share of the profits, company assets and surplus on liquidation proportional to the share of the
equity it represents. It also gives entitlement to vote and to representation at the General Meetings, and entitlement to be informed
on the progress of the company and to receive certain company documents at the times and on the terms provided by law and by the
articles of association.

A double voting right is allotted to all fully paid up shares registered for at least four years as registered shares in the name of the same
shareholder as at 31 December of the year immediately past.

In the case of a capital increase by capitalisation of reserves, profits or premiums over par, the double voting right will be granted, 
on issue, to the new shares allotted to a shareholder on the basis of existing shares in respect of which he already enjoys this double
voting right.

Any shares converted to bearer shares or subject to a transfer of title lose this double voting right. Transfer by inheritance, by liquidation
of common property between spouses or by gift inter vivos in favour of a spouse or relative entitled to inherit does not, however,
cause loss of the acquired right or interruption to the four-year period.

Shareholders shall be entitled to waive their double voting right individually, temporarily or permanently. This waiver shall not be 
enforceable with respect to the company or the other shareholders unless notified to the company by registered letter with advice of
receipt at least three working days before the date of the Meeting in respect of which the shareholder intends to waive his double
voting right.

21.2.4 Procedures necessary to modify shareholders’ rights
Shareholders’ rights may only be modified, on the terms and conditions specified by law, by an Extraordinary General Meeting, in 
accordance with the quorum and majority conditions specified in the French Commercial Code.

The articles of association do not contain any more restrictive provisions. 

21.2.5 General Meetings

Convening of Meetings (article 26 of the articles of association)
General Meetings are convened by the Board of Directors or by the Auditors or by an official appointed by the court in accordance
with the terms of the law and regulations in force. In addition, the works council represented by one of its members nominated 
for this purpose may, in accordance with the terms of Article L. 432-6-1 of the French Employment Code, ask the President of 
the Commercial Court, ruling in interlocutory proceedings, to appoint a court representative charged with convening the shareholders’
Meeting.

Meetings are held at the registered office or any other location specified in the notice.

Notices and letters convening the meeting must contain the information specified by law.

Attendance at Meetings (article 28 of the articles of association)
All shareholders are entitled to attend General Meetings and to take part in the deliberations in person or through a proxy, on simple
proof of identity.

Attendance at General Meetings, in whatever form, is subject to registration of the shares on the terms and within the time specified
in the regulations in force.

Any shareholder may also participate in the Meeting by video conference or teleconference, on the terms specified in the regulations
in force.
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A shareholder may only be represented by another shareholder, by his spouse or by the partner with whom he has concluded a civil
partnership agreement. He may also be represented, within the terms specified by law, by any other natural person or legal entity of
his choice where the company’s shares are admitted for negotiation on a regulated market or multilateral negotiation system included
on a list drawn up by the AMF. The proxy must provide proof of appointment.

The legal representatives of shareholders who are legally incapable and the natural persons representing legal entities which are 
shareholders may attend Meetings whether or not they are shareholders.

Any shareholder may vote by means of postal voting form completed and addressed to the company on the terms and within the time
specified by law and in the regulations.

Two members of the works council, appointed by the committee on the terms specified by law, may attend the General Meetings. 
At their request, they must be heard in all deliberations requiring shareholder unanimity.

The next Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of AKKA Technologies will be held on 11 June 2013 in Lyon.

Agenda

As a preliminary point and within the competence of the Extraordinary General Meeting:

- Increase in share capital by capitalisation of sums from the “premium over par value” account, by the creation of shares allotted to 
shareholders on the basis of one share per ten existing shares.

Within the competence of the Ordinary General Meeting:

- Management and Group report prepared by the Board of Directors;
- Auditors’ report on the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 and on the consolidated financial statements;
- Special report from the Chairman of the Board of Directors on internal control procedures carried out pursuant to the provisions 

of article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code;
- Special report of the Auditors stating their opinion on the report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors;
- Approval of the end-of-year financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012, the consolidated financial statements and

discharge of the directors;
- Approval of non-deductible expenses;
- Allocation of the profit for the year;
- Special report of the Auditors on the agreements covered by Articles L.225-38 ff. of the French Commercial Code and approval 

of such agreements;
- Decision on an envelope of €100,000 per annum for the remuneration of directors for the current financial year;
- Renewal of the appointment of Mr Jean-Franck RICCI as director;
- Renewal of the appointment of Mr Alain TISSERAND as director;
- Authorisation to trade in treasury shares on the stock market.

Within the competence of the Extraordinary General Meeting:

- Authorisation to the Board of Directors to reduce the share capital by cancelling shares;
- Delegation to be given to the Board of Directors with a view to increasing the share capital in the public offer period by issue of 

warrants subject to the provisions of Article L233-32 II of the French Commercial Code;
- Delegation of authority to the Board of Directors to issue ordinary shares or any type of securities giving access to the share capital 

with maintenance of the shareholders’ preferential subscription right;
- Delegation of authority to the Board of Directors to issue by public offer ordinary shares or any type of securities giving access to the 

share capital with suppression of the preferential subscription right;
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- Delegation of authority to the Board of Directors to issue by private placement ordinary shares or any type of securities giving access 
to the share capital with suppression of the preferential subscription right;

- Authorisation to the Board of Directors, in the case of issue of ordinary shares or securities giving access to the share capital with 
suppression of the shareholders’ preferential subscription right, to set the issue price in accordance with the terms set by the General 
Meeting within the limit of 10% of the Company’s share capital;

- Delegation to be given to the Board of Directors with a view to potential adjustment to a share issue;
- Delegation of authority to the Board of Directors to issue equity shares or securities giving access to the Company’s share capital as 

remuneration by way of contributions in kind;
- Delegation of authority to the Board of Directors to increase the share capital by incorporating reserves, profits or premiums;
- Authorisation to the Board of Directors to grant share subscription options;
- Authorisation to the Board of Directors to grant share purchase options;
- Delegation of authority to the Board of Directors to issue Company shares for the benefit of members of a company savings scheme.

Within the competence of the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting

- Powers for completing formalities.

21.2.6 Provisions having the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control 

Article 15 of the articles of associations

The General Meeting of 24 June 2008, under its twelfth resolution, modified the company’s articles of association as follows, by 
inserting an exclusivity of office clause:

"No-one can be appointed as a Director if he or she is also a major shareholder and/or director and/or executive officer and/or manager
of an entity which has a business operation which is in direct or indirect competition with that of the AKKA Technologies Group.

If, while occupying a post on the Board of Directors, a Director becomes a major shareholder and/or director and/or executive officer
and/or manager of an entity which has, in fact and in law, a business operation which is in direct or indirect competition with that of
the AKKA Technologies Group, he/she undertakes, before taking any equity interest and/or accepting an office in such entity, to notify
the Board of Directors thereof and it shall decide alone on whether he/she shall continue or relinquish his/her post. "

General Meeting of 5 June 2012 - Thirteenth Resolution

The General Meeting of 5 June 2012, under its thirteenth resolution, authorised the possibility of issuing and allotting stock option
warrants free to shareholders during a public offer period.

"Thirteenth Resolution: Delegation of powers given for 18 months to the Board of Directors for starting the free issue of share 
subscription warrants in the event of a public offer in the Company). 

The General Meeting, taking decisions by exception on the quorum and majority conditions required for Ordinary General Meetings,
having read the report of the Board of Directors and the special report of the Auditors, and pursuant to the provisions of Articles 
L 225-129 to L225- 129-6, L233-32 and L 233-33 of the French Commercial Code in the version resulting from the Breton Law No.2006-
387 of 31 March 2006, delegates to the Board of Directors, with the authority to subdelegate under the terms of the law and 
regulations, the powers to  issue,  in France and abroad, stock option warrants to be allotted free to the company’s shareholders.

The General Meeting has decided that the issues referred to in this resolution may only be made during a public offer of the company’s
shares and that only those company shareholders who are shareholders before the expiry of such public offer period shall benefit from
such free allotment of stock options (…)."
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21.2.7 Exceeding of ownership thresholds (article 12 of the articles of association)
Any natural person or legal entity, acting alone or in concert, which becomes the owner by whatever means of a number of shares
equal to at least 2.5% of the equity and rights to vote at General Meetings, or any multiple of such percentage, must notify the 
Company, by registered letter with a request for advice of receipt addressed to the registered office, within 15 days of such ownership
threshold being exceeded, of the total number of shares and associated voting rights which it owns and, if applicable, the number of
securities giving entitlement in time to the equity and the voting rights associated therewith.

This obligation applies under the same terms as above each time the share of the equity or voting rights held falls below one of the
specified thresholds.

In the event of failure to comply with the above provisions, the shares exceeding the threshold requiring declaration shall lose voting
rights at all shareholders’ Meetings held up to the end of a period of 2 years from the date on which notification was duly given.
Under the same terms, the voting rights associated with such shares and not duly declared may not be exercised or delegated by the
shareholder in default.

Except in the case where one of the ownership thresholds specified in the first paragraph of Article L 233-7 of the French Commercial
Code is exceeded, this sanction shall only be applied in the event of a request recorded in the minutes of a General Meeting made by
one or more shareholders owning, jointly or separately, at least 5% of the share capital and/or voting rights in respect of the Company.

Compliance with this obligation to declare that the ownership threshold of 2.5% of the equity and rights to vote at General Meetings,
or any multiple of such percentage, has been exceeded does not in any circumstances exempt the shareholders, natural persons 
or legal entities, from compliance with statutory provisions imposing an obligation to notify the company in the event of ownership
of more than one twentieth, one tenth, three twentieths, one fifth, one quarter, one third, half, two thirds, eighteen twentieths or 
nineteen twentieths of the share capital or voting rights in respect of the Company, in accordance with the provisions of Articles 
L 233-7 ff. of the French Commercial Code, the period within which notification in respect of such thresholds must be given being 
5 Stock Exchange trading days.

21.2.8 Provisions governing changes to the equity 
Changes in the share capital are made on the terms specified by statute.
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The Share Purchase Agreements are described in paragraph 5.2.1 above.

AKKA Technologies has in addition concluded a financing contract during the acquisition of the company MBtech. The main features
of this contract are described in paragraph 10.3.1 and in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in section 20.3.6 
(note 4.13) of this Registration Document.

Apart from these contracts, the Group has not, as at the date of filing of this Registration Document, concluded any major contracts
other than those concluded in the normal course of business. 

22 - MAJOR CONTRACTS
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Not applicable.

23 - INFORMATION FROM THIRD PARTIES,
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In accordance with the Transparency Directive, AKKA Technologies has a section headed “financial information” on the website
www.akka.eu. 

The following documents have been made available for consultation to date:

- financial notices
- corporate notices 
- presentations of the annual and half-year results
- annual and half-year financial reports
- publications calendar for the current financial year
- the result of the votes at the General Meeting on 5/06/2012
- declarations of voting rights
- declarations of trading in treasury shares
- declarations of share purchases 
- notices relating to auditors' fees (including in registration documents)
- /2007/2008/2009/2010/2011 Registration Documents approved by the AMF
- preparatory documents for General Meetings
- the note on the Bond Issue approved by the AMF - April 2013

AKKA Technologies’ articles of association may be consulted at the registered office – 9/11, rue Montalivet – 75008 Paris.

STOCK EXCHANGE DECLARATIONS

Declarations of trading in treasury shares
In accordance with the Transparency Directive, the monthly declarations have been published on-line through the approved distributor
(www.actusnews.com) and may be consulted on the Group website (www.akka.eu)..

In accordance with the applicable regulations, the monthly declarations are now sent directly to the AMF and may be consulted on
the Group website (www.akka.eu) under the heading "Investor Information”.

24 - DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC
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Please refer to note 1.5 to the consolidated financial statements (section 20.3.6) which describes the Group consolidation scope and
to the list of AKKA Technologies’ subsidiaries and equity interests in section 20.5.3.

25 - INFORMATION ON EQUITY INTERESTS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012


